STATE OF NEW MEXICO

' FILED IN MY OFFICE THIS
SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT :
BERNALILLO COUNTY MAR 07 Z-\Z "
CLERK DISTRICT COURT
DANIEL LIBIT,
Plaintiff,
V.

No. D-202-CV-2017-01620
THE UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO
FOUNDATION, INC., and THE BOARD

OF REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY
OF NEW MEXICO,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT UNDER THE NEW MEXICO INSPECTION
OF PUBLIC RECORDS ACT

This action is brought by Plaintiff Daniel Libit to enforce violations of the New Mexico
Inspection of Public Records Act (IPRA) and ensure that the public continues to receive “the
greatest possible information regarding the affairs of government and the official acts of public
officers and employees.” NMSA 1978 § 14-2-5. IPRA mandates that “every person has a right

to inspect public records,” id. at § 14-2-1(A), maintained by a “public body” in the State of New

Mexico, id. at § 14-2-6(F). Defendant The University of New Mexico Foundation (“the

Foundation™), which is a 501(c)(3) non-profit corporation created by Defendant The Board of
Regents of the University of New Mexico (“the Regents™) to provide support to the University of
New Mexico (“the University™), has rejected all of Plaintifs and others’ IPRA requests,
wrongfully claiming to be a “non-public entity” and therefore “not subject to” IPRA.
The Foundation’s noncompliance with IPRA has inhibited public understanding of the
University and the Foundation and has thwarted access to information regarding the operations

of this public entity. The Foundation has refused to provide plaintiff, a journalist, with access to
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the Foundation’s records in violation of IPRA, thus giving rise to this complaint. Plaintiff asks
this Court to declare that the Foundation is a public body that is subject to IPRA and that the
Foundation maintains public records that are subject to disclosure by IPRA, and award him
equitable relief, damages, and attorneys’ fees as a result of the Foundation’s noncompliance with
IPRA.

PARTIES

1. Plaintiff Daniel Libit is a journalist who, among other journalistic activities, operates
NMFishbowl.com, a website “that primarily covers the University of New Mexico, its athletics
department — and the key figures who maintain it, support it, and are enriched by it.” See
https://nmfishbowl.com/about/ (last accessed Mar. 6, 2017). Libit is a resident of Cook County,
Illinois but was born and raised in New Mexicb. Libit commonly requests documents under
IPRA in the course of his reporting, including for NMFishbowl.com.

2. Defendant University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc. is a 501(c)(3), tax-exempt
corporation established by the Board of Regents of the University of New Mexico. It is
incorporated in New Mexico and its principal place of business is in Albuquerque’, New Mexico.
The “sole purpose” of the foundation is “soliciting, receiving, distributing and managing private
gifts and donations given for the benefit of the University.” Ex. A at 1. Moreover, the
Foundation is “the primary organization for overseeing the development, coordination and
implementation of the fund-raising activities for the University.” Jd Because of these activities,
the Foundation plays a public role, making it a public body, and creates and maintains public
records deriving from these activities that are subject to disclosure under IPRA.

3. Defendant Board of Regents of the University of New Mexico is a corporate,

governmental body and political subdivision of the State of New Mexico, established pursuant to



the laws of the State of New Mexico. It is the governing body of the University of New Mexico
and the body that established and controls the University of New Mexico Foundation. It is
located in Albuquerque, New Mexico.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. This action is brought according to this Court’s original jurisdiction enumerated under
Article IV, Section 13 of the New Mexico Constitution, and NMSA 1978 § 14-2-12, which
authorizes actions to enforce IPRA.

5. Venue is proper in the County of Bernalillo because the defendants are corporate and
governmental entities with their principal place of business in Albuquerque, New Mexico.
NMSA 1978 § 38-3-1(A). Venue is further proper in the County of Bernalillo because the
transaction at dispute in this complaint, namely the Foundation’s rejection of an IPRA request,
occurred in Albuquerque, New Mexico. Id.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND
The University of New Mexico Foundation

6. The University of New Mexico Foundation was established by the Board of Regents of
the University of New Mexico in 1979, and began operations in 1980, to provide financial
support for the University.

7. By the terms of its articles of incorporation, bylaws, and the memorandum of agreement
between the Foundation and the University, the Foundation is a creature of the University and is
substantially controlled by the University. For example, the President of the University serves as
a voting member of the Foundation’s Board of Trustees, its Executive Committee, and its
Committee on Trustees. See Ex. A at § 1.3. The Board of Trustees of the Foundation also

includes two Deans of colleges at the University and a member of the Board of Regents. Id. Up



to twenty-five percent of the Foundation’s Board of Trustees may be employees, officers or
Regents of the University. Id.

8. The President of the University also plays a leading role in the administration of the
Foundation. For example, “[t]he Foundation recognizes a lead role of the President of the
University in hiring, evaluating, compensating and terminating the President of the Foundation,
and the President of the University must be included in all facets of the work of the President of
the Foundation.” Ex. A at § 1.4. The President of the Foundation also reports “primarily to the
President of the University.” Id.

9. The Foundation has been designated by the Board of Regents as the investment advisory
committee that manages the University’s endowment. Ex. A at 9 2.1. In this role, the
Foundation is a fiduciary to the University, performs the public, governmental function of
managing the University’s endowment, and makes recommendations to the Board of Regents
regarding management of the endowment. Id. at 7 2.2. At the same time, the Board of Regents
“retains the authority to remove some or all of the University’s funds” from management by the
Foundation and to revoke the Foundation’s authority to manage the endowment. Id

10. The Foundation maintains records “of all gifts and donations to the University and
affiliated organizations.” Ex. A at  1.8. Those records detail the fundraising for state-created
and -controlled high‘er education at the University, as carried out by public officials.
Accordingly, the Foundation’s records are public records subject to IPRA.

11. The Foundation is expressly limited by the University in how it may spend the funds that
it maintains. For example, the University must work with the Foundation to establish the
procedures for transferring money between the Foundation and the University. Ex. A at § 3.1.

And the Foundation may distribute money as compensation for a University employee or for the



purchase of goods or services for the University only after the approval of the President of the
University. Id. at 9 3.2.

12. When carrying out its enumerated duties, the Foundation possesses “a non-exclusive
license to use the name ‘the University of New Mexico’ and any other trademarks of the
University in connections with its fund-raising activities.” Ex. A at § 7.1. Based on this
authority, the Foundation and University share the same logo.

13. The University’s oversight of the Foundation also establishes that it is subject to the
exclusive control of the University. For example, the University occasionally audits the
Foundation’s operations at the direction of the Board of Regents’s audit committee. See Ex. B.
Moreover, the 2015 financial statements of the Foundation, prepared by KPMG at the direction
of the New Mexico State Auditor, state that the University of Mexico Foundation is “a
component unit of the University of New Mexico.” Ex. C. Along the same lines, the Foundation
provides a report on its activities to the Board of Regents of the University of New Mexico. See
Ex. D.

14. The Foundation may also receive the benefit of University employees working directly
for the Foundation, but in such a scenario, those employees remain subject to the policies and
procedures of the University. Ex. A at §6.1.

15. The University also provides funding necessary for the Foundation to operate. See Ex. A
at § 6.2. And “[t]he University, as it deems appropriate and as resources are available, may
provide additional financial support to the Foundation for major fund-raising campaigns.” Id. at
T 7.2. For the fiscal year 2014-2015, the Foundation projected receiving support from the

University of $4,850,367. See Ex. D at 3.



16. Despite these provisions of its governing documents, the Foundation has advertised that
the benefit to contributing money to the University via the Foundation was that the Foundation
was not subject to IPRA. See Ex. E at 5 (quoting the Foundation website, which at one time
stated that “it offers donors ‘[g]reater assurance of . . . confidentiality, since [it] is a separate not-
for-profit corporation and not subject to open records laws.’”).

The Foundation and the University’s Athletics Department Act in
Concert to Achieve their Fundraising Priorities

17. The facts alleged above establishing that the Foundation is an arm of the University are
exemplified by the relationship between the University’s Athletics Department and the
Foundation.

18. The memorandum of agreement provides that the University directs the Foundation’s

fundraising priorities. Ex. A at Y 5.1. Such authority is specifically carried out by the Athletics

Department. For example, on May 26, 2015, Paul Krebs, the University’s Vice President for
Athletics, sent the Foundation a list of the Athletics Department’s fundraising priorities in
“priority order.” See Ex. F. Those priorities were: 1) “Olympic Sports Performance Center,” 2)
“Phase 3 of Baseball Stadium,” 3) “Football Stadium Upgrades,” 4) “Track Locker Room,” 5)
“Sand Volleyball Courts,” 6) “Soccer Stadium,” 7) “Phase 2 of Tennis,” 8) “Endowed
Scholarships,” and 9) “Facility Branding Program.” Id.

19. The Athletics Department and the Foundation also hold out to the public that the five
employees of the Foundation are employees of the Athletics Department. The Athletics
Department’s website states that Foundation employee Kole McKamey is the Senior Associate
Athletic Director for Development, Foundation employee Jalen Dominguez is the Assistant
Athletic Director for Development, Foundation employee Jessica Philbrook is the Associate

Director of Development/Special Events, Foundation employee Paige Klostermann is the



Assistant Director of Development/Special Events, and Foundation employee Sean Ferrara is the
Director of Premium Seating. See http://www.golobos.com/staff.aspx (last accessed Mar. 6,
2017). All five employees maintain Foundation e-mail addresses and are listed as employees in
the  Foundation’s staff  directory, but  under  different ftitles. See
https://www.unmfund.org/employees/ (last accessed Mar. 6, 2017).

20. The joint employment relationship of many Foundation and University employees is also
exemplified by the minutes for Athletics Department meetings: Stu Starner, a former Foundation
employee that served as the development director for the Athletics Department was a regular
attendee at Athletics Department leadership meetings. Despite the fact that the minutes for these
leadership meetings includes a line for “guests™ that are present, Starner is never listed as a guest.
After Starner resigned, his replacement, Kole McKamey, regularly attended the same meetings.

The WisePies Naming Agreement

21. On December 1, 2014, the University announced that the naming rights to its basketball
arena, commonly referred to as “The Pit” had been purchased by WisePies Franchise Services,
LLC which operates the WisePies Pizza & Salad chain. As a result of the transaction, the arena
would be renamed the “WisePies Arena (aka The Pit).”

22, The terms of the naming rights agreement were negotiated by the Foundation and Paul
Krebs, with further input by Robert Frank, former President of the University, Amy Wohlert, the
University President’s Chief of Staff, and Sandra Liggett, the former General Counsel of the
Foundation. See Ex. G.

23. The naming rights agreement requires that WisePies provide $5 million to the Foundation
over é period of ten years, which will be used to “create the WisePies Fund to support the UNM

Athletics department.” Ex. Hat § 1.



24. The agreement was reviewed by Maureen McGuire, Associate University Counsel, David
Harris, Executive Vice President of the University for Administration, and Jamie Koch, a former
member of the Board of Regents. See Ex. L.

25. Krebs was designated as the University official that would administer the fund and signed
the agreement. Ex. H at § 1. The agreement was also signed by Steven B. Chavez, one of the
owners of WisePies, and Henry Nemcik, the President of the Foundation. Id. at 3.

26. Records detailing the negotiations, review of the agreement, and agreement itself are
information “regarding the affairs of government and the official acts of public officers and
employees,” and therefore are public records subject to disclosure under IPRA. The Foundation
tacitly recognized this when it decided to release the naming rights agreement on the day that the
name change was announced. See Ex. J.

27.1In 2016, WisePies Pizza & Salad became financially distressed. Because the Foundation
claims to not be subject to [PRA, the future of the WisePies naming agreement remained unclear
to the public. For example, in May of 2016 it was reported that WisePies may be sold to an out-
of-state owner and that the future of the naming agreement was called into question. See Ex. K.

28. WisePies was also subject to actions to collect unpaid taxes by the State of New Mexico.
See Ex. L. The State of New Mexico later sought a court order to halt WisePies’s business
operations until they paid those delinquent tax bills. See Ex. M.

29. Because of the financial distress, there were serious concerns that WisePies would not be
able to make the payments required by the naming rights agreement. See Ex. L.

30. As detailed below, Plaintiff duly served the Foundation two IPRA requests for documents
related to the WisePies naming agreement, but the Foundation refused to disclose the requested

documents. The Foundation’s refusal to disclose public records as required by IPRA, however,



limited the ability of the public to be fully informed regarding any negotiations or discussions
regarding the payments, or even whether the required payments were being made.
Libit’s IPRA Requests

31. On November 7, 2016, Plaintiff sent an IPRA request to the University requesting “All
written communications, either sent or received by UNM Foundation’s Larry Ryan, transmitted
between May 1, 2016 and the present date of this request, in which the following phrases, terms
or words appear: ‘WisePies,” ‘Wise,” ‘Pies,” ‘Steve Chavez,” ‘gift,” ‘naming.” This includes
emails in which Mr. Krebs is a third-party on an exchange. This request includes messages
transmitted on UNM property, and/or through private electronic devices where the subject is
discussing matters related to official UNM business.” Ex. N.

32. The University denied this request on November 11, 2016, asserting that it “does not
have the records™ sought by the Plaintiff. The University also suggested that the Plaintiff contact
the “Foundation directly, which is a separate legal entity, for their consideration of your request.”
Id.

33. On November 14, 2016, Plaintiff sent an IPRA request to the Foundation requesting,
among other things, “Any/all electronic correspondence, dated between Jan 1, 2016 and the
present moment of this request, to/from UNM Foundation’s Larry Ryan, in which the following
words or terms appear: ‘WisePies’, ‘Wise’, ‘Pies,” ‘Steve Chavez,’ ‘arena’, and/or ‘gift
agreement’.” Ex. O.

34. The Foundation does not have a custodian of records as required by IPRA. Therefore,

the request was sent to Jennifer Kemp, Director of Communications for the Foundation. /d.



35. The Foundation denied Plaintiff’s November 14th request on November 19, 2016. In
doing so, the Foundation stated that it was a “501(c)(3) non-profit, non-public entity and is
therefore not subject to the Inspection of Public Records Act (IPRA).” Ex. P.

36. On January 12, 2017, Plaintiff sent an IPRA request to the University requesting “a copy
of the check(s), as well as any banking documentation — that relate to WisePies’ Pizza and
Salad’s final naming rights payments of 2016.” Ex. Q.

37. On January 27, 2017, the University denied the request, stating that “[t]he University
does not have the records” sought by the request. The University then directed Plaintiff to
“contact the . . . Foundation directly.” 1d.

38. That same day, Plaintiff sent an IPRA request to the Foundation, requesting “any/all bank
documentation related to the monies that WisePies gave to the UNM Foundation as part of its
naming rights agreement for The Pit. This includes a copy of the checks themselves, and any
deposit slips or bank documentation that indicates when such monies were deposited.” Ex. R.

39. Because the Foundation does not have a custodian of records, the request was again sent
to Jennifer Kemp. See id.

40. On January 30, 2017, the Foundation denied this IPRA request, stating that “is a non-
profit, non-public entity and is therefore not subject to [the] Inspection of Public Records Act
(IPRA).” Id.

CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of the New Mexico Inspection of Public Records Act
41. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the facts alleged in paragraphs 1 through 40.
42. Defendants have violated IPRA by failing to produce, as required by IPRA, the public

records requested by the Plaintiff,
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43. Defendants’ assertion that they are not subject to IPRA because they are a “non-profit,
non-public” entity violates IPRA because they are a public body as defined by NMSA 1978 §
14-2-6(F).

44. Defendants are attempting to keep secret matters of significant public concern involving
funding for the University’s Athletics Department and the controversial naming rights agreement
for the University’s basketball arena, in direct violation of its obligation to disclose such
information under IPRA.

45. The Foundation does not have a custodian of records as required by NMSA 1978 § 14-2-

46. Plaintiff is entitled to damages according to NMSA 1978 § 14-2-11(C) for Defendants’
failure to provide the requested records.

47. Plaintiff is entitled to a writ of mandamus or injunction, under NMSA 1978 § 14-2-12(B),
ordering the Defendants to produce all requested documents in the Defendants possession.

48. Plaintiff is entitled to recover his attorneys’ fees and costs according to NMSA 1978 §
14-2-12(D).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
The Plaintiff requests that the Court:

a) Declare that the University of New Mexico Foundation is a “public body” subject to
IPRA;

b) Declare that the records sought by Plaintiff are public records and are subject to
disclosure;

¢) Issue a writ of mandamus or injunction ordering the Defendant to produce the records

and information requested without further delay;

11



d) Enter an injunction requiring the Defendant to submit to the Court within 30 days a
written plan for establishing adequate policies and procedures to ensure that the Defendant can,
and will, identify a custodian or records and comply with future requests for public records by

Plaintiff and by other requesters;

e) Award “damages, costs, and reasonable attorneys’ fees” as required by NMSA 1978 §
14-2-12(D); and

f) Award such further relief the Court deems necessary.

Date: March 7, 2017 Respectfully submitted,

FREEDMAN BOYD HOLLANDER
GOLDBERG URIAS & WARD, P.A.

David H. Urias )
Nicholas T. Hart

20 First Plaza NW, Suite 700
Albuquerque, NM 87102

T: (505) 842-9960

F: (505) 842-0761
dhu@fbdlaw.com
NickH@fbdlaw.com
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RESTATED AND AMENDED
MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT
BETWEEN
THE REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO
AND
THE UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC,

The Memorandum of Agreement made on the 1 1'" day of March 1991, as previously amended April 30,
2008 and February 27, 2009 (the “MOA™ or “Agreement”) between the Regents of the University of
New Mexico (the “University”), a public corporation of the State of New Mexico and the University of
New Mexice Foundation, Inc. (the “Foundation”), a non-profit corporation created by the University for
the sole purpose of soliciting, receiving and managing private voluntary support for the benefit of the
University, is restated and amended this 25" day of Septermber, 2012 as follows.

Recitals

WHEREAS, the University formally recognizes the Foundation as a separate corporate enfity
established for the sole purpose of soliciting, receiving, distributing and managing private gifts and
donations given for the benefit of the University; and,

WHEREAS, the Foundation agrees that it will function as an interdependent entity with a close
operational and fiscal relationship with the University through the University President and the
academic leadership of the University; and,

WHEREAS, the University further recognizes that the Foundation provides the following services; 1)
creates and encourages an opportunity for private individuals and organizations to invest in the support
of University programs and services with the assurance that the benefits of these gifts and donations
supplement state appropriations to the University; 2) provides a corporate structure for managing
private gifis and dopations, including endowments and income-producing properties, that do not
jeopardize the University's tax-exempt status or create unrelated business tax obligations for the
University; 3) provides added assurance to donors that their contributions will be distributed and
utilized for the specified purposes; and, 4) provides a medium for alumni and community leaders to
participate in and contribute to the strengthening of the University through their participation in the
solicitation, management and distribution of private gifts and donations; and,

WHEREAS, it is understood by the University and the Foundation that all gifts and donations received
by the Foundation are given for the benefit of the University and, therefore, shall be managed,
distributed, and utilized in accordance with policies and procedures established by the University and
the Foundation to assure accountability to the donor and to the public that supports the University; and,

WHEREAS, the University has determined that the Foundation shall be the primary organization for

overseeing the development, coordination and implementation of the fund-raising activities for the

University.

NOW, THEREFORE, it is agreed as follows:
EXHIBIT




FOUNDATION AGREEMENTS

ORGANIZATION AND OPERATIONS OF THE FOUNDATION

The Foamdation shall operate acoording 1o i Anicies of lncorpomation filed jone 4, 1979

antl Bylaws, az dmended on December 4, 2000 and as amended from time to tme. The
Fourdation shall, &t its next regulady schedaled Board of Trustees meeting, further amend its
Bylaws to conform with the terms of this MOA.

1.2 The Foundation shall arganize and operase in such a manner that will retain the
Foundation's lepal status as a lex-cxempt, non-profit organizahion parsunnt W seebon 50O 1{¢H3)
af the Intermal Revenve Service Code, or any successor siafuto.

1.3 Invalvement of the University in Foumdation Governance

.4

1.5

1.6

1.3.1  The President of the University will serve az a voting member of the
Foundation's Board of Trustees, liz Executive Committes and its Commiliee on
TinutEes,

1.3.2  The President of the University will appoint two Deans to serve as voting
memmbers of the Foundafinn's Boord of Tmstees.

1.33 A member of the Liniversity of New Mexico Bomd of Regents shall be
included as a voting member of the Foundation’s Board of Trustees; and,

.34 No more that 25% of the Foundation's Board of Trustees may be

empioyees, officers or Regents of the Umversity.

The President of the Foundation 15 the chief executive officer and sm emsployes of the
Foundation. The Foundation recognizes o lesd role af the Presudent of the Univessity in
hiring, evalusting, compensating snd terminating the President of the Foundation, and the
President of the University must be included in all facets of the work of the President of
the Foundation. The President of the Foundation shall report primarily to the President of
the University and then to the Executive Committee of the Foundation. In concert with
the President of the University, the Foundation will identify and provide an appropnate
benefits package for the Foundation President and other senior leadership employees it
liires, including but not fimited to refirement, deferred compensation, and health, dental,
vision, disability, and life insomnce.

The Foundation will hire and oversee advancement staff to provide solicitation,
consultetion and other related fundraizing, fund menagement and administrative support
to maximize private gifts and donations from vanous sources to the Foundation for the
benefit of the University.

The Foundation shall not solicit or accept gfts, grants, conveyances, devices, bequests or
niherwize from any enuree for a use specified by the donor which 18 inconsistent with the

University's goals and policies.



2.0

1.7

1.10

The Foundation will maintain policies and procedures for the review and acceptance of
gifts and donations. The acceptance of any gift or donation that requires a matching
obligation of the University or creates a future obligation of University resources must
first be approved by the University’s Chief Financial Officer in accordance with any
applicable university policies.

The Foundation agrees to establish and maintain a record of all gifts and donations to the
University and affiliated organizations.

The Foundation will not engage in any instructional, research or public service activity
sponsored, or participated in, by a University depariment or individual employee, without
prior approval of the President of the University.

The Foundation shall, at all times, maintain adequate insurance coverage, including
Trustee and officers’ liability insurance, property and casualty insurance appropriate to
cover property held and managed by the Foundation for the benefif of either the
Foundation or the University.

MANAGEMENT OF GIFTS AND DONATIONS

The Foundation agrees to appoint an Investment Committee, which comunittee is hereby
designated by the Board of Regents of the University as the iftvestment advisory
committee required by Section 21-1-38B(1)(b), NMSA 1978. Pursuant to Section 21-}-
38.B (2), the University hereby delegates to the Foundation, acting through its Investment
Committee, the authority to manage the investments of both the University funds and
Foundation funds placed in the Consolidated Investment Fund (*CIF”). The Consolidated
Investment Fund shall be managed in accordance with the Consolidated investment Fund
Endowment Investment Management Policy (“CIF Policy™), as developed, approved and
amended by the Foundation and the Board of Regents from time to time, as required by
Section 21-1-38.B(1)(c). A current copy ot the CIF Policy is attached hereto and
incorporated herein as Exhibit A, and any subsequently modified and approved versions
shall be similarly incorporated herein.

2.2 The Investment Committee will conform to the requirements of the Uniform Investment

Act (NMSA 1978 §45-7-611), the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds
Act (NMSA 1978 §46-9-2), and other laws governing the management of the University
and its funds.

2.2.1 The Investment Committee shall, at least quarterly, select and review the
performance of investinent managers in the context of predetermined performance
standards and shall periodically review and adjust the allocation of funds within various
investment categories.

2.2.2 Annually, the [nvestment Committee will review the CIF Policy and recommend
revisions, if any, to the Foundation Board of Trustees and the University Board of
Regenis,



A0

4.0

2.4

i) b

3.1

E B

3.3

34

223 The Investment Committee shall be deemed to have met irs Aduciary and other
legal responsibilities to the University Bourd of Regents and the Foundation o long as it
neta in conformity with the provisions of this Section 2.0 and the CIF Palicy.

The University Board of Regents retaing the auihority (o remove some or all of the
University's funds from the CIF and to change or revoke this delegation of responsibility
to the Foundation. Any withdrawals from the CIF shall be made on o promted, umitized
rasis.

In addition to the endowmenis currently held or received in the future in the name of the
University or the Foundation, the Foundation also agrees to he the custodian and manager
of any endowments received by any University-affiliated organization. The Foandation
shall net co-mingle the funds of such endowments but may co-invest such endowments
tnider the CIF Pohicy.

TI

The University Controller and the Foundation Chief Finaneial Offiocer will establish
procedures to transfer funds between the University and the Foundation as required by

this Apgreemenl.

Mo gift fundz will be disbursed directly through the Foundation account(s), either in the
form of compensation to & University employee ar for the purchoge of goods and services
for any unit of the University or University-affiliated organtzation, uniess specifically
approved by the University President or hisher designee, The expenditure of gift funds
for the benefit of any unil of the University or University-affiliated organization will be
disbursed (hrough the Universily's general ledger system.

To azsure that the donor directive on the use of the gift |s followed when disbursed
through the University's general ledger gystem, the Foundation will be responsible for
providing the University the appropriste information on donor-dimected gifi restnclions.

All funds that are ransferred from the Foundation to o University spending aceount are
subject to all state laws und regulstions governing the dishursement and adnrinistration of
publiz funds. Private donstions and grants made 1o the Foundation, or made to the
Linivermily ihrough the Fosndation, stell uot be comsidersd public funds umil dispereed o
a University spending account.

EEPORTS AND ACCOUNTING

4]

4.2

The Foundation will work with the President of the Universily to develop a strategic plan
to identify information and reports that are needed by various constituencies. At a
minmum, the Foundation shall provide the University with an annual report that will
include a summury of il gifts and dunations recedved and held or distributed during the
past year, the performance of the investment management program and the Foundation's
operating income and expenses for the fiscal year,

The Foundation shall provide the University with the report of an anmus! audit porformed
by an independent centified public accounting finn selecled by the Foundation. Auy



5.0

6.0

7.0

4.3

independent certitied public accounting firm selected by the Foundation that is not the
same firm selected by the University must agree to provide the necessary audit
information for the University to be able to comply with any federally mandated “single
audit” report.

The Foundation agrees to provide any information regarding operations of the

Foundation to the University’s intemnal audit staff upon fonmal request to the
Foundation’s Executive Committee.

UNIVERSITY AGREEMENTS

UNIVERSITY PRIORITIES AND LONG RANGE OBJECTIVES

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

The University agrees that the Foundation will be responstble for the development,
implementation and oversight of the University’s primary fund-raising activities,

In recognition of the philanthropic and investment services provided by the Foundation
and to maximize the Foundation’s ability to match fund-raising activities with priority
needs, the University agrees to provide a clear statement of fund-raising priorities and
long range academic objectives. In addition, the University agrees to involve the
Foundation as the University continues to develop planning goals,

The University President will appoint a Dean’s Council to work with the Foundation
leadership to implement appropriate fundraising strategies.

The University will revise the job descriptions and evaluation forms for all Deans to
include fundraising and fundraising metrics.

BUDGET AND FINANCIAL SUPPORT

6.1

6.2

University staff assigned to the Foundation to carry out development functions shall

continue to be governed by the policies, procedures, practices and employment privilcges
of the University.

The University commits to provide revenue sufficient to allow the Foundation to fund its
operations and to grow the fundraising efforts to meet mutually 1dentified strategic needs
of the University. Exhibit B contains the multi-year fiscal commitment of the University
to provide financial resources necessary to fund the operations of the Foundation.

UNIVERSITY SUPPORT SERVICES

7.1

The University grants the Foundation a non-exclusive license to use the name “The
University of New Mexico™ and any other trademarks of the University in connection
with jts fund-raising activities. The Foundation agrees to abide by all the University’s
wrademark requirements.

The University shall cooperate with the Foundation in the development of its fund-raising
programs and campaigns, including providing information, data, plans, speakers,
facilities for meetings on the University campus and such other materials and services as



8.0

9.0

may reasonably be necessary for the successful conduct of fund-raising programs and
campaigns. The University, as it deems appropriate and as resources are available, may
provide additional financial support to the Foundation for major fund-raising campaigns.

UNIVERSITY COMPLIANCE WITH GIFT RESTRICTIONS

8.1

8.2

The University agrees to assume the responsibility of monitoring the expendifures or
income disbursements from both non-endowed gift accounts and endowed spending
accounts to ensure that any and all donor-imposed restrictions are maintained.

The Department of Internal Audit will periodically audit the Unijversity’s compliance
with such restrictions.

JOINT AGREEMENTS

OPERATIONAL CONSIDERATIONS

a1

9.3

The Foundation and the University agree that, at all times and for all purposes of this
Agreement, the Foundation as an entity, in the performance of this Agreement and other
activities to be undertaken by the Foundation, shall act in an independent, separate legal
capacity and not as an agent of the University. Within the limits and restrictions of the
New Mexico Tort Claims Act, Sect, 41-4-1 ¢t seq. NMSA 1978, each party agrees to be
responsible for its own negligent acts or omissions which may occur during the
performance of this Agreement and which result in ¢laims by individnals or entities not
parties to this Agreement.

[t is muwally understood and agreed any alteration or variation of the terms of the
Foundation's Articles of Incorporation or the Bylaws of the Foundation, which affect the
ability of the Foundation to carry ouf its vesponsibilities under this Agreement shall be
submitted for approval of the Board of Regents of the University.

All official notices required under this agreement shall be given as follows:

Notice to University: University President
Scholes Hall
University of New Mexico
Albuquerque, NM 87131-3001

Notice to Foundation: President
University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc.
700 Lomas Blvd, NE Suite 108
Umversity of New Mexico
Albuquergue, NM 87131

The Foundation will take approptiate steps to ensure that it does not discriminate against
any person because of race, religion, national origin, color, gender, veteran status or
sexual orientation. The Foundation will put in place a complaint, inrvestigation and
resolution process that meets the requirements established by state and federal law and
that will take prompt steps to remedy any discrimination thal is found to have occurred.



0.4 This Agreement will be govermed by the law of the state of New Mexico.

9.5 No amendment to this Agreement shall be valid unless made in writing and signed by
both Parties. No oral understandings or agreements not incorporated herein, and no
alterations or variations of the terms hereof, unless made in writing between both Parties,
shall be binding on either of the Parties.

0.0 TERMINATION

10.1  This Agreement may be terminated by either party effective upon  written notice 10 the
other party al least sixty (60) days in advance thercof. If for any reason this Apreement
is termpinated, or the Foundation is dissolved, iquidated, or ceases to be a 501(c)(3)
organization. all accounts of the Foundation shall be transferred to the University or a
successor organization(s) designated by a resolution of the Board of Regents on or
before the date of termination, In such event, the University or other successor
organization will honor to the maximum extent possible the instructions of donors to the
Foundation,

IN WITNESS HEREQF, the pasties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed,

THE U?:\L'?W QZ?EXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
By; - / /‘%’—‘ & / / ‘:D\

W} of the Board of Trustees date

#

BY?’WQL&;&{;’L& ?i:/ﬂ_.{.{,wtzbfé’ / Z9‘//" / /2
7 Secretary of tkﬂa Boar(Xof Trustees date

THE REGENTS OF THE UNIV OF NEW MEXICO
By 42.4:(% ,i % (o ff a—f:LOra,
?fes;dcnt of the Boaici?ems date
By: /"{// /\// /()//l//fd
7 da}é

ecretaig' if the Board of Regents

This Agreement was approved at a regularly called meeting of the Board of Directors of the University
of New Mexico Foundation held on September 25, 2012 by a vote of 14 in favor and 0 opposed.

This Agreement was approved at a regularly called meeting of the Board of Regents of the Univergity of
New Mexico held on September 11, 2012 by a vote of 7 in favor and 0 opposed.
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CONSOLIDATED INVESTMENT FUND POLICY STATEMENT

in accordance with Sections 21-1-38.B(1)(b) and 21-1-38.B(2), New Mexico Statutes Annotated 1978,
the University of New Mexico Board of Regents (the “Board of Regents") has designated the University
of New Mexico Foundation Investment Committee (the “Investinent Comsmitiee™) to act as the official
Advisory Commnittee 10 oversee and manage the investment of both the University of New Mexico (the
“University”™)'s and the University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc. (the “Foundation™)’s endowment
funds. The combined endowment assets of the University and the Foundation are known as the
Consolidated Investment Fund (the “CIF™}. The Investment Cornmittee will apply the standards of
conduct described in Sections 6-8-10 and 46-9A-1 through 46-9-12, NMSA 1978, in managing the CIF,
subject to the standards set forth herein.

[n accepting this responsibility, the Investment Committee agrees to follow the Consolidated Investment
Fund Investment Policy (the “Policy™), which has been approved by the Board of Regents pursuant to
Section 21-1-38.B(1)(c), NMSA 1978 and the Investment Committee of the Board of Trustecs of the
Foundation.

The Policy is to be effective July 1, 2010 and supersedes all previous versious.

The Policy govems (he investment of gifts and donations to the University or the Foundation in the form
of endowments, as well as quasi-endowments established by the Board of Regents, with long-term
benefit objectives. All common endowment and quasi-endowment funds of the University and the
Foundation will be managed through the CIF. Participants in the CIF will receive units in the pooled
fund. At all times the Policy shall recognize and implement all legally enforceable restrictions and
directions that may have been placed on gifts by donors and the Policy shall comply with all applicable
laws and shall be changed as necessary to comply with changes in applicable law or legal advice.

INVESTMENT PHILOSOPHY

The CIF has a long-term investment horizon, and allocates its assets accordingly. It is recognized that a
strategic long-term asset allocation plan implemented in a consistent and disciplined manner along with
the long and short-term needs of the University in carrying out its educational mission will be the major
determinant of the CIF’s investment perfortmance,

The assets will be managed on a total return basis. The Policy also recognizes the importance of
preservation of capital. It is appropriate to consider altemative investment strategies if such strategics
are In the CIF’s best interest on a risk-adjusted basis and are consistent with sufficient liquidity and
investment rigks that are prudent and reasonable, given the prevailing capital market conditions.

Risk mapagement of the investment program is focused on understanding both the investment and
operational risks to which the CIF is exposed. The objective is o minimize operational risks and realize
an appropriate return for the investment risks that the Investment Committee is willing to accept.

3
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INVESTMENT QBJECTIVES AND FOLICIES

Return Coal: Tha Iong-term objective of the CIF is to cam a refumn sofficient to preserve the
prchagsing power of the CIF [or genérations o come, o well a8 io provide for cuirent needs, Asa
regull, the goal is to achieve an annual o] retem, net of managemont and custodial fees, ihat equels or
exceeds the annual Spending Distrbution, the annntl Development Funding A location snd inflatton us
measurad by the U5, Department of Labor All Urban Coosamer Price Index "CPL-U™,

Reurn Measurement To achieve the Return Goal, the CIF assers will be mvesiad 1o generme a iodal
refur consisting of market apprecistion and depreciation andfor dividend and interest ipcome. While
ihere cannol be complete assurance that the Retom Goal will be realized, if is believed tha the
likelihood of realization is enhanced by diversifying the assets of the CIF. Over Himi, the Policy will
G o wchieve e Retban Goal while mainlaining neceptabie nak levels, To decomplizh ks gosl, e
CIF will diversify azgotz srpong several aseet clugsee. The following objectves are designed w support
achigvement of the Rer Goal and are net of {alter) mvesiment expense

+  Total C1F essefz should achieve an armualized nominal rate of rebun gquel 1o or greazer than
Unal of the Refurn Cioal

= [n generel, selive masagess will be expected (o provede returms greater than ther appropoate
bienchmark, nel of fees, while utiliming scoopmble sk levels, ovier rodling thirty-six month
penods. [n contrast, passive managens will be expecied W provide relums nearly ideatical 1o
the apprepriate benehmark, before reasonable fees, with no mor volatility than the benchmark

Prescrvation of Capital: Cooststent with their respective invesiment styles and philosophics,
invesiment managers shall make resgonoble efforts to preserve capital, understanding thot logses may
octur m individeal securities,

Cash Resorves: [n accordance with the CT17s [ong-torm investment hortzon, o fitlly invested position
shizuld be mamtawed fof he overall poetfolys will minimal, but sufficond cash eserves tomeet al)
currenl spending and capitad calls.

Risk: It is imporrant Ul risk is definsd so thol (he d5%eis ore msmaged 16 a manner consstont with
invesment objectives and srategies. The policy defines risk as:

o Orvemll imvestment Risk - the probabifity of nol maimntsinmg purchasing power over the CIFs
imvestmenl dme horzon, ned of spending aid investment expenges.

« [Operationst Risk - the potential of Inss arsng from deficiencies in internad controls, human
errars; physicil syatems Baolures and other husipess execition risks,

« Cosh Flow Risk - the probability of oot achicving the CIF's short term cash flow requirements:

» Compliance Risk - son-compliance with applicable State of New Mexico statutes canceming the
investment of public funds.

o [oterest Rate Risk - the potential for Mlocmations in bond prices due o changes in inferest mies
and/or o duration/fiability mismatch.

o Credil Risk - the possibility that a bond sssver will fail w make tmely payment of either interesi
or principal to the portfolio,

o Reinvesmreul Risk « tiee poasibidity thar the poocesds of o maturiog we callod sccuily will be
reinvested al lower vields as a resalt of & general interest pate decline in the hond markel.

Uracliil2an! [merstment |Fod dnvenment Py, (one 23, 2510 Pape -3



+ Liquidity Risk - the possibility that the liquidity of the market for a security may decline thereby
making it more difficult to dispose of the security promptly; preseating difficulties in valuation
of the security: or causing the security to experience greater price volatility.

Asset Allocation: Asset allocation is the single most iniportant decision which affects the CIF.
Investment research has determined that a significant portion of a portfolio’s tnvestment behavior can be
attributed to (1) the asset classes/styles which are employed by the porttolio, and (2) the weighting of
each asset clags/style. Given its importance, the asset allocation will be reviewed at least quarterly and
revised as necessary,

« The asset allocation shall be determined taking into consideration a comprehensive allocation
study compieted by the Investment Consultant and taking into consideration the asset allocations
of peer institutions as published i3 the NACUBO-Commonfund Study of Endownents.

» The asset allocation shall be designed to give balance to the overall structure of the investment
program over a long-term horizon.

»  Asset allocation decisions wili not be based an market timing. However, sotne factors may
impact the policy alltocation, thereby requiring an asset allocation review and possible
rebalancing. Some of these factors include a change in the assessment of the intermediate and
long-term outlook for different types of asset classes and styles or divergence in the performance
of the different asset classes and styles.

* In consullation with the Investment Consultant, specific target ssset allocations may be
established by the Investment Committee within the minimwmn and maximun: ranges of the
Policy to address current economic and/or market conditions.

Assets shall be invested within the following maximum and miimurmn ranges for cach asset class:

Percent of Total Assets

Asset Class Minimuo Maximum
Domestic Equity' 10% 50%
International Equity' 10% 40%
Fixed Income/Cash 0% 50%
[lliguid Real Assets™ 0% 0%
Private Equity’ 0% 0%
Marketable Alternatives 5% 20%

' The combined maximum allocation to domestic and international equities shall pot exceed 70% at any point in time.

£ The Policy’s intent is to allow for no new commitments to vither [iquid Real Assets or Private Equity which will result in no
allocurion o either usset class in the long term ay these invesrments mature.. However, the Palicy recognizes that existing
commitments to these asser dasses will require additional “capital calls” in the short-term.

{onsolidated investment Mund lavestment Policy, June 23, 2010 Page 4




PFortfolio Rebalancing: It 15 desimble to rebalance tie CIF s holdings penodically to mnimire
daviations from the Policy's asser allocation mix, The Investment Consufiant shall inform the
Investment Committee at the close of any quarter in which rebalancimg the CIF i# necessary, The
Investmenl Commibtes shall review and approve any rebalanciog scliong and ihe Investment Consuliant
#hll mssist 08 needed 10 implementing such actions.

Monager Concentration Limits:  All actively managed aceoumts ghall be limited to no more than 5%
of total sssets,

Spending Disiribution: The Polioy aims o dismribute on an aonual bases » percentage, esmblshed as
discussed below, of the avernge marke! value of the CIF at the calendar year-end of the previous 20
quarters (ihe “Spending Chstribution™), The Spending Distribution shall not exoeed 6% nor be bess than
4% of the avernge markel value. The Policy allows for the Spending Distribution regsndless of whether
the fadr market value of an individual sccount excesds its historie gift value, unless otherwise precluded
by the donor or by law, This pmetice is congistent with the Uniform Prodent Management of
[stitunonsl Funds Act, aod récognizes thal not spending fom an endowment is Likely lo be contrary 1o
o domor's infent to provide current benefits for the dosignated pumpnse. The Invesiment Commitiee shall
extabliah at iz firet meeting of each aatendar year the Spending Distribution w be used for the currem
fiscal year. The Investment Committee shull strive to mainmin g Spending Distribmtion which achieves
intergencrational equily. 5o today's bencficiaries do nol untiirly benefit a1 the expense of fiture
beneficiaries. (n addition 10 congsidering this Policy and the nhjectives as stated above, the Invesmient
Committee shall sonsider, i relevant, the follvwing itemad in (herr annsal deliberstions o deermine a
reasonahle Spending Dishribotion:

s The wel mte of refurn earmed by the CIF in each of the five most récend fiacal yemy.

# The oet real (after adjushing for inflaton 8z messured by dhe CPL-UY rate of retumn eamsd by the
CIF ineach of the five most reoent fiscal years.

s Payoul rates astablished by other university endowments as published {n the WACUBO-
Commonfond Study of Endowments,

&  Other resources mvailable to University and any unusmal or eximordimany cooumsmnees
impacting thess respurces (tuition revenues. State appropridions. . ).

¢ The exient 1o which progmmi bangfiting trom (e Spending Disiributon rédly on these funds o

pchiteve their poals and objectives.

Recommendations from the CFO,

The Spending Distribution in effect 4t the tine of delibemtions,

Gengial ceonomic conditons.

The posuible etfect of inflaton or deflation,

The expecied total retum of the CIF per the most recent asset allocation study.

® ® B ® @

Developmuent Funding Allscation (the “DFA™): The Board of fegents and the Board of Trostees have
ngreed that a fair and regsonabls unifarm hasis point fee applicable i all endowmen! seeomntz it an
spproprisie means 1o assist the opemtions of the Foundation. The DFA does nol provide support for any
direct coste of investing and sdministering the CIF, such e investnent comsullant fees, custodial fees
and imvestmen! manager fees. These costs are assigned direetly to the CIF, The DF A s subject to
review and approval by the Board of Trustees and the Board of Regenis innoully and at other intervals
as required by the Boord of Regents.

Campuibielard Inwesemesd sl Tevestmunt Pabey, fune 23, 3570 Page 5



The following items shali be conpdered in estnblishing 8 ressonable DEA:

* Any external costs including the Invesiment Consultant, costodian, and investment manager fees
of raanaging the CIF.

» The internal {f.e., socounting, find mising, information systems, gift sdmingstralion) costs 1o
reise funds for, manage the asses of and provide stewrrdship for the CIF.

s Cnsl Recovery Fee mtes established by other university endowinents if published in (he
NACUBO-Copnmonfund Study of Endowments.
Recommendanons fom te CFO,
The Development Funding Allocation n effect it the time of deliberations.

¢ The impact on the Speading Distribution.

AUTHORITY AND RESPONSHILITY
University of New Mexlco Board of Regents

The Board of Regents shall review he porformance of the Investment Committee and the CIF at least
anmually, The Board of Repenis shall approve annuslly, along wiil the Board of Trusiees:

+  The Investment Policy and any changes herato.
¢ The Developmen: Funding Allocstion.
« The Investreni Consultant snd iis fees

Ivorsity of New itn Fi Bosrd

In ateordance with the bylaws of the Foundetion, the Board of Trustess shall sppoint an Investmeni
Commiree. The Boasd of Trusices shall approve, slong watl the Board of Regents:

& The Investnend Paiwiy sl sog changes thisrefo,

®  The Developmunt Funding Allocativg,
¢ The Investmen! Copsoltant and its feeq.

visstment O ftes

The Investment Committee hes fiduciary responaibility for directing and menitoring the iovestment of
the CIF, and 18 suthorized lo refain and solicil recommmendations of qualified professionals including the
CFO, lovestment Consnltant and Investmant Managess

The Investmend Commuttée’s responstbilitied malude:

Recommending an lnvestment Contultant and the contract,

Stlecting an Investrvent Custodisn and approving the copirect,

Approvisg invesiment producis for inclusion in the CTF portfolios,

Monitoring the CIF investments for compliance with all taws, niles and regulations, incloding
but not limited to the Management of Cheritable Funds Act as implemented by the State of New
Mexico from time 1o line,

Cieilidabed by Figind Tevpetment Polléy, fuin 23, 204 Poge



Developing an investment policy for approval by the Board of T rustees o include an assei
allocation model taking into consideration the approprate rates of return and risk for sach assel
clnzz

Reviewing performence ai both the manager and porifolio level oo a penodic basis and, i
necesgary, instructing the CFO and/or the Investment Consnltant to condoct additional due
diligence on any vestment menagerproduct.

Rebalancing the CIF in accardmnes with the assct allocation ranges,

Providing reégular repors (0 the Board of Trusiees and 1o the Board of Regents at their regulaly
scheduled meetings, including recommendations with respect to any suggested changes in
mvesimenl policies,

¢ Chief Finan

The CFO serves 18 &n pdvisor 1o the vestment Commities, hd shall assist the Investment Commifiee
as needed m carmying cut their respomsibilibies noted above. Additional respoosibilities of the CFO
prelabde:

&+

tmplomennng Investment Committes decizions as directed.

Working direcily with the Tnvestment Consultant 25 nesdad.

Preparing an anmal repart on the CIF, incloding performance and albocation infermation
Impéortant o the donor commitnicy.

Coordinsting agenda (ieme with the Investment Comiroiites Char snd schedoiing meetings oF the
vestoent Commithée such that all myparant matters are henizght w the Commimize’s abention
ina timaly faihbon,

Reéviewing and executing, i consultation with lepel counsél, all offerog docutneoiz for new
mwestment products epproved by the Invéstment Committes.

Providing the Inveztment Committes with reports comparing imvestment perfommiance mnd aaset
allzention with the NACUBO-Commonfund Study of Endowmenis,

The lnvestment Consultant

The tnvestment Consultand 1s responsible for providing advice to the luvestiment Commities as follows:

Reviowing the asset aliocation a3 appropriaie and no less than aomwally,

Momimring the portfolios iy ensure fhui asseis remain within the desipnated ranges as spocified
i the paset allocation modeld, und recommending approprate setons (o address siluitions
outside the designsted ranges.

Providing written comments and recommendations on the Policy s needed, but on no less than
an anmal bazsis.

Assisong in sclecting, monironng, and replecing inveptment managers amd producis.
Reconnnend g spprimprate benchnarks and peer groups with which o mowitor sslecled
investnient MARKEers,

Providing written quarterly reporis no less than quarterty (o the Investment Commitiee on
investnent products and mansgers, including deparnwes of key personned, style drift, changes in
imvestment process and any other matter requinng the Investment Committes’s aftenton
ineludng & recommendstion et an inveztment mansger be retiined or lerminated.

¢ awiniilisbamsl Brivcinmiess Food limmnmise Bolioy, [ese 25, 2010 Page T



Disclosing any fee relationships with investinent managers, advertisers, placement agents or
other providers of service for the CIF.

Presenting reports to the Board of Regents and the Board of Trustees as needed.

Reviewing all offering documents for new investment products prior to submission to the CFO
for signaturc.

The Investment Managers

Investmend managers shall:

Act as responsible fiduciaries in all matters involving their management of CIF assets and
comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Report all activity to the CFO and lnvestment Consultant on a timely basis as agreed, but in no
cvent will such report be provided on less than a quarterly basis. Such reports shall include a
comparison of perfarmance with the agreed-upon benchmark, and might include detaiis about
the hoidings and strategies of the applicable product.

Vote, or cause to be voted, all proxies on securities held by the CIF.

Provide CFQO with copies of audited fnancial statements covering the mvestment product in a
timely manner,

Make presentations to the Investinent Committee when and as requested.

Maintain a strict adherence to the mandate under which they were engaged.

Provide CFO and Investment Consultant with a written report within five business days of the
following matters: (a) change in ownership or legal entity status; (b) change in key personnel,
including a change in anyoune on the product pertfolio management team; (¢) change in
investment philosophy or style; (d) civil or criminal charges filed against the firm by a regulator.
Disclose any fee relaiionship with the investment consultant, advertisers, placement agents or
other providers of service for the CIF.

The Investment Cusiodian:

The Investment Custodian shall:

-

Provide monthly reports detailing invesiment holdings and account transactions within 15
business days following the end of each month and an annual report summanzing the following
within 15 business days following each fiscal year end.

Establish and mainain an account(s) for each Investment Manager of the portfolio as requested
by the CFO.

Provide all normal custodial functions including security safekeeping, collection of income,
settlement of trades, collection of proceeds of maturing securities, daily investment of
uninvested cash, etc., effect trades, if applicable, manage sccurities lending program, if
applicable.

Prepare additional accounting reports as requested by the CFO or Investment Consultant.

Consolidated lavestment Fund lavestment Policy, June 23, 2010 page 8



PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT AND REPORTING

Performance Measurement

The performance of the CIF will be reviewed ai least annuaily to determine the continued feasibility of
achieving the investment objectives and the appropriateness of the investment policy for achieving these
objectives. In consideration of the CIF’s goals and objectives, several standards will be utilized in
evalvating investmet performance as opposed to a single measure. These standards reflect several
aspects of investment performance, including the specific objectives and the market indices used to
measure the performance of individual Managers.

o TOTAL FUND PERFORMANCE: The Investment Committee expects the total assets under
management to perform in the upper quartile of an acceptable comparable peer universe, over a
market cycle or a three to five year period if shorter.

* ASSET CLASS LEVEL PERFORMANCE.: Eack asset class approved by the Invesunent
Commitiee will have an intermediate term benchmark that is investable and a longer term
benchmark that represents the investment objective in that ssset class’s inclusion in the portfolio.

* INVESTMENT MANAGER PERFORMANCE: Each Investment Manager’s performance
should compare favorably over comparable periods to that of other Investment Managers of a
like style and discipline. The Investment Managers shall have discretion to invest a portion of
the assets it cash reserves when they deem it apprapriate. However, the Investment Managers
will be evaluated against their peers and their predetermined benchimarks on the performance of
the total funds under their direct management.

Conflict of Interest

All persons respounsible for investment decisions or who are involved in the mapagement of the
Foundation or who are consulting 1o, or providing any advice whatsoever to the Investment Committee,
shall disclose in writing at the beginning of any discussion or comsideration by lhe Investroent
Comumittee, any relationships, material beneficial ownership, or other material mierest(s) which the
person has or may seasonably be expected to have, with respect to any investment issue under
consideration. The Investment Committee will require such persons to remove themselves from the
decision-making process.

Any members of the Investment Committee yesponsible for investment decisions or who are involved in
the management of the Foundation shall refuse any remuneration, comsnission, gift, favor, serviee or
benefit that might influence them in the discharge of their duties, except as disclosed in writing to and
agreed upon in writing by the Investment Committee. The intent of this provision is to eliminate
conflicts of interest between commiftee membership and the Foundation. Failure to disclose any
material beneftt shall be grounds for immediate removal from the Investment Commuttee, This
provision shall not preclude the payment of ordinary fees and expenses fo the Foundation's custodian(s),
Investment Managers, or Investment Consultant in the course of their services on behalf of the
Foundation.

Conzelidated Investment Fund Investment Policy, June 23, 2010 I-’age 9



EXHIBIT

B THE UNIVERSITY of
NEW MEXICO

i  Foin
P 2013 & 2014 Budgets
Ff 201213 FY 2002/13 Praposed FY 1003/14
Origmsl Bodget Revised Gudged Proposed Budpet

REVEMUES
Hesermm Balance Fonsant - 459,524
Development Funding Allocation (Dra]

DA &2 185 bps (exch, Wobdward) 5,300,675 5,200,675 A, 300,675

OFA Recduction (6140 fps (el oodwird) - - {1265, 353}

DFA @ 185 bpa |Weo dwand) E6L500 1361, 500

DA Aeduction to 90 bgs (Wooaward) (239,685} -

DFA & B0 bps {Woodward) - - 121811
short-Tern Investment Inepme A5, 000 B50, 00e0 250,000
Difer Revenues & Trandtors 150, 00 159,000 150,004
Exbsting Cost-Share Agreefpents (H5C & Athetics) 60, TRO B, a0 b, 7RO
Exlsting Cost-Share Agreamments (Main Campus) B0 00 - .
Exiibting Cost-Share (Fringe Banefits) 150, 00 - .
Unamesiiy One-Tana Fends (Main Camipush 00,000 S5O0 150, (3
Wineesity Ona-Tena Funds (Tringe benefits) 150,000 - -
Foundation Surcharge (Al Compuses] * . 2,455,000 4818000
g ot Faundation keserves 441974 -
Total Aevenues 9,604,978 10,192,766 11,311,663
ENFEMLITURES
Silaries & Benafits
Currgnt Foundation $1aff 7 RE5062 7688 052 7 585,062
gt andfor COLS Increase - £.00 ‘ = 153,70
Additional Foundation Stafl (FY13-Aprif Hire]

Fegional Day, Dfficer - High Cost Location (2 FTE) 104250 417000

Regroral Doy, Oficer - Mid Cost Location (2 FTE) 85115 352 500

Dy, Officorsg - Srhools of Med, & Engr. {2 FTE) 15,000 72,000

Mesearch Manager - flbuguergqes Cifice 17,738 oS0

Staff Support - Albuguergue Office - 11288 45,150
Dperational Expenses 1,663,591 1,650,000 1,700,000
Office Space Rant {0 I6EETS 258,175
Data Records Upgrade {One-Time Funds) - 200,000 A00.000
Total Fxpenditras 3,604,928 10342737 11,064,638

PROVECTED AESERVE
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Prior to Fiscal Year (FY) 2009, the fundraising and development activities of the University of
New Mexico (UNM) and the University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc. (Foundation) were
integrated with, and embedded within the overall financial and management operations of the
University of New Mexico (University). In FY 2009, at the request of the UNM President and
with the approval of the UNM Board of Regents, the Foundation and the fundraising and
development activities for UNM were operationally and financially separated from the
University. These activities are now managed and accounted for by the Foundation. The Audit
Committee of the UNM Board of Regents requested that UNM Internal Audit conduct a review
of the operations of the Foundation.

ANALYSIS OF GOVERNING INSTRUMENTS

Internal Audit reviewed the Governing Instruments and Corporate Documents of the Foundation,
including the Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) dated April 30, 2008 between the Foundation
and UNM, the Consolidated Investment Policy (CIP), Articles of Incorporation, Corporate
Bylaws, Treasury Operations Agreement, and the Foundation’s Operating and Business Policies.
Internal Audit observed minor findings of non-compliance with certain governing documents.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Internal Audit compiled financial information on development activities conducted by the
Foundation for FYs 2006-2008. The FYs 2006-2008 (pre-separation) analysis is compared with
the operating expenses of the Foundation for FY's 2009-2011 (post-separation).

The Foundation is funded primarily from the Development Funding Allocation, short term
mterest on gift balances, unrestricted gifts to the Foundation, cost sharing agreements with UNM
affiliate organizations, and institutional support from the University.

The Foundation undergoes an annual external audit of its financial statements, and annually files
Form 990, Return of Organization Exempt From Income Tax (Form 990). Internal Audit
analyzed the financial reports for FY's 2006-2011 and reconciled the net revenues less expenses
on the Form 990 to the change in net assets on the audited financial statements.

FUNDRAISING ACTIVITIES

The Foundation is currently conducting the campaign Changing Worlds: The Campaign for
UNM. Presented is an analysis of pledges and donations and balances of Pledges Receivable
from the audited financial statements. The audited financial statements are prepared from the
Foundation’s general ledger using Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). The
campaign results are reported in the anoual Report of Giving (ROG) using national standards for
counting promulgated by the Council for Advancement and Support of Education (CASE). Total
campaign results of $406.5 million, from inception of the campaign in FY 2007 through FY



2011, are reported in the FY 2011 ROG. The reconciliation in Exhibii 6 shows that on a GAAP
basis, $175.3 million is recorded in the general ledger for the current campaign.

CONSOLIDATED INVESTMENT FUND

The Consolidated Investment Fund (CIF) includes the combined endowment assets of the
University and the Foundation. In 1979, the UNM Board of Regents delegated oversight and
management of the CIF to the Foundation’s Investment Committee. The Investment Commitiee
and the Foundation’s Chief Financial Officer (CFO) work with an Investment Consultant and
Investment Fund managers to actively manage the assets held in the CIF. The CIF is a unitized
fund and is segregated between Foundation and UNM owned endowment assets, each reporting
the value and number of units on their respective financial statements. For FY 2011, the UNM
endowments had a market value of $192,584,392, while the Foundation endowments had a
market value of $143,392,723. Altogether, the market value for the CIF for FY 2011 was
$335,977,115. All the endowment funds have been donated for the benefit of the University.

The main endowments owned by UNM are the Regents Special Endowment (Regents
Endowment), the Winrock Land Sale Endowment (Winrock Endowment), and the Sandia
Foundation Endowment, as established by || [ | | | I Endowment). The
Regents and Winrock Endowments are quasi-endowments and the Endowment is a
true endowment, The three funds had market values for FY 2011 as follows: Regents
Endowment - $28,836,736, Winrock Endowment - $27,578,901, and [l Endowment -
$37,282,002.

The CIF incurs investment management fees for the fund custodian, the investment consultant,
and the individual fund managers. Direct fees are investment management expenses paid directly
out of the CIF. Indirect fees are investment management fees paid to fund managers of the CIF
as a reduction in investment income and are reflected as a reduction of net asset value of the
individual funds. For FY 2011, the direct fees were $959,926, and indirect fees were $2,147,531.

The Foundation annually calculates and distributes an endowed spending distribution to the
University to fund scholarships, faculty, and program support. The endowed spending
distribution is calculated according to the Consolidated Investment Policy (CIP) and distributed
on a quarterly basis to approximately 1,500 endowment spending accounts throughout the
University. The donor’s intent is communicated to the departments, schools and colleges, and is
verified by these areas prior to disbursement of the funds. The following graph shows ihe
spendimg distribution for FYs 2006-2011.
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Internal Audit reviewed the processes for verifying compliance with donor intent at certain UNM
colleges and departments. Internal Audit did not note any instances of non-compliance.

Internal Audit, working with the Foundation and the University, will implement a process for
verifying that disbursements from the endowed spending distribution comply with donor intent.

In accordance with the applicable State of New Mexico statutes (Section 2]1-1-38, NMSA 1978;
Sections 46-9A-2 through 46-9A-5, NMSA 1978), the UNM Board of Regents and the
Foundation Board of Trustees have adopted a Consolidated Investment Policy {or investing
endowment funds. The statutes include provisions for establishing an Investment Advisory
Committee comprised of individuals with special skills or expertise to manage and invest the
CIF.

CONCLUSION

The Foundation has a sound governance framework in place to guide and assist in the fulfillment
of its purpose. Internal Audit noted minor findings during the review of the Foundation.
Following are the key recommendations made in the report.

Key Recommendations

1. The Foundation, working with the UNM President, should review the current MOA for
appropriate amendments as necessary.



2. The Foundation should explain the basis of campaign counting used in the Annual Report of
Gtving (ROG), and how those nationally approved standards differ from Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (GAAP) used in the annual financial statements.

3. The Foundation, working with the UNM President, should adopt a business plan that
considers appropriate funding of its operation, including resources needed for future capital
campaigns.



INTRODUCTION
BACKGROUND

The University of New Mexico Foundation (Foundation) was formed as a separate legal entity in
1979. As a separate legal entity, the Foundation reports fo its own Foundation Board of Trustees.
It is organized as a non-profit corporation under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code,
and is required to file an annual tax return on Form 990. The Foundation is reported as a
component unit of UNM in the University's financial statements.

The purpose of the Foundation is to support the University of New Mexico. The Foundation
provides direct services to many of the University’s other non-profit organizations. The services
include acceptance and management of endowments, gift acknowledgements, and preparation of
reports of giving, Other services include maintenance of the donor alumni database, electronic
communication to donors and alumni, special events, and planned giving services. The
Foundation is currently conducting the capital campaign Changing Worlds: The Campaign for
UNM, which began in FY 2007.

The Foundation President reports to the Foundation’s Board of Trustees. The Foundation
President has direct reports of seven leadership positions. Currently, the Foundation has a staff of
84 employees, 17 of which are UNM employees.

The Foundation oversees and manages the CIF, which is comprised of endowment assets of the
University and the Foundation. In 1979, the UNM Board of Regents delegated the management
of UNM endowed assets to the Foundation’s Investment Committee. Foundation revenues
include support from the University, the Development Funding Allocation (DFA), short term
interest on non-endowed gifl balances and unexpended spending distribution balances, cost
sharing reimbursements with affiliated organizations, and Foundation reserves.

Prior 1o FY 2009, the fundraising and development activity of the University and the Foundation
were integrated with and embedded within the overall financial and management operations of
the University. In FY 2009, operational and financial management of the Foundation and
development activities for UNM were separated from the University at the request of the UNM
President and with the approval ot the UNM Board of Regents.

Transition Period — Operational Separation from UNM

The Foundation’s transition to a separate operating organization began with the approval of a
revision of the MOA (May 28, 2008) by the UNM Board of Regents and the Foundation Board
of Trustees and was completed on June 30, 2010 with the establishment of the Treasury
Operations Agreement between UNM and the Foundation.

The first operational change included the creation of Human Resource systems, benefit plans,
and preparation for staffing of the organization. All UNM employees that worked on
development and fundraising were invited to join the Foundation as employees. The first




employee was hired June 1, 2008, and the transfer of most of the UNM development employees
was compieted in January 2009.

The majority of the personnel, approximately 70 employees, accepted the offer and became
Foundation employees. Approximately 25 (currently 17 remaining) employees chose to remain
as UNM employces in order to retain service vested in the New Mexico Educational Retirement
Board (ERB) retirement plan, and to recetve the tuition remission benefit for family members of
UNM employees. The Foundation provides tuition benefit for employees, but not for family
members. And, although 1t has a 403(b) retirement plan, the Foundation does not participate in
ERB.

A Foundation Board of Trustees’ working group was appointed to work with Foundation legat
counsel to develop the necessary policies and procedures for an operating organization. The final
stage of the fransition was the installment of the Treasury Operations Agreement between UNM
and the Foundation, effective July 1, 2010,

PURPOSE

In April 2012, UNM’s then President-elect retained consultants from the University of Florida to
conduct a review of the Foundation's organizational structure and operations. The UNM Board
of Regents’ Audit Committee requested that Internal Audif review the Foundation’s operations to
complement the outside consultant’s review.

SCOPE

The scope of the review was limited to compiling financial information on Foundation
operations for FYs 2006-2011. Our review procedures incinded interviewing personnel,
performing analytical proceduses on financial data, and reviewing corporate documents. We also
analyzed revenue and expense accounts, and reviewed the Consolidated Investment Fund, UNM
endowments, and the Foundation’s Annual Report of Giving. Intemal Audit completed
ficldwork on July 6, 2012.



OBSERVATIONS, RECOMMENDATIONS AND RESPONSES

GOVERNING INSTRUMENTS

The Foundation operates within guidelines of its corporate documents and governing
instruments. We reviewed the Articles of Incorporation, the Restated and Amended Bylaws
{Bylaws), the Memorandum of Agreement with UNM, the Consolidated Investment Policy, and
the Treasury Operations Agreement. We also tested the Foundation’s compliance with the
provisions of each document. The MOA makes numerous references to the “Development
Office,” which is what the Foundation was referred to prior to its separation from UNM. The
MOA has a provision that conflicts with the Bylaws; the provision concerns the voting status of
the UNM President and UNM Chief Financial Officer as members of the Foundation’s Board of
Trustees. Other than these minor inconsistencies, the Foundation appears to have a strong
governance framework in place. Discussion of some of the relevant govermance provisions of
the corporate documents follows,

Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws and Form 1023

The Articles of Incorporation created the Foundation as a corporate entity and were filed with the
New Mexico State Corporation Commission on June 4, 1979, In October 1979, the Foundation
filed Form 1023, Application for Exemption, with the Intemal Revenue Service. The Foundation
received status as a tax exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue
Code. The Articles of Incorporation state the purpose of the Foundation is to support the
University; to receive and hold property given to the Foundation for the use and benefit of UNM,
students and professors; invest, disburse and care for all moneys received; and, ensure the use of
funds comply with donor’s intent, or to such use as the Board of Trustees agree upon in the case
of unrestricted gifis.

Form 1023 states the Foundation was organized for fundraising to support the University. Funds
raised are for scholarships to students, the purchase of instructional equipment, the purchase of
books and other printed material for the UNM libraries, the purchase of artifacts and works of art
for UNM museumas and galleries, the establishment of endowed chairs in the academic
departments, and the funding of research projects to promote academic excellence.

The Bylaws, amended and restated on December 4, 2009, set forth the corporate roles and
responsibilities of the Foundation. The Bylaws govern the establishment, composition and
meeting of the Foundation Board of Trustees; defines the roles, terms and responsibilities of the
officers; and, outlines the powers, responsibilities and meetings of the standing committees of
the Foundation Board of Trustees. The standing committees of the Foundation Board of
Trustees enumerated in the Bylaws include: an Executive Committee, an Audit Commuttee, a
Development Committee, a Finance/Budget Commiittee, a Gift Acceptance Commiittee, an
Investment Committee, and a Committee on Trustees.

The Foundation Board of Trustees is comprised of volunteer members of the community
and includes prominent attorneys, certified public accountants, investment advisors, real



estate professionals, and professionals in many disciplines relevant to Foundation
operations.

Memerandum of Agreement with UNM

The Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) sets forth the operating agreement between the UNM
Board of Regents and the Foundation. The MOA outlines the Foundation agreements including
organization, function and budget for the Foundation, management of gifts and donations, the
distribution and expenditure of funds, and reporting and accounting. The agreement also
outlines the University’s responsibilities, including University priorities, budget and financial
support for the Foundation, University support services, and University compliance with gift
restrictions. The MOA also includes operational considerations and a provision for termination
of the agreement.

Following is the historical record of the MOA between the Foundation and the University:

= QOriginally executed on March 11, 1991,

= Amended and restated on October 9, 1997.

«  Amended on fune 11, 2002; including an Addendum concerning the Consolidated
Investment Fund.

= Amended on April 30, 2008; including an Addendum concerning the Consolidated
Investment Fund and the First Amendment to the April 30, 2008 MOA, signed
December 8, 2008.

The April 30, 2008 MOA was executed by the Foundation on April 25, 2008, and by the
Umversity on May 28, 2008, It 1s the cument MOA in effect. Key provisions are summarized
below:

= Section 1.1.1 — The President of the University shall be included as a voling
member of the Foundation’s Board of Trustees.

* Section 1.1.2 — The University’s Chief Financial Officer shall be included as a
voting member of the Foundation’s Board of Trustees.

s Section 1.1.3 — A member of the University of New Mexico Board of Regents
shall be included as a voting member of the Foundation’s Board of Trustees.

*  Scction 1.2 - The Foundation will have paid staff, including a president who will
be responsible for expanding the fundraising activities and operations of the
Foundation., Until the Foundation is fully staffed, the University will continue to
provide staff to serve the admanistrative nceds of the Foundation in order to
conduct its business and fulfill its responsibilities to the University. The
Foundation’s president will report to the Executive Committee of the Foundation.

This is a significant departure from the provision in the 2002 MOA which states
the Foundation will have no paid staff, and that the University’s Development
Office will provide the staffing needs of the Foundation.



Section 1.2.2 — The Foundation will provide an appropriate benefits package for
the Foundation President and other employees it hires, including but not limited to
retirement, deferred compensation, and health, dental, vision, disability and life
insurance. Prior to FY 2009, all salaries and benefits of Foundation and
development personnel were paid by the University.

Section 1.8 — The Foundation will be responsible for overseeing the Foundation’s
staff operations in consultation with designated University officials. The
Foundation will provide a portion of the financial resources for its operations
from one or more of the following: interest earned on the Foundation’s agency
accounts, an allocation from the Conseolidated Investment Fund - or from other
sources with approval of the Foundation Board of Trustees, and the University’s
Chief Financial Officer.

Section 2.2 — All short term interest earned on the Foundation’s agency accounts
within the University, with the exception of endowment income, will be retained
by the Foundation. The Foundation may develop policies that would, at the
discretion of the Foundation's Board of Trustees, distribute all or any portion of
such income to gift funds on deposit with the Foundation. Any such income
retained by the Foundation may be used to provide a portion of the financial
resources necessary to operale the University's Development Office with the
approval of the Foundation’s Board of Trustees.

Section 3.2 — To assure that the donor directive on the use of the gift ts followed
when disbursed through the University’s general ledger system, the Foundation
will be responsible for providing the University the appropriate information on
donor-directed gift restrictions.

Section 6.2 — The University will provide a portion of the staffing, office and
meeting space, computing support and other related services for the Foundation.
However, the University and Foundation will expeditiously renegotiate the form
and extent of support provided by the University to the Foundation. The staffing
level, the recruitment and hiring of staff, the staff compensation and all other
personnel matters will be in compliance with general University policies. These
policies are not applicable to employees hired by the Foundation.

Prior to FY 2009, the staffing of the Development Office was funded through the
University, and the personnel were subject to the University policies. The April
30, 2008 MOA added the provision that the University policies are not applicable
to the Foundation employees, and after the transition to separate operations in
2009, the Foundation developed their own operating and personnel policies.

Section 6.3 — The University will provide a portion of the financial resources
necessary for the operation of the Foundation. The University agrees that an
amount equal to the percentage of the market value of the Consolidated
Investment Fund may also be allocated to the Foundation for the employment of
its own staff and other operating costs. The annual amount of the allocation will



be mutually agreed upon by the University and the Foundation, This allocation
will be incorporated into the total operating bodget of the University's
Development Office

= Section 72 - In addition to the services provided by the University's
Development Office, the Liniversity agrees to provide the Foundation with certain
sérvices for which no scpamate charges will be assessed. Such services wall
include, but not be limited to, business, financial, legal, and insurance services.

The First Amendment 1o the MOA changed Section 7.2 to clanfy that the Office
of University Counsel would not provide legal services 1o the Foundation.

=  Section 8.1 - As all gifis and income on gift funds are to be dishursed through the
University general ledger system, the Universily agrees o assume the
responsibility of monitoring the expenditeres of income disbursements from both
non-endowed gift accounts and endowed spemding accounis to ensure that amy
ang all donor-imposed restnictions aré mamtained

Consolidated Investinent Policy

The Consolidated Invesiment Policy (CIP) governs the investment of gilts and donations to the
University or the Foundation. All endowment tunds of the University and the Foundation are
managed through the CIF, and participating endowment funds in the CIF receive units in the
pooled fund. The CIP has been amended several fimes over the years, with the most recent
revision in July, 20010, The more signilicant provisions of the CIP are summarized below!

® The CIP has a long-term {nvestmen! philosophy. The ohjectves are to sam 4
returh sufficient to preserve the purchasing power of the CIF, as well ng 10
provide for current endowment spending needs. The CIP considers the risk level,
reiurn gosls, and assct allocation modcls in nchicving itk objeotives, The assols
will be managed on a total retum basis which inclides interest, capitil gains,
dividerids and disinbutions realized over a given evaluaton perod,

s Actete in the CIF ahall he invested withan the following otaxissn sad mimimiom

ranges for each asset class:
Percent of Total Assets
Domestic eguity 1% 0%
International equity 1% 40
Fixed Income/Cash 1 0% 0%
Illiquid real essets® 0% 0%
Private eguity® e 0%

Muarketable altérmatives 5% 20%



The CIP also contains certain restrictions on types of assets and categories of
asset managers. The combined maximum allocation to domestic and interational
equities shall not exceed 70% at any point in time, and does not allow new
commitments to either illiquid real assets or private equity investments. All
actively managed accounts shall be limited to no more than 5% of total assets.
The CIF asset allocations for FY 2011 are domestic equity - 20%, intemational
equity - 21%, fixed income/cash - 22%, real assets - 10%, private equity - 10%,
and marketable alternatives - 17%.

* Although the CIF has investments in illiquid real assets and private equity, the
policy’s intent is to not allow for any “new” commitments to either illiquid real
assets or private equity, which would result in no allocation to either asset class in
the long term as these investments mature. However, the policy recognizes that
existing commitments to these asset classes will require additional “capital calls”
in the short term, resulting in some allocation to these asset classes. The policy
was changed in July 2010 by the UNM Board of Regents to reflect a more
conservative investment approach.

Prior to fiscal year 2010, the Foundation committed to investments in real assets
and private equity securities for $38,000,000 and $61,000,000, respectively. As of
June 30, 2011, the remaining commitments on these investments were
$14,467,847 and $26,362,424, respectively.

The CIP requires a quarterly spending distribution based on a perceniage of the
average market value of the CIF over the previous 20 quarters. The spending
distribution shall not exceed 6%, nor be less than 4% of the average market value.
It is generally paid regardless of whether the fair market value of an individual
account exceeds its historic gift value. This practice is consistent with the
Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act, and recognizes that not
spending from an endowment is likely to be contrary to a donor’s intent fo
provide current benefits for the designated purpose. The Investinent Committee
reviews the spending distribution requirements and sets the spending distribution
at its first meeting of the calendar year.

Development Funding Allocation (DFA): The UNM Board of Regents and the
Foundation Board of Trustees have agreed that a fair and reasonable uniform
basis point fee applicable to all endowment accounts is an appropriate means to
assist the operations of the Foundation. The DFA does not provide support for any
direct costs of investing and administering the CIF, such as investment consultant
fees, custodial fees, and investrnent manager fees. These costs are assigned
directly to the CIF. The DFA is subjeci to review and approval by the Foundation
Board of Trustees and the UNM Board of Regents annually and at other intervals
as required by the UNM Board of Regents.



* The CIP sets the authority and responsibilities of each of the parties responsible
for managing the CIF, including the UNM Board of Regents, Foundation Board
of Trustees, Investment Committee, Foundation Chief Financial Officer,
Investment Consultant, Investment Managers, and the Investment Custodian.

& The Foundation Board of Trustees and the UNM Board of Regents must jointly
approve the CIP, the DFA, and the engagement of an investment consultant.

Treasury Operations Agreement

The Treasury Operations Agreement sets forth the understanding between the Foundation and
UNM concerning the management of gift monies received by the Foundation, short-term
investment income on gift balances held by the University, the transfer of the endowed spending
distribution and the Development Funding Allocation, and payment or reimbursement of
expenses. The principal provisions of the Treasury Operations Agreement are set forth below.

= All endowment gifts are deposited into the Foundation’s bank account. The
Foundation records and acknowledges the gifts, and transfers the funds to the
custodian of the CIF.

» Non-endowment gifts are deposited into the Foundation’s bank account. The
Foundation records and acknowledges the gifts. All non-endowed gifts, with the
exception of gifts received for the benefit of the Foundation and the UNM
Hospitals, are transferred to the University's bank account.

= All investment income on unexpended non-endowment gift balances is
transferred to the Foundation’s bank account for use in its normal course of
business.

» All investment income on unexpended endowment spending distributions is
transferred to the Foundation’s bank account for use in its normal course of
business. Once the spending distribution is transferred to UNM, the tunds are no
longer part of the CIF endowments, and short term interest income is allocable to
the Foundation.

* The Endowment spending distribution is transferred directly from the CIF to the
University’s bank account on a quarterly basis.

* The Development Funding Allocation is transferred directly from the CIF to the
Foundation’s bank account for use in its normal course of business. All transfers
are reported to the University Controller’s Office.

* The Foundation administers payroll and employee benefit programs for its
employees which are paid from the Foundation’s bank account. The University
administers payroll and employee benefit programs for UNM employees assigned
to the Foundation and they are paid from the University’s bank account.



»  All expenditures from non-endowed gift funds for the benefit of the University or
its affiliated organizations, with the exception of UNM Hospitals, are disbursed
through the University’s general ledger and bank account. Expenditures from
non-endowed gift funds for the benefit of UNM Hospitals are disbursed through
the UNM Hospital’s bank account.

Foundation Operations and Business Policies

The Foundation has developed and adopted internal operating and business policies to govern its
day-fo-day operations. The policies are segregated into four sections: Governance Policies,
Employment Policies, Gift Policies, and Fiscal & Business Policies, Foundation management
and in-house counsel worked with a Foundation Board of Trustees” working group to develop
necessary policies for the Foundation. The policies were implemented in early 2009.

Governance — Section | of the Foundation’s policies is Governance. It covers the
responsibilities of the Foundation’s Board of Trustees, responsibilities of the President, conflict
of interest policy, Foundation records and record retention policy, harassment policy, and code of
conduct policy. Inaddition, governance policies contain guidance on operations of the seven
standing Committees of the Foundation's Board of Trustees.

Employment Policies — The Foundation has policies on hiring and recruiting, terms of
employment, equal opportunity and diversity, educational benefits policy, and a whistleblower
policy. In addition, there is a review of compensation policy, which covers chief executives,
officers, and key employees. The Executive Committee of the Foundation Board of Trustees sets
the compensation for covered employees using criteria set forth in the policy.

Gift Policies — The Foundation has two gift policies: 1) planned giving policy, and 2) gift
acceplance policy, which are mandated by section 1.5 of the MOA.

Planned Giving — Planned gifis are gifts by trust, will or charitable remainder trusts,
charitable lead trusts, charitable annuities, life insurance or retirement plans. The
Foundation is authorized to solicit and accept planned gifts, but 1s not allowed to
provide legal advice or accounting advice to donors. If the gift is in any form other
than cash, check, electronic transfer, or securities, the gift must be approved by the
Gift Acceptance Committee,

Gift Acceptance Pelicy — This policy governs acceptance of endowed and restricted
gifts, establishes the Gift Acceptance Comumittee, and sets forth criteria for
acceptance of personal property, real property, and intangible property.

Fiscal & Business Policies — These policies govern Foundation debts and disbursements,
preparation of the Foundation’s operating budget, policy on political lobbying, insurance, and
suppori of other charitable organizations, and reimbursement for cell phone use, business travel
and entertainment.



Compliance with Governing Instruments

The Foundation appears to be in compliance with the govemning instruments except for the
following;

=  The MOA has been modified numerous times since its inception and contains
references to old organizational structures that changed after the separation from
UNM. References to the Development Office should be revised, and the MOA
should refer to the Foundation by its proper legal name.

= The Consolidated Investment Fund has two actively managed accounts exceeding
5% of total assets for two consecutive quarters in FY 2011. The two actively
managed investment funds were 5.2% and 5.6% of total assets. Under the CIP,
actively managed accounts are limited to no more than 5% of total assets.

= The MOA and the Bylaws have inconsistent provisions regarding the voting and
membership of University officials on the Foundation Board of Trustees.
According to the MOA section 1.1.1 and 1.1.2, both the University’s President
and Chief Financial Officer shall be included as voting members of the
Foundation Board of Trustees. The Bylaws, Article 5, Section 5.2.2 list the UNM
President as a non-voting member. Neither the UNM President or Chief Financial
Officer are currently voting members of the Foundation Board of Trustees.

* The Bylaws, Article V, section 5.2.2 indicate that the President of the University’s
Alumni Association shall serve as a non-voting member of the Foundation Board
of Trustees. The President of the University Alumni Association is not currently a
member of the Foundation Board of Trustees.

Recommendation 1

The University and the Foundation should review the issues noted above, and either amend the
appropriate instrument, or conform existing practice to the documented corporate policy.

Response from the President and CEO of the University of New Mexico Foundation

Action Items: Compliance with Governing Instruments

Targeted Completion Date: 12/31/2012 pending approval by governing bodies.

Assigned to: Bullet 1, 3, 4: Interim Senior Associate University Counsel is reviewing the MOA.
Bullet 2: Foundation staff liaison to the Investment Committee will report on the Investment
Committee's actions. All changes noted above will be completed when UNM Board of Regents
and UNMF Board of Trustees approve.




Corrective Action Planned: We concur. Bullet 1, 3, 4: The University and the Foundation have
already begun the process of reviewing the MOA and the Bylaws to ensure conformity. Bullet 2.
The Foundation’s Investment Committee will review the CIP provision regarding a 5%
maximum allocation to actively managed accounts and consider amending the CIP to allow for
minor, temporary deviations due to normal quarter-to-quarter changes in market valuations.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Audited Financial Statements and Income Tax Returns

The Foundation is required to have an annual independent audit of its financial statements, and
file a federal tax return on Form 990. The financial statements are prepared using GAAP
promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The independent
accounting firm issued an unqualified opinion on the financial statements in each of the FYs
2006-2011, attesting that the financial statements are fairly presented according to GAAP. The
financial statements and Form 990 both use the accrual method of accounting; however, there are
significant differences in the information presented on each report due to differing accounting
principles, rules, regulations and purposes of each report. The purpose of the financial statements
is to present fairly the financial position, results of operations, and cash flows of the organization
according to GAAP. Form 990 is an annual information return required to be filed with the
Internal Revenue Service, and solicits information verifying compliance with rules for tax-
exempt organizations. Other differences between the financial statements and Form 990 are
presented below:

Information included in the Form 990 but not reguired for qudited financial statements:

= Information on officers, directors and compensation.

= Description of mission and program services.

» Reconciliation of differences in revenue recognition and changes in net assets between
Form 990 and audited financial statements.
Responses to questions regarding compliance with various tax and legal requirements.
Analysis of income-producing activities.
Ownership information on taxable subsidiaries.
Certain revenues or gains, and expenses or losses, may be recognized differently on Form
990 than they are for audited financial statements.

Information presented in audited financial statemenis but not on Form 990:
= Independent Auditor’s qualified or unqualified opinion.
«  Summary of accounting principles used to prepare the statements.
= Notes to financial statements.
= Cash flow statement.
*  Amounts, timing and conditions associated with restricted funds.
= (Certaln revenues or gains, and expenses or losses, may be recognized for financial
statement purposes but not on Form 990.




The tax accounting pnociples used to prepare Form 990 differ from the GAAP used in audited
financial statements, ©xhihi | shows the reconciliation of Form 990 with the audited financial
statements for FYs 2006-201 1. The main reconciling item is unrealized Gain (Loss) on
Investments, which is not recognized in income For tax purposes bul is recognized under GAAP
for audited financial statements.

Analysis of Foundation Operations for FYs 2006-2011

Methodology and Limitations of Analysiz

For FY's 2006-2008, the audited financial statements and Form 990 included only development
activily in Banner indexes for the Foundation and the Office of Vice President for Institutional
Advancement. Although the reports accurately reflect the activity of the Foundation, they do not
present a complete financial picture of development and fundraising activity prior to FY 2009
Significant development activity and fundraising for these prior years was integrated and
embedded within the University's operations. The University directly paid many cosis associated
with development activity and fundraising as part of normal operations of UNM departments,
suhools, and colleges, Such development and fundraising costs include:

®  Costs sssociated with development offives that are embedided in the schiools and

colleges.
- Salaries and benefits of development directors and officers:

- Travel, office supplies and other development costs.

In addition, administrative costs in support of development activities wene also incumred by the
Unaversity, insluding:

= Cost of agminestrative services m support of development activity,
- Legal services provided to the Foundation by the Uttice ol
University Counsel,
- Human Resources, Information Technology, and Accounting
services provided by LTNM.
* Facilities costs, such as rent on office space, utilities, maintenance. and other
overhead nof allocated to the development activity,

Prior to FY 2009, UNM attempted to recover the cost of administrative expenses associated with
developmen: by charging cenain development units a fee for administrative services. An
uddministrative fee was changed (o UNM orpanizations with development activity il the unil was
nol funded by 1&G revenues. If UNM organizations with development activity were funded
through T&G revenue they were not charged the administrative fee. We considered the
admirgstrative fee in compiling the estimated operating cosis of the development activity for FY's
2006-2008; however, the full impact may not be reflected in the analysis.



The analysis of operating costs for FY's 2006-2008 is estimated, based on the following
methodology:

w ]dentification of development activities that were embedded throughout various
UNM departments, schools and colleges.
= Determination of which departments were not included in the Foundation’s
financial reporting.
» Identification of University employees and departments engaged in development
activities:
- Compiled lists of employees engaged in development and
fundraising.
- Compiled Banner indexes of all departments engaged in
development and fundraising.
»  Estimated operating costs were calculated based on relevant salary and fringe
benefits and other operating expenses for each employze and department.

Operating costs for FYs 2006-2008 are estimates based on the above methodology (see Exhibit
10), while the costs for FYs 2009-2011 reflect actual costs on the Foundation’s books, adjusted
for benefits of UNM employees assigned to the Foundation. The funding source of the operating
costs was derived from analysis of Foundation records and Banner indexes. The DFA and short
term interest are actual revenues. The other revenues for FYs 2009-2011 are actual revenues and
for FYs 2006-2008 they are estimated. The Instructional & General (1&G) funding 1s estimated
for FY's 2006-2008, and 1&G for FYs 2009-2011 is actual, adjusted for benefits of UNM
employees assigned to the Foundation. Pledges and donations (GAAP Basis) and operating
expenses are shown in the following graph. The graph corresponds with the current campaign;
therefore, FY 2000 is not included.

Donations and Pledges vs. Operating
Expenses (GAAP Basis)
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The analysis of UNM development and fundraising costs, including the Foundation, for FYs
2006-2011 is presented in Exhibit 2. The estimated cost for FYs 2006-2008 is based on the
aforementioned methodology, and the costs for FYs 2009-2011 reflect actual development and
fundraising costs as accounted for by the Foundation. The analysis also shows the estimated
number of employees engaged in development and fundraising for FY's 2006-2008, and actual
employees of the Foundation for FYs 2009-2011. The number of employees of the Foundation
for FYs 2009-2011 includes 17 UNM employees that are permanently assigned to the
Foundation. The total operating expenses of the Foundation are presented in the graph below.

Estimated Operating Expenses
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As part of the transition to separate operations, UNM employees that were engaged in
development and fundraising activity were given the option to remain as UNM employees or
become Foundation employees. Approximately 25 (17 currently remain) employees chose to
remain as UNM employees, primarily so they could retain years of service vested in the ERB
retirement plan, and to receive the tuition remission benefit for family members of UNM
employees.

Payroll for these employees is processed through the UNM payroll and benefits system and the
cost is allocated to a Foundation agency account that is set up in Banner. The rent on the
Foundation’s office space is also charged to the agency account and is funded by support from
the University. For FYs 2009-2011, the University transferred 1&G funds to the agency account
to pay for the cost of the employees and the rent. Employee benefits are not assessed against the
agency account. In FYs 2009-2011, benefits for the UNM employees assigned to the Foundation
were paid out of UNM’s benefits pool. The cost of the UNM employees (with the exception of



the benefits) is recorded on the Foundation’s books, and the funding is recorded as direct support
revenue from the University. All other Foundation employees’ salaries and benefits are paid
directly by the Foundation.

The analysis included a comparison of the Foundation’s employee benefits to the University’s,
including employer payroll taxes, unemployment, and worker’s compensation. The Foundation
offers a 403(b) retirement plan, group insurance, incentive compensation, UNM ticket discounts,
employee tuition remission, and auto and phone allowances. The University’s employee benefits
include the New Mexico ERB plan, group insurance, sick leave, tuition remission (employee and
family), retiree benefits program, employee health program, and employee counseling and
referral services. There are differences in the types of benefits offered, with UNM’s benefits
running approximately 31% of payroll and the Foundation’s at approximately 25% of payroll.

UNM Foundation Funding Sources

The Foundation and the University are interdependent organizations relying on each other for
funding of various activities. The University provides support to the Foundation to fund
administrative and fundraising activities, while the Foundation provides the University with
investment management services and fundraising activities, and facilitates funding of
scholarships, faculty, and program support through the endowment spending distribution.

The fundraising and administrative costs of the Foundation are funded through the DFA, short
term interest on non-endowment gift balances and unexpended spending distribution balances,
unrestricted gifis to the Foundation, cost sharing agreements with UNM affiliated organizations,
mstitutional support from the University, and when required, reserve fund balances.

Development Funding Allocation (DFA) - By joint approval of the UNM Board of Regents and
the Foundation Board of Trustees, the Foundation charges the CIF a fee which is used in funding
Foundation operations. The UNM Board of Regents has increased the rate several times over the
past couple of years. The meeting minutes of the UNM Board of Regents and the Foundation
Board of Trustees indicate the increases occurred at the following dates.

Prior to 2006 90 basis points
April 2006 98 basis points
November 2007 110 basis points
June 2008 115 basis points
May 2009 185 basis points

In November 2007, the DFA increased from 98 basis points to 110 basis points in anticipation of
costs associated with implementation of the Changing Worlds: The Campaign for UNM. The
decrease in the value of the CIF from the 2008 economic downturn adversely affected the DFA
funding to the Foundation, and coupled with decreases in institutional support necessitated
further increases in DFA basis points. Exhibit 3 shows the historical amount charged for FY's



2006-2011, along with the impact of a hypothetical decrease to 150 basis points for FYs 2010-
2011. The DFA currently provides the majority of funding for Foundation operations; therefore,
any decrease in the DFA would have to be made up from other sources.

Short Term Interest Allocation — The University holds approximately $50 million in unexpended
non-endowment gifts and unexpended spending distributions. Under provisions of the MOA and
the Treasury Operations Agreement, short-term interest monies earned on these balances are
allocated to the Foundation for use in operations. Short-term interest transferred to the
Foundation for use in operations for FYs 2006-2011 is shown in Exhibit 2

Institutional Support — This includes transfers of funds from the University to the Foundation, or
payment of certain Foundation expenses by transfer of funds to Agency accounts set up by the
University for the benefit of the Foundation. It also includes 1&G or Auxiliary funds deposited
in agency accounts for payment of Foundation costs (primarily to pay the costs of the UNM
employees assigned to the Foundation and rent on the Foundation building).

Unrestricted Gifts to the Foundation — Gifis that are not designated by the donor for a specific
use. Such gifts support the Foundation by agreement with the UNM Board of Regents.

Cost Sharing Agreements — Agreements with certain UNM affiliate organizations such as UNM
Athletics and UNM Hospital to reimburse the Foundation for costs associated with fundraising.
The reimbursements are mostly for personnel costs (salaries and benefits), Health Sciences
Center (HSC) expenses for cultivation of relationships, and billings for expenses related to
Children’s Miracle Network campaigns.

Net Asset Fund Balance Reserves — On occasion, the Foundation has used reserve fund balances
to help pay for operations. When Foundation operations were separated from UNM in 2009, 1t
was anticipated that the Foundation would occasionally use reserves to fund operations.

From FYs 2006-2008, University funding provided the largest amount of revenue to the
Foundation budget. However, given the impact of economic conditions on University funds over
the intervening years, the DFA has become the Jargest source of revenue for FY's 2009-2011.

See Exbibi 2.

FUNDRAISING AND DEVLOPMENT ACTIVITIES

In FY 2007, the Foundation hegan the fundraising campaign Changing Worlds: The Campaign
Jfor UNM. The goal is to raise $675 million during the campaign that is scheduled to end in FY
2014 in conjunction with the University’s 125™ anniversary. The campaign focuses on donor
support needed in four areas: Student Success and Opportunity; Faculty Support and Research;
Campus Programs; and Capital Projects and Facilities. Exhibit 6 shows the reconciliation of the
campaign totals and the Foundation’s general ledger for FYs 2007-2011. For the Changing
Worlds campaign as of June 30, 2011, the Foundation reported $406.5 million in donations and



pledges in the Annual Report of Giving (CASE basis), and recorded $175.3 million in donations
and pledges in the audited financial statements (GAAP basis).

Donations Process

The Foundation is authorized to accept all gifts made to or for the benefit of the University in the
form of cash, checks, electronic funds transfers, credit or debit card transactions, and securities.
The Gift Acceptance Committee of the Foundation, established pursuant to the joint Gift
Acceptance Policy, reviews all other gifts. When the Foundation receives a gift, the donor’s
intended use of the gift is documented in an executed gift agreement signed by an authorized
mndividual for the Foundation, the donor, and the appropriate University official. All donors are
advised to secure guidance from independent legal and/or tax counsel in all matters pertaining to
the planned gift to the University, including tax requirements.

Donations are posted daily to the Foundation's accounting system, where a separate general
ledger account is created for each restricted purpose. All donations received in UNM
departments are forwarded to the Foundation for processing. Once the Foundation receives the
necessary paperwork for donations, a journal voucher is prepared to record the deposit, and an
entry is made into the gift processing system. All non-endowed gifts, with the exception of gifts
received for the benefit of the Foundation and the UNM Hospitals are transferred to the
University’s bank account in accordance with the Treasury Operations Agreement, The
following graph shows the trends in endowed and non-endowed gifts and contributions on the
Foundation’s financial statements for FYs 2006-2011 prepared in accordance with Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP).

i Endowed and Non-Endowed Gifts and
| Contributions (GAAP Basis)
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Pledpges Receivable

Pledges receivable are recorded as revenue only when the initial pledge is greater than $5,000
and when a signed “Statement in Intent of Gift Support™ is received from the donor. The
statement must specify the frequency and amount of payment that is expected to be paid by the
donor. The pledge is also recorded in the Foundation’s gift processing system. The pledges
receivable are reported net of allowances and discounts. The contributions to permanent
endowments include donations and pledges to endowments.

The Foundation monitors and reconciles the pledge activity with the general ledger and the gifi
processing system on a monthly basis. The Foundation takes steps to ensure that pledges are paid
when scheduled in the pledge agreement. Steps include mailed reminders prior to pledge due
dates for all pledges, as well as holding on-going meetings with development officers for larger
pledges. An initial pledge reserve of 5% is established for all pledges. Pledges are reviewed
individually twice a year to determine if the pledge reserve should be increased, or if a pledge
should be written off. See I:xhibii 4 for a 5-year analysis (FYs 2007-2011) of pledges
receivable, including collections and write-offs.

Report of Giving Analysis

Each year, the Foundation produces its Annual Report of Giving, which is a celebration of the
Foundation’s success in fundraising for the year. The report highlights the fundraising efforts and
progress toward fundraising goals. Exlibit 5 shows the total donations and contributions for FYs
2006-2011. A key measurement of success and effectiveness in fundraising is the “cost of raising
one dollar” calculation. For 2011, the Foundation®s cost to raise one dollar was 12 cents. The
cost to raise one dollar is considered to be efficient and effective fundraising if it is under 20
cents. Also reporiing in the Annual Report of Giving, and presented in Exliibit 5 for FY's 2006-
2011, are the (0lal market value and returns for the Consolidated Investment Fund, and the
spending distributions that the Foundation transfers to UNM for scholarships, faculty and

program support.

The fundraising campaign uses a different set of rules for counting gifts and pledges than are
used for accounting under Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). For Changing
Worlds: The Campaign for UNM, the Foundation uses the national standards promulgated by the
Council for Advancement and Support of Education (CASE). CASE is a professional association
serving educational institutions and the advancement professionals who work on their behalf in
alumni relations, communications, development, marketing and allied areas. CASE helps its
members build stronger relationships with their alumni and donors, raise funds for campus
projects, produce recruitment materials, market their institutions to prospective students,
diversify the profession, and foster public support of education. The Foundation tracks the
fundraising campaign totals with specialized gift tracking software, and uses the same gift
counting rules when the Foundation is not actively engaged 1n a capital campaign. Although the
Foundation Board of Trustees has approved the use of the CASE campaign counting rules, it has
not explained the campaign counting basis used in its Annual Report of Giving.



The following are the differences between the CASE campaign counting rules and revenue
recognition under GAAP,

{rifi - Bequest — Bequests can be counted lor the campaign when pledged if they meet certain
criteria, bul cannot be recorded as revenue on the financial siatements untl realized. Bequests
redfized and recorded as revenue in the current fiscal year for the financisl statements are
sometimes counted in a pnior fiscal year in the campaign.

Gifl - Cash (Reported Gifis) — Certain contributions made to UNM are not recorded on the
Foundation financial statements. Examples include grants received and accounted for at UNM's
Contracts and Grants Departmeat, and contributions given directly 1o KNME, KUNM, the Loba
Club, and the Anderson Foundation. These contributions are counted for the campaign buf are
not shown as revenue on the Foundation's financial statements.

Crift - In-Find (Reporied Giftnd — In-kind gifis are contributions of equipment or sérvices. The in-
kind gifte are received directly by UNM and the Foundation does not take title to the equipment.
Therefore, (he donmted assets are not recorded 84 revenue Tor the Foundation's financial
statemnents, but are included in the campaign Lotal,

Pledge - Anrual ~ Annuval pledges greater than 35,000 are recorded on the Foundation's
financial statements when pledged. Annual pledges under $5,000 are recorded on the
Foundation's financial statements when received. Annual pledges are counted in the campaign
total when pledged if they meet CASE criteria.

o - — Beguest pledges ore récorded on the Foundation's financial statemants when
relized, nol when pledged. Beguest pledges are coumted in the campalgn total when pladged 11
they meet CASE criteria.

Lledge - Mufor — For revenue recognition under GAAP, pledges must be for a specified amount
greater than $5,000, and be accompanied by a written and signed pledge agreement that includes
a payment schedule. Pledges that are greater tham the $5,000 threshold, but do not meet the other
criteria, arg not recorded in the financial statements until received, Under the CASE standards,
such pledges are counted in the campaign total when pledged.

Recommendation 2

The Foundation should explain the campaign counting standards in the Annual Report of Giving
and also discuss differences to amounts reported in the GAAP financial statements.



Response from the President and CEQ of the University of New Mexico Foundation

Action Items: Report of Giving Analysis

Yargeted Completion Date: 11/30/2012 (corresponding with next Annual Repori of Giving).

Assigned to: Foundation Senior Director of Marketing/Communication

Corrective Action Planned: We concur, 4 narrative and table will be included in the Annual
Report of Giving explaining the differences.

CONSOLIDATED INVESTMENT FUND

The UNM Board of Regents delegated authority to the UNM Foundation Investment Commitiee
to oversee and manage the endowment assets of the University and the Foundation. The pooled
agscts arc combinced for investment purposcs and operated as a unitized pool known as the
Consotidated Investment Fund. The CIF is managed in accordance with the Consolidated
Investment Policy, which is approved by both the UNM Foundation Board of Trustees and the
UNM Board of Regents.

The endowments in the CIF are split between University Endowments and Foundation
Endowments. The UNM Board of Regents designated all endowments received prior to 1979 as
owned by the University, and all endowments received subsequent to 1979 as owned by the
Foundation, even though the University is the beneficiary of all endowments. Some endowments
established after 1979 are still designated as owned by UNM, including quasi-endowments
esiablished by the UNM Board of Regents with University funds. Based on this designation, the
CIF investments are split between the University and the Foundation in the annual audited
financial statements.

For FY 2011, the CIF contained 1,342,175 units with a market value of $335,977,115. The
UNM designated endowments consisted of 769,344 units with a market value of $192,584,392,
and the Foundation had 572,831 units with a market value of $§143,392,723. F»hihit 7 shows the
activity of the CIF for FYs 2006-201 1, including investment income, distributions to UNM,
additions to principal, and the total asset allocation of the CIF. The following graph provides the
market values of the Consolidated Investinent Fund.
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Investment Fond Management

Under the terms of the MOA and CIP, the UNM Board of Regents delegated the management of
the CIF to the Investment Committee of the Foundation Board of Trustees. The Investment
Committee has fiduciary responsibility for directing and monitoring the investment of the CIF,
and is authorized to retain and solicit recommendations of qualified professionals, including the
CFO, Investment Consuitant, and Investment Managers. The Investment Committee works with
the institutional investment consultant to structure the portfolio and hire independent investment
managers. The investment managers are responsible for specific asset categories and
management styles.

In accordance with the applicable State of New Mexico statues (Section 21-1-38, NMSA 1978;
Sections 46-9A-2 through 46-9A-5, NMSA 1978), the UNM Board of Regents has adopted a
Consolidated Investment Policy for investing its endowments. The statutes include provisions
for establishing an Investment Advisory Committee comprised of individuals with special skills
or expertise to manage and invest the CIF.

The Foundation’s Investment Committee has 17 members and is comprised of individuals from
the local professional community, including three investment professionals, two Certified Public
Accountants, two attorneys, a banker, and two corporate Chief Executive Officers. The
[nvestment Committee also has one UNM Board of Regents member, two UNM finance
officials, and four Foundation staff members, including the Foundation President and the
Foundation Chief Financial Officer.



Investment Fees

The Foundation and the CIF incur investment management fees in the normal course of business,
including custodial fees charged by the financial institution holding the CIF investments,
consulting and advisory fees to the Investment Consultant, and investment management fees to
the individual fund managers. The investment fees are either direct or indirect. Direct fees are
paid by the Foundation from its bank account, and indirect fees are paid to individual fund
managers from the revenues of the fund. Direct fees include amounts paid to the CIF custodian
(Northern Trust), the Investment Consultant (currently Hewitt), and a few of the individual fund
managers. The bulk of the investment fees are indirect fees paid to the individual managers of
the funds that make up the CIF.

The fees to the individual fund managers vary depending upon the type of invesiment and level
of management provided. Passively managed funds have the lowest fees. The next highest fees
are paid to actively managed funds, while alternative investment funds have the highest fees
since they require more intensive management. For FY 2011, fees for the individually managed
funds in the CIF ranged from a low of .20% (20 basis points) for a large capitalization stock
fund, to 1.35% (135 basis points) for a marketable altemative investment fund. For FY 2011, the
investment fees for the Investment Consuitant were $383,477 (.12% or 12 basis points) of the
weighted average value of the CIF. The total weighted average fees to the fund managers were
$2.5 million (.72% or 72 basis points), and the total portfolio weighted average fees were $3.1
million (.84% or 84 basis points). The fees calegories and amounts paid by the Foundation are
common for all institutional funds of this type.

UNM Endowments

There are three primary UNM endowment funds that are managed by the Foundation's
Investiuent Committee within the Consolidated Investment Fund: the Regents Endewment, the
Winrock Endowment, and the ||l Endowment. The Regents Endowment includes the
Mesa del Sol property sale, which added $8,045,923 in proceeds to that endowment in FY 2006.
As of June 30, 2012, it has a balance of $5,372,448. The ||l Evdowment is a true
endowment. The Regents and Winrock Endowments are quasi-endowments, and the UNM
Board of Regents may expend the principal and income at their discretion, Exhibil ¥ presents the
three main UNM endowments for FY's 2006-2011, showing the change in market value, yield,
and spending distribution of each fund. The market value of the UNM Endowment totaled
$192.6 million (57% of the $336 million CIF) as of June 30, 2011.

The market value of each endowment experienced losses in FY's 2008 and 2009, primarily from
the economic downturn. The poor economic conditions had the biggest impact on the
endowments in FY 2009, as they suffered losses ranging from $6.5 million (Winrock
Endowment) to $8 million h Endowment). These investment losses resulted in market
value decreases in the Endowments ranging from $8.3 million (Winrock Endowment) to $9.9
million (Regents Endowment). In addition to investment losses, the development funding
allocation and spending distributions also contribute to decreases in the endowments. In FYs



2010 and 2011, investment earnings began to rebound as the economic market conditions
improved, resulting in significant increases in market values of the endowments over the last two
years. The spending distribution for the three main UNM endowment funds is included in
Exhibit &

Spending Distribution

The CIP establishes the endowment spending distribution policy. The Foundation’s Investment
Committee determines the spending rate at its first meeting of the calendar year in order to allow
for timely communication to UNM beneficiaries in advance of UNM’s annual budget process.
The CIP provides that the spending rate shall not exceed 6% nor be less than 4%. In accordance
with the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act, the Investment Committee
considers a number of items, including but not limited to:

= The net rate of return earned by the CIF in each of the five most recent fiscal years.

= The net real (after adjusting for inflation as measured by the CPI-U) rate of return earned
by the CIF in each of the five most recent fiscal years.

= Payout rates established by other University endowments.

= Other resources available to the University, and any unusual or extraordinary
circumstances impacting these resources (tuition revenues, State appropriations, etc.).

» The spending distribution in effect at the time of deliberations.

» (eneral economic conditions.

» The expected total return of the CIF per the most recent asset allocation study.

The spending distribution is calculated using the approved spending rate applied to average
market value of the CIF for the past 20 quarters. The Consolidated Investment Policy was
amended in 2010 to increase the averaging period from 12 quarters to 20 quarters to smooth out
the eflect of the economic downturn. The spending distribution rates set by the Investment
Committee were 4.86% for FY 2006 and 4.65% for FYs 2007 — 201 1. For FY 2012 it is 4.50%.
The spending distribution is made quarterly to approximately 1,500 spending accounts
throughout UNM. The final distribution for the year is trued up to reflect spending distribution
rate approved by the Investment Committee. Any unexpended spending distribution balances are
invested by UNM on a continual basis, and the short term interest earned on the balances is
allocated to the Foundation for use in operation. The Foundation provides donor imtent
information to UNM departments, colleges and schools, and to the UNM General Accounting
department, each of which are responsible for ensuring that spending from endowed accounts
complies with donor intent. The spending distribution for FYs 2006-2011 for the combined
Consolidated Investment Fund is shown in the following graph, and the annual totals are
presented as a line item in Exhibit 7,
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Supplemental Operating and Investment Expenses Data

The Foundation has two different but related functions: fundraising and development efforts in
the support of the University, and fiduciary duties related to its stewardship of the Consolidated
Investment Fund. The majority of the salaries, fiinge benefits, and other operating expenses are
incurred in the Foundation’s fundraising operations. Investment management fees are associated
with the stewardship aspect of the Foundation’s management of the CIF.

A supplementary analysis is presented in Exhibit 9, showing total estimated operating expenses
and investment management fees. Investment expenses are not paid from the Foundation's
operating budget and are presented in the audited financial statements as non-operating expenses.
Investment fees are expenses of the Consolidated Investment Fund and are reported as a
reduction of investment income. In addition, investment returns are reported net of investment
management fees, which 1s standard for the industry. The value of the CIF for FY 2011 was
$335,977,115, with $192,584,392 designated as endowments owned by UNM (57%), and
$143,392,723 designated as endowments owned by the Foundation (43%). The total investment
expenses for FY 2011 were $3.1 million, of which $1.8 million could be attributed to the UNM
endowments and $1.3 million to the Foundation endowments. Exhibit 9 is provided for
informational purposes only.

Tracking Donor Intent

The Foundation transfers endowment spending distributions to approximately 1,500 endowment
spending accounts at the University on a quarterly basis. Endowment spending accounts are
primarily for scholarships, faculty support, and program support. Scholarship endowments have



specific requirements, as students must meet certain eligibility requirements in order fo be
awarded a scholarship from endowed funds. Departments typically have committees that review
student applications and determine which students may be awarded scholarships based on
specific eligibility factors.

Faculty support and program support endowments have a broader purpose. Expenditures from
faculty support endowments can be for any job-related purpose. Expenditures from program
support endowments can be for any purpose that is for the benefit of the department. The
departments selected for review each have an approval process for disbursements from endowed
accounts. Each departmient also has procedures in place to track available endowment balances
and spending activity.

Internal Audit selected three colleges/schools within the University on which to perform a
review for donor intent compliance on disbursements from endowed spending accounts. We
judgmentally selected a sample of transactions from each department and completed test work to
ensure compliance. We did not note any instances of non-compliance. Internal Audit will work
with the Foundation and the University to implement a process for verifying endowed spending
distribution expenditures comply with donor intent. The process will be designed to test UNM
colleges and departments on an annual rotation.

Foundation Business Plan

As noted previously, prior to FY 2009, UNM Foundation operations and development activities
were integrated with and embedded within UNM operations. The University did not prepare a
business plan or cost analysis prior to implementing the separation of the development activities
and Foundation operations from UNM operations.

A high-level strategy, business plun and cost analysis should address the [ollowing:

»  Funding sources of future Foundation operations, including contingency planning
should funding sources evaporate or prove inadequate.
= Detailed analysis of how Foundation operations would be paid for/supported by
the institution.
- Cost analysis of development activities and Foundation operations
prior to separation from UNM.
- Five-year forecast of development activities and administrative
costs subsequent to separation.
= Resources needed, including employees, IT resources, and professional services
(legal, benefit contractors, etc.).
» Fundraising campaign resources, staffing, marketing and other costs related to
fundraising, and annual targets for gifts, donations, and pledges.



Recommendation 3

The Foundation should work with the UNM President to prepare a business plan n anticipation
of upcoming fundraising campaigns. The plan should include forecasts for future administrative
and fundraising costs, revenue sources to pay for such costs, and annual targets for the
fundraising campaign.

Response from the President and CEQ of the University of New Mexico Foundafion

Action Items: Foundation Business Plan

Targeted Completion Date: As required by the UNM President's decision fo initiate a new
campaign.

Assigned to: UNM Foundation President and CEQ

Corrective Action Planned: We concur. The Foundation will work with the UNM President to
prepare a business plan in anticipation of fitture fundraising campaigns.
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Maunilal Patel, CPA
Director, Internal Audit Department

Approved for Publication
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Pre-Separation

'Post Separation

Regents Endowment 2006 2007 2008 2009 . 2010 . 2011
Market value, end of year $32,325,235 436,674,360 $35,018,525 525,165,952 525,889,070 S 28,836,764
5 change 4,349,125 {1,655,835) (9,852,573) 723,118 2,947,654
% change 13.45% 4.51% -28.14% 2.87% 11.39%
Investment earnings 5 2,789,695 5 6,123,941 S 284,643  5{7,060,716) 5 2,659,659 & 4,759,412
Yield 9.48% 17.75% 0.79% -23.46% 10.42% 17.39%
Spending distribution ${1,170,486) ${1,445,081} ${1,542,062) ${1,576,006) 5(1,431,065} S  {1,304,603)
Pre-Separation Post Separation
Winrack Endowment 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
Market value, end of year $29,879,837 633,509,952 $32,369,380 $24,076,065 524,767,866 $ 27,587,901
S change 4,020,115 (1,530,572}  (8,293,315) 691,801 2,820,035
% change 13.45% -4.51% -25.62% 2.87% 11.39%
investment earnings 5 3,359,665 % 5,660,666 S 263,110 5{6,526,574) $ 2,544,475 § 4,553,291
Yield 11.59% 17.75% 0.79% -23.13% 10.42% 17.39%
Spending distribution $(1,311,277) $(1,335,761} ${1,425,406) ${1,456,782) ${1,369,089) $ (1,248,103
— Pre-Sepamation Post Separation
Endowment 2006, 2007 2008 2008 2010 2011
Miarket value, end of year $34,085,743 $40,007,783 539,456,138 $30,698,780 532,422,374 S5 37,282,002
$ change 5,922,040 {551,645) {8,757,349) 1,723,585 4,859,628
% change 17.37% -1.38% -22.20% 5.61% 14,59%
Investment earnings $ 3,784,368 S 6,566,424 S5 283,085 5(7,962,327) $ 3,238,163 5 6,040,036
Yield 11.65% 17.72% 0.71% -22.70% 10.26% 17.33%
spending distribution ${1,482,578) $(31,550,463) $(1,714,852) $(3,806,341) $(1,763,603) &  (1,661,606)
% of CIF S Ampunt
Regents, anro-ndowments 28% $93,706,667
Other UNM Endowments 29% 598,877,725
Tota! UNM Endowrents 57% $152,584,392
UNM Foundation Endowments 43% $143,392,723
Total Endowments (CIF) as of June 30, 2011 100% $335,977,115

Mote: The shove endowrnents are the three largest of the UNNM owned endowead hiinds i the Consolicdated Investment Fund

These three funds make un 28% of the Consolidated Investment Fund.

MNota: The for FY 2006, the Regent's Endowmeni mcludes the Mesz Del Sol property sale, wihich added 8,045,923 from the
sales proceeds to the Endowment, and a 52,000,000 withdrawl for the Anderson Schoal of Managemend student Investament
program. The 2006 viela on the Regents Endowment is alfected by the unusual additions and withdrawls from the funa
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KPMG LLP

Two Park Square, Suite 700
6565 Americas Parkway, N.E,
Albuquerque, NM B7110-8179

Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Trustees

University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc.
and

Mr. Tim Keller

New Mexico State Auditor:

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc.
(the Foundation), a component unit of the University of New Mexico, as of and for the years ended June 30,
2015 and 2014, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
Foundation’s basic financial statements as listed in the tabie of contents.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation,
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Qur responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable fo financial audits contained in Goevernment Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptrolier General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonabie assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers intemal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.

KPMG LLP 5 & Delawars Umited Ratulity parinorshzp,
e LS. member fam of KPMG Imomationa! Coeoperative
I"KPMG Intarmational™, a Swiss entity.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc. as of June 30, 2015 and 2014, the
respective changes in financial position, and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with
U.S, generally accepted accounting principles.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles require that the management’s discussion and analysis on
pages 5-9 and the firancial analysis by account group on page 33 be presented to supplement the basic
financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We
have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency
with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements, We do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to
express an opigion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary and Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the Foundation’s basic financial statements. The statement of net position information by account
group, statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position information by account group, and notes
to supplemental inforimation as of and for the year ended 2015 on pages 34-36 are presented for purposes of
additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The statement of net position information by account group, statement of revenues, expenses, and changes
in net position information by account group, and notes to supplemental information are the responsibility
of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the
basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the
statement of net position information by account group, statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net
position information by account group, and notes to supplemental information are fairly stated ir all material
respects in refation to the basic financial statements as a whole.



Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 18,
2015 on our consideration of the Foundation's internal control over financial reporting ané on our tests of its
compliangce with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters,
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting
and compliance and the results of thar testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial
reporting or on vompliance. That report is an integral part of an audit perfoirmed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Foundation’s intermnal control over financial reporting and
comphaace.

KPMe LP

Albuquerque, New Mexico
November 18, 2015



UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC,
{A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Monpgement's Discussion and Analyss {Unaudited)
Jumse 30, 2015 and 2014

Az & component unit of the University of New Mexico (LINM ar the University) and governmentsl not-for-prafit,
the University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc, (the Foundation) applies the provisions of Governmental
Accounting Stzndards Board (GASB) Swiement No, 34, Sasic Financin! Stalements — and Management 's
Dizcussion and Analvels— for State ond Locel Govenmmems,

Crverview of the Basic Floancial Statemenis

The FPoutidation's ammusl repart consists of the Manopement®s Dizcussion and Analyais, which provides o broad
narrative overview of its financial starements for the fiscal vears ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 and the following,
which comprise the basic financial statements;

I, Statements of net position, which present information on the Foundation's nxsets and labililes and resulting

I-d

Statements of revenues, expenses, end changes in nel peatiion, which provide information on the results of
aperations for the Gzcal veprs.

3 Stalements of cash flows, which present mformation on changes in cash balances and identifv the souree of
eash flows resulting in those changes.

4. Notes to financial stavements, which provide additional mformation thet s essential 10 & full understanding
of the dus provided in (he fnancial sisiements.

Condensed Financial Information
Condenzad Aspots, Liohilities, amd Nt Posiiion

s 2014 2013

Cuvrent assels i a4 (07,051 13,660.752 7,813,748
Moncumrent assels 208918116 215,460,937 173.274.768
Total assets 252025 167 229.130,689 | #1,088516
Current liabtlitics 48 587,055 23,895,099 6,188 951
MWoncument Liabilities 6,376,241 6,888,379 4,901,603
Total lisbilites 54,963,706 30,783 ATE 1 L0590, 564

Net positiom
Unresiricted 2,131,929 1,396,794 2,109 091
Investment in capilal assets 7,910 112,632 137,335
Bestrictad 195.742,012 195 817,785 67,751,526
Total net position $ 197.961,87] 198347211 _ 169,997,952

i

(Connnued)



UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
(A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited}
June 30, 2015 and 2014

Condensed Summary of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Fosition

2015 2014 2013
Operating revenues:
Donaiions and pledges, net $ 18,183,206 22,829,875 21,129,198
Direct support from the
University of New Mexico 5,641,345 5,969,202 3,659,715
Development funding allocation -
Consolidated Investment Fund 2,515,480 2,294,731 2,804,303
Nongift revenue 803,838 464,794 731,996
Total operating revenues 27,143,869 31,558,602 28,325,212
Operating expenses:
Distributions to UNM 26,224,604 30,455,098 27,897,237
General and administrative 12,213,276 12,134,671 10,128,821
Total operating expenses 38,437,880 42,589,769 38,026,058
Operating loss (11.294,011) (11,031,167) (9,700,846)
Investment (loss) income, net {794,918) 31,649,155 17,383,587
Income (loss) before changes in
term and permanent endowments (12,088,929 20,617,988 7,682,741
Changes in term and permanent endowments 11,703,585 7,731,271 9,543,766
Decrease (increase) in niel position (385,340) 28,349250 17,226,507
Net position, beginning of year 108,347,211 169,997,952 152,771,445
Net position, end of year 3 197.961,871 198,347,211 169,997,952

Financial Analysis

At June 30, 2013, the Foundation’s total assets were $252.9 million, which represents an increase of 10.4%
over June 30, 2014 total assets of $229,1 million. At June 30, 2014, the Foundation’s total assets were
$229.1 million, which represents an increase of 26.5% over June 30, 2013 total assets of $181.1 million.

Net position decreased to $198.0 million at June 30, 2015, a decrease of $385 thousand, or 0.2%, over the
net position of $198.3 million at June 30, 2014. Net position increased during the year ended June 30, 2014,
by $28.3 million, or 16.6%, over the net position of $170.0 million at June 30, 2013,

The increase in total assets during the year ended June 30, 2015 was primarily due to an increase in the
Short-Term Investment fund as a result of a change in the Treasury Operating Agreement, dated October 1,
2013. The agreement allows the Foundation to invest nonendowed gifts and endowed spending distributions
until spent by UNM.

The decrease in net position during the vear ended June 30, 2015 was primarily due to the investment loss
during the fiscal year.

6 (Continued)



UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
(A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
June 30, 2015 and 2014

The increase in total assets and net position during the year ended June 30, 2014 was due to investment
income and donations to endowment funds in excess of distributions from endowments.

The market value of the Consolidated Investment Fund (CIF) at June 30, 2015 was $405.8 million, a decrease
of $9.4 million from the June 30, 2014 market value of $415.2 million. Realized gains for the entire CIF
wete §19 million and unrealized losses were $24 million during the year ended June 20, 2015. The market
value of the Consolidated Investment Fund (CIF) at June 30, 2014 was $415.2 million, an increase of
$56.8 million from the June 30, 2013 market value of $358.4 million. Realized gains for the entire CIF were
$24.6 million and unrealized gains were $3.6 million during the year ended June 30, 2014. The fair value
and ownership units of the CIF as of June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013 are as follows:

Consolidated investment Fund

2015 2014 2013
Fair value (in millions):
Foundation $ 189.0 189.1 162.2
University of New Mexico 216.8 226.1 196.2
Totzal fair value of CIF $ 405.8 415.2 358.4
Units:
Foundation 570,951 568,158 579,131
University of New Mexico 655,318 679,611 700,367
Total units of CIF 1,226,269 1,247,769 1,279,498

Additions to endowment principal for the CIF, during the year ended June 30, 2015, were $14.4 nullion; a
increase of $4.5 million from the prior year, Additions to endowment principal for the CIF, during the year
ended June 30, 2014, were $9.9 million; a decrease of $3.6 million from the year ended June 30, 2013.

CIF investment performance showed a net rate of return in the current year of 0.5% compared with the 16.7%
and 11.3% net invesiment return earned during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

During the year ended June 30, 2015, the CIF had a refurn of 0.5%, underperforming the CIF policy
benchmark return of 1.6%. Domestic equities returned 7.4%, international equities returned negative 6.3%,
fixed income retumed negative 2.9%, real assets returned negative 12.6%, private equities returned 9.4%,
and marketable alternatives returned 5.4%.

During the year ended Jume 30, 2014, the CIF had a return of 16.7%, outperforming the CIF policy
benchmark return of 16.3%. Domestic equities returned 24.4%, intermational equities returned 22.6%, fixed
income remmed 4.4%, real assets returned 19.7%, private equities returned 23.7%, and marketable
alternatives returned 7.9%.

Approximately 75% of the Foundation's assets were held as endowments in the CIF as of June 30, 2015,
compared to 83% and 90% at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

7 (Continued)



UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
(A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Management®s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
June 30, 2015 and 2014

The approved spending distribution frora the CIF to UNM departients was $15.0 million during fiscal
year 2015, an increase of $1.2 million from the approved distribution of $13.8 mullion during fiscal year
2014, primarily due 1o an Increase in trailing twenty-quarter average market value per unit of the CIF, Of
fiscal year 2015's distribution, $7.0 million was distributed from Foundation endowments and $8.0 million
was distributed from UNM endowments. The spending distribution for fiscal year 2014 of $13.8 million
increased by $300 thousand from the fiscal year 2013 approved distribution of $13.5 million, due to an
increase in the trailing twenty-quarter average market value per unit of the CIF at June 30, 2014,

Total liabilities at June 30, 2015 were $55.0 million, an increase of $24.2 million over June 30, 2014 total
liabilities of $30.8 million. Total liabilities at June 30, 2014 increased $19.7 million over June 30, 2013 total
liabilities of $11.1 million. The increases were due to an increase in the amount due o University of New
Mexico as a result of a change in the Treasury Operating Agreement, dated October 1, 2013.

Total operating revenue was $27.1 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, a decrease of $4.5 million,
or 14.2%, from the previous year total of $31.6 million, primarily due {o a decrease in nonendowed gifts.
Tolal vperating revenue was $31.6 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014, an increase of
$3.3 million, or 11.7%, from the previous year total of $28.3 million, primarily due to an increase in
nonendowed gifts.

Changes m term and permanent endowments totaled $11.7 million during the year ended June 30, 2015; an
increase of 4.0 million, or 51.9%, from the previous year total of $7.7 million, primarily due to an increase
in donations to permanent endowments. Changes in term and permanent endowments totaled $7.7 million
during the year ended June 30, 2014; a decrease of $1.8 million, or 18.9%, from the previous year total of
$9.5 million, primaxily due to a decrease in donations to permanent endowments,

Distributions to UNM are endowed spending distributions and nonendowed expenditures and were $26.2,
$30.5 and $27.9 million lor the years ended June 30, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Investment (loss) income comprises interest, dividends, gains, and losses. Investment (loss) income is
presented net of fees and was a net loss of $794.9 thousand for the year ended June 30, 2015; a decrease of
$32.4 million over the vear ended June 30, 2014. The decrease was the result of a decrease in the raie of
return for the CIF from 16.7% in the year ended June 30, 2014 to 0.5% in the year ended Jupe 30, 2015.
Investment incorme, net of fees, was $31.6 million and $17.4 million for the vears ended June 30, 2014 and
2013, respectively.

The primary funding sources for the Foundation’s operating costs in the year ended June 30, 2015, were
institutional support from UNM (50.5%), unrestricted gifts and other revenue (3.0%), and a development
funding allocation (DFA) (46.5%) based on the market value of the CIF, The DFA rate was 1.4% [or the
first three quarters of fiscal year 2015 and 1.6% for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2015. The DFA rate was
1.4% for fiscal years 2014 and 2013,

Direct support from UNM decreased to $5.6 million in the vear ended Iune 30, 2018, a 5.5% decrease from
the $6.0 million of direct support received in the year ended June 30, 2014. In 2014, direct support from
UNM increased 62.2% from the $3.7 million of direct support received in the vear ended June 30, 2013.

8 (Continued)



UNIVERSITY O NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC,
(A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Muanagement’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited}
June 30, 2015 and 2014

. General and administralive expenses for the operating account group totaled $11.3 mitlion, $11.4 million,
and $9.8 million for the years ended June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively. The Foundation’s budgeted
operating general and administrative expenses totaled $11.5 million, $11.3 million, and $9.9 million for the
years ended June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2{13, respectively. Using the unrounded amounts, operating general
and administrative expenses were 2% under budget for the year ended June 30, 2015 and 0.3% over budget
for the year ended June 30, 2014.

Factors Impacting Future Perieds

The confinued uncertainty of the economy and its effect on donor contributions could have a significant impact on
the Foundation.

UNM has made a one-year operating budgel commitment of $4.3 million to fund the Foundation in fiscal year 2016.
The fee charged to the CIF { DI A) will remain at 1.6% for fiscal year 2016. UNM has ot made an operating budget
commitinent to fund the Foundation beyond fiscal year 2016.

Contacting the Foundation's Financial Management

if you have questions aboui this report or need additional financial information, please contact the UNM
Foundation’s Chief Financial Officer, Rodney Harder, or the Foundation’s Conwoller, Keany Stansbury, at Two
Woodward Center, 700 Lomas Boulevard NE, Suite 203, Albuquerque, New Mexico 87131 or (505) 277-4503.



Curreat assets:

Cash and cash equivalents — unrestricted
Cash and cash equivalents — restricted

UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
(A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico}

Assets

Statements of Net Position
June 30, 2015 and 2014

Pledges reccivable, net of allowance and discounts
Other cwrent assets

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets, restricted:
Investments held in Consolidated Investment Fund
Investments held by the University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc.
Pledges receivable, net of allowance and discounts

Artwork
Real estate

Capital assets, net

Total noncurrent assets

Total assefs

Liabilities and Net Position

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Current portion of annuitics payable
Advances from the University of New Mexico

Due to the Consolidated Investment Fund

Due to the University of New Mexico

Total current liabililies

Noncurrent liabitities:
Angnuitics payable
Due to the University ol New Mexico

Net position:

Total noncurrent liabilities

Total habilities

Unrestricted
Invested in capital assefs

Restricted,

expendable

Restricted, nonexpendable

Total net position

Taotatl liabilities and net position

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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2015 2014
2,357,462 2,011,949
40,243,562 8,940,778
1,186,756 833,215
219,271 1,883,810
44,007,051 13,669,752
188,858,673 189,073,515
14,116,497 20,073.326
1,352,042 1,642,502
2,717,902 2,738,236
1,685,072 1,820,726
87,930 112,632
208,918,116 215,460,937
252,925,167 229,130,689
124,490 128,429
1,258,914 1,021,180
340,768 345,046
92,550 266,719
460,988 1,746,737
46.309,339 20,386,988
48,587,055 23,895,099
2,308,853 2,503,129
4,067,388 4,385,250
6,376,241 6,888,379
54,963,296 30,783,478
2,131,929 2,396,794
87,930 112,632
21,145,692 20,794,512
174,596,320 175,043,273
197,961,871 168,347,211

252,925,167

229,130,689




Operating revenues:

UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
(A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changzas in Net Position

Years ended June 30, 2015 and 20{4

Denations and pledges, net of proviston for allowance

and discounts of $11,727 and $31.331 for the vears ended

June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively b
Direet support from the University of New Mexico
Development funding allocation — Consolidated Investment Fund

Nongift revenue

Operating expenses:

Total operating revenues

Distributions to the Umversity of New Mexico
General and administrative expenses

Nonoperating revenue:

Total operating expenses

Operating loss

Investent (loss) income, net

(Loss) income before chianges in {erm and permanent
endowments

Changes in lerm and permanent endowments:

Donations

Institutional transfers lo Consolidated Investment Fund

Nongifi revenue

Adjustment of actuarial liability for anauities payable
Expenditure for payments fo annuitants and beneficiaries

Total changes in terra and permanent endowments

(Decrease) increase in net position

Net position, beginning of year

Net position, end of year $

Sec accompanying notes to financiat statements.
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2015 2014

18,183,206 22,829,875
5,641,345 5,969,202
2,515 480 2,294,731
803,838 464,794
27,143,869 31,558,602
26,224 604 30,455,098
12,213,276 12,134,671
38,437,880 42,589,769
(11,294,011) (11,03),167)
(794,918) 31,649,155
(12,088,929) 20,617,988
10,323,705 6,614,247
1,492,654 646,477
26,081 60,773
198,555 783,416
(338,306) (373,642}
11,703,589 7,731,271
(385,340) 28,349,259
198,347,211 169,997,052
197,961,87] 198,347,211




UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
(A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014

Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from donors and other sources
Cash received from the Unmiversity of New Mexico

Cash received from the Consolidated Invesiment Fund

Cash paid 1o emplovees
Cash paid 10 vendors
Cash distributed to the University of New Mexico

Net cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from noncapital finauncing activities:
Donations and pledges

Institutional wransfers to Consotidated Invesiment Fund

Payments (o annuitants and beneficiaries

Net cash flows from noncapital financing activities

Cash Jows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sale of investments
Purchases of investments
Interest and dividends received

Net cash flows from investing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Cash and cash equivalents, unrestricted
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted

Total

12
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2015 2014
17,334,747 19,654,294
7,131,715 5,192,809
2,515,480 1,082,622
(8,830,893) (8,657,310)
(2.751,146) (3.274,183)
(620,115) (10,163,550}
14,779,788 3,834,682
8,921,719 5,796,547
1,492,654 646,477
(338,306) (319,086)
10,076,067 6,123,938
102,162,771 25,770,052
(96,324,881) (33.130,499)
954,552 1,285,692
6,792,442 (6,074,755)
31,648,297 3,883,865
10,952,727 7,068 862
42,601,024 10,952,727
2,357,462 2,011,949
40,243,562 8,940,778
42,601,024 10,952,727

(Continued)



UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
(A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014

Recenciliation of operating loss to net cash from operating activities:
Qperating loss

3

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash flows
from operating activities:
Depreciation expense
Donations of investtnents
Daonations of artwork
Donation of real estate
Changes in assets and Habilities:
Due to the University of New Mexico
Other cusrent assets
Pledges receivable
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Advances from the University of New Mexico

Total adjustmeants

@5

Net cash from operating activities

Supplemental disclosures of noneash inrvesting, noncapital,
and financing activities:
Change in fair value of investiments $
Donations of lvestments to permanent endowments
Donations of real eslate to permanent endowments

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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2015 2014
(11,294,011) (11,031,167}
27 810 24,703
(1,013,905) (838,520)
(144,685) (2.730,236)
(61,000) —
25,604,489 20,291,548
1,664,539 (1,777,234)
(63,081 (71,619)
(3.933) (23,670)
237,734 202,145
(174,169) (211,268)
26,073,799 14,865,849
14,779,788 3,834,682
(11,329,933) 1,032,467
1,428,968 507,473
— 371,000



UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
(A Component Unijt of the University of New Mexico)

Fotes o Fummeal Statements
June 30, 2015 and 2014

(1} Mature of Business

i}

The Umversity of New Mexico Foundation, luc. (the Foundation) was orgenized on May 3, 1979, as a New
Mexico nol-for-profil corporation to solicil, receive, distnbule, invest, gnd manage private gifts and
donations given for the bepefil of the Lniversity of New Mexico (LINM or University), By managing funds,
identifying and developing new sources of private supporl, encouraging the adoption of commnon goals, and
nurturing cooperation toward meeting those goale, the Foundation allows UNM (o focus more clearly on its
miszion o engage in comprehensive educitional, research, and service programs.

[0 sccordence with the amended Memorandum of Azreement {( Memorondum) between ihe Foondalinn wed
the Eegents of the University of New Mexico, dated September 25, 2012, UMM will continue o provide the
Foundation sofficient adminigtrative support (o allow the Formdation to conduct ils buziness and fulfil) its
responsibilities to the University. In return for this sopport, the Foundetion guamntees that all privite gifls
and donafions it receives: records, and reflects m the sccompanying financial siatenents are for the exclusve
benefit of TINM, These financial siatements only rellect pnvate suppon received directly by the Foundation.
In addition, the Foundatiom provides solicilation assistance, consultation, and  other relajed secvices,
tncluding wnvestment oversight responsibilities associoted with UNM's ownership of Consolideted
Invesmment Fund (CIF) endowments. The Foundation has no component uniis.

The Memorandum further stiipulates that the expenditure of gift funds and income on gift funds for the benefit
of any unil of the Universily or affiltated ocganization will be disharsed through the University”s general
ledger wystem, unless specifically approved by the University President or histher desigmes, and thal the
Foundation will provide (he Universily appropriate documentation regardmg any donor-mposed gifi
regirictions (o assist the Ulniversity in following the donor directives. The University is responsible for
monitoring &l disbursements through the University's general ledger system from both nonendowed gift
secours and endowal spemding accounts o ensore that any aud il dopor-insposed restrictions wre honored,

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
fa) Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation

As & component unit of UNM and governmeaial nol-for-profit, the Foundation presents ilz financial
statementz in sccordance with LLS. penerally accepted sccounting standards s established by the
Governmental Agcounting Standands Board {GASB).

The Foundation applics business-dype ectivity sceounting and the Foundation's basie Dnapclal
stalernents are reported using a flow of cconomic resources measurement focus and the aoerual bagis
of agcounting, Accordingly, revenues are recognized when they mre camed and expenses ang
recognized as 5000 s the lability is incurmed.

The sipnificant accounting policies wilized by the Foundation in the prepartion of the financial
satements are described below,

(B Cash and Cosh Equivalents

Cosh and cash equivalemt= inolude cith on deposit &t financial isstinitions and do not include
Foundation investments held by rhe CIF,

14 (Continued)
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(d)
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UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
(A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2015 and 2014

Restricted cash and cash equivalents are donor restricted to use for a particular UNM program or
purpose.

Investments, Real Estare, and Avtwork

Investments, real estate, and artwork are generally reported at fair value. Short-term investments are
cammed at cost, which approximates fair value. All real estate and artwork reflecied in the
accompanying statements of net position were contributed to the Foundation. Donated real estate and
artwork are recorded at fair value at the date of the gift less an estimated reserve for selling costs.
Periodic appraisals and market analyses are performed to determine the appropriateness of fair value.

The basis of determining the fair value of investments is the readily determinable sales price or current
exchange rate of the investments based on prices or quotations from over-the-counter markeis. In the
case of mutual funds, the fair value is determined as the number of units held in the fund multiplied
by the price per unit share as publicly quoted. As the CIF is not publically quoted, the value is based
on the total estimated value of the underlying investrhents within the CIF. Within the CIF, the
alternative investments are valued as reported by the general partners and fund managers. Management
reviews and evaluates the valuation received from third parties and believes the cammying amount to be
areasonable estimate of fair value. As limited partnership investments are not readily marketable, their
estimated value is subject to uncertainty and, therefore, may differ from the value that would have
been used had a ready market for such investiments existed.

Investments held by the Foundation have been classified as current and noncurrent based on the nature
of the undetlying investment. Investment in the CIF has been classified as noncurrent due to
restrictions limiting the Foundation’s ability to use these investments.

Donated Investments — 1t is the Foundation’s policy to liquidate donatled investments as soon as
possible following receipt.

Due to the Consolidated Investment Fund

Amounts due to the CIF represent funds transferred from the University to be invested in the
endowment and held temporarily by the Foundation. The funds are iransferred to the CIF on a monthly
basis.

Due to the University of New Mexico and Distributions to the University of New Mexico

The current amount due to UNM represents nonendowed, restricted assets held by the Foundation.

The noncurrent amount due to UNM represents nonendowed assets held by the Foundation, primarily
cash and pledges receivable, which are expected to be distributed to UNM in a subsequent fiscal year.
Generally, the noncurrent cash due to UNM is restricted by donors as to the time period in which they
may be transferred to UNM. The amount and timing of the transfers are defined in the Treasury
Qperating agreement dated QOctober 1, 2013.

15 (Continued)



&

(h)

UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
(A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2015 and 2014

Annuities Payable

Anpuities payable represents the liability established for donations whereby a specified amount of
funds are to be paid to the donor for the duration of his or her life. The Foundation uses annuity rates,
including the discount and remainder factors, based on the American Council on Gift Annuities
guidelines to establish the estimated liability. Significant factors of the estimate include the donor’s
age, amount of donation, and the discount rate, and are updated annually to adjust the hability.

Nei Position

To ensure observance of limitations and restrictions placed on thé use of reserves available to the
Foundation, net positions are classified as follows, based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed
restrictions:

Unrestricted net position — resources that are not subject to donor-imposed restrictions. The Board of
Tmstees designates a portion of this net pnsi{inn as nonexpendable reserves for annuities payahle_

Investment in capital assets — represents the Foundation's total investiment in capital assets, net of
accumulated depreciation.

Resuricted net position ~ resources that, because of donor-imposed restrictions, must be used for a
specified purpose, generally UNM programs, or maintained for a specified time period.

. Restricted, expendable — resources that are contributions designed by donors for use by
particular entities or programs or for specific purposes or functions of UNM. Resources include
term endowments with donor-imposed time restrictions for spending or transferring the funds
tv UNM. These [uads also include quasi-endowiments, ol which the corpus can be invaded.
investment income on endowment investments are classified as restricted, expendable net
position unless otherwise specified by the donor.

- Restricted, nonexpendable — resources that are permanent endowments. Such funds are
generally subject to donor restrictions requiring that the principal be invesied in perpetuity for
the purpose of producing income and appreciation that may be expended or added 1o the
principal in accordance with the donor's wishes.

When both restricted and unrestricted funds are available, the Foundation expends restricted funds first
in accordance with donor-imposed resirictions. The expenditure of unrestricted funds requires
approval by the Board of Trustees.

Classification of Revenues and Expernses

Operating loss reported in the financial statements includes revenues and expenses related to the
continuing operations of the Foundation. Principal operating revenues include nonendowed donations
and pledges, direct support from the University, and the development funding allocation received from
the CIF. Principal operating expenses include distributions to the University and general and
admigistrative expenses.
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UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
(A Component Unit of the Uiiversity of New Maxico)

Motes 1o Financial Stalements
June 30, 20015 and 2014

Monoperating revenues inchude investment (loss) income,

Changes in term and permapent endowments include donglions to permanent endowments and
nnnisities, aciuanial adjustments to onnuities paysble, payments to anmuitants, and institutional transfers
fiv the CIF.

Revenue Recognidon

Donafions = The Foundation recogmizes revenue on dopations. when all applicable eligibility
requiremients are met, Donalioos o permatent endowmenis or térm endowments,; a3 defined i noie 6,
gre reported B changes to term and permanant endowments.

Pledyes - The Foundstion recognizes nonendowed pledpes &3 Increases in assets and revenue upon
receipt of A signed pledge commitment, o long ss collectibility is probable. and when all appliosble
eligahility requirements are mat. An allowance for doubtfi] pledpes 8 recorded when the pledge is
recorded. The allowance is based on past pledge Joss experience and other factors that munagemen
tonziders necessary in estimaling pledge losses.

Nongif? = Includes the dollar value of any benefit providéd to s donor making a cluritable contribution.

Witly amel Beguersis — Coniribuions resalting from wills and beguests are recognized as revenue in the
reporting period during which the respective esiates are probaiad and all applicable eligibifity
mequnrements are mel. These contmbulions are reporied gs donstions and pledges, net i the
aoccompanying slalements of revenuss, expenses, and changes i net postion.

Direct support from UNM —The University provides support (o the Foundation 1o fund administrative
md fimdratsing activities, while the Foundation provides the University with investment managemant
services and fundraising acfivities. and facilitsles funding of scholarships, {aculty, and program
sapport through dismributions o UNM.

Development fumding altocarion (DFA) — Congofidated vesiment Frund — A perceniage of the marked
value of the CIF iz allocated, snnually, o the Foundation for general support of 1ts operotions, The
allocation is used by the Foundation to cover ihe employment of its sfaff and other operating costs,
The DFA rate wag 1.4% for the fivet three gquaniers of Hegal vear 2005 and 1.6%% for the fourh quarier
of fiscal wear 3015, The DFA yate was 1.4% for fiscal yenr 2014, The allocation does not provide
sappant for third-party lovesiment consuliant fees, custodial fees, and investment mannger fess. Thess
epnts are assigned direcily to the CIF and revenie s recogniced when eamed

Tivestmend (Tass) income, ned — Investment (Jozs) income, oot includes inferest, dividends, unrealized
gaing or losses, and realized pains or logses. Investment interest and dividends are recopnized when
eamed. Changes in the estimated fair valye of investmenta are reported as unrealized gains and losses.
Healized gains and losses are recogmized as the difference between the sules proceeds and amortized
costs when realized {sold), calculaled independently of the unrealized loss,

firs (O inued)



UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICTD FOUNDATION, INC.
{A Compopent Linkt of the University of New Mexigo)

Miotes to Finencial Statements
June 30, 20135 and 2014

() Institwiions Transfers to CIF

institutional transfers ta CIF ropresent ransfers of nonendowed and endowed spending lunds from the
Universuy fo the CIF,

fk}  Fncome Taxes

The Foundation {5 an orgenization described in internal Revenoe Code (TRC) Sectron 50§{c)3) and as
such i exempt from federal and state income Bx on s related neome onder Section 501{8) of the
IRC. Furthermore, as & publicly supporied organization i s classified as a public chanity and not a
private foundation under TRC Section 309(a) 1). The Foundation had no material unrelated busimess
mcome; therefore, no provision for income taxea is included in the finarcial statements.

As of Juoe 30, 2014, the most recent (iling date, the Foundation had & net operating less carryforwand
of spproximately 328 million, s a resull of comnldtive |osses frum waderlymg partnership
imvestments within the CIF. The deferred fax ssset assoctated woth this Toss camyvforward of
approximately § | million s not recognized on the sccompanying statements of nel position dite to the
upcertainfy of fuure incoma thal would be necessary (o realize the benefie The Foundstion eptimsates
that the change in the deferred tax assct for the year ended June 30, 2015 iz immoterial.

() Estimates

Management uses estimates pnd assminplions in préparing the sccompanying financial siaiements.
Those estimates and sstumptions affect the reported mounts of assets ond lishifities, the disclosore
of contingent assets and liabihties, and the reported revennes and expenses, Actunl resutts could differ
from ihose estivmutes.

Cash and Cash Equivabents

The Foundation has a carrying value of $24.615 and $765 on depogit in pooled scoounts with LINM at
Jame 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The UNM deposits are beld in demand sod time accounts at local
finaucial matitotions and in 2 fixed income postfolio managed by Morgsn Stanfey. New Mexico stamtes
requite fimancsil institutions to pledge qualifymg collateral to UNM fo cover #t Jeast 50% of the uminsured
deposits. All collaterad {s held by thind parties in safekeeping.

The Fonndation is at misk to the extent that UMM s fumsds are uninsured or uooollateralized,

Risk disclosore information relating to the cash aod cash equivaleniz heid m UMM may he ohtpined by
reference to the anmmel financiel report of the University of Mew Mexico. That report may be obiained by
cartacting the Contreller's office at | University of New Mexico, MSCO1 1300, University of New Mexico,
Albuquerque, New Mexico 87131,

The Foundation also holds cash ostside of the University. These cash balances, including deposits in transit,
had 8 cyrving valoe of 5342 576,409 and 310,951,962 ol Juie 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

The Foundation's operating sccounts (Operating and Development) al Wells Fargo had deposits totaling
$40,972,228 and $3,617.274 ot June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The Foundation also held deposits st
MUSENDA Credit Undon totaling $11%.503 and $150,143 at June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. These
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UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
(A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2015 and 2014

amounts are invested in ovemnight sweep accounis and are collateralized at 101% and 96% of the invested
balance for Jupe 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. At June 30, 2015 and 2014, these funds were collateralized
by government-backed securities held in the Foundation’s name. Below is a summary of the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insured, National Credit Union Administration (NCUA) insured and

collateralized accounts:

2018 2014
Wells Fargo operating account balance $ 37,220,620 972,872
Wells Fargo deveiopment account balance 3.751,608 2,644,402
NUSENDA Credit Union balance 118,503 150,143
$ 41,090,731 3,767,417
FDIC insurance h) 250,000 250,000
NCUA insurance {18,503 150,143
Collateralization:
CUSIP Maturity Date Type of Security
31419AQ83 117172040 FN-30 3 3,612,965 —
3138Y9RH3 1/1/2045 FN-30 23,281,223 —
3138WAGS0 11/1/2043 FN-30 14,556,309 —
31321QKC3 11/1/2043 FN-30 — 2,405,543
36179NVNS 12/1/2043 [N-30 —_ 826,623
Total collateralization § 41,450,497 3,232,166
Uninsured and under collateralized balance $ — 135,108
A detail of the cash accounts at June 30, 2015 1s included below:
Bank Reconciling Reconciled,
Name of depository Account name Account type Lalance items balance
Liniversity of New Mexico QOperating Cash § 24615 — 24,615
Wells Fargo Qperating Cash 37,220,620 {35,952) 37,184,668
Wells Fargo Developmem Cash 3,751,608 1.G18,835 4,770.443
MUSENDA General Fund Cash F18,503 — 118,503
Southwest Securities Charntable Trust Fund Money Market 22,310 — 22310
Bank of America Scholarship Trost 1 Money Market 28,143 — 28,143
Bank of Amgrica Scholarship Trust 2 Money Market 43,164 - 48,164
Wells Fargo Irrevocable Trust Fund Maney Market 58,918 — 38918
LJBS Financial Services Endowed Chair Money Market 309,777 —_ 300,777
UBS Financial Services Endowed Professorship Money Market 35,483 _— 35483
£ 41618141 082,883 42,601,024

19

(Continued)



4)

UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICQO FOUNDATION, INC.
{A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2015 and 2014

A detail of the cash accounts at June 30, 2014 is included below:

Bank Reconciling Reconciled
Name of depository Account name Account type halance items balance

University of New Mexico Operating Cash 3 765 — 765
Wells Fargo Operatmg Cash 972,872 {109,730} 863,142
Wells Fargo Development Cash 2,644,402 627,801 3.272,203
New Mexico Educator’s FCU General Fund Cash 150,143 — 150,143
Southwest Securities Charitable Trust Fund Money Market 16,834 — 16,834
Bank of America Scholarship Trust 1 Money Market 310,147 {13 30,146
Bank of America Scholaship Trust 2 Money Mazket 84,973 {3} 84,970
Wells Fargo frrevocable Trust Fund Money Market 89,293 — 29,203
Morgan Stapley Smith Bamney  UNM Foundation, Inc Money Market — = —
Morgan Stanley Smith Bamey  Short Term Investments Money Market 4911,153 — 4.911,153
UBS Financial Services Endowed Chair Money Market 180,923 — 180,923
URBS Financial Services Endowed Professorship Money Market 57,367 — 57,367
Vanguard Investments Operating Money Market 1,295,788 — 1,295,788

§ 10,434,660 518,067 10,952,727
Investments

Investments reported by the Foundation represent investments contributed to the Foundation that are held
outside of the CIF and the Foundation’s share of the CIF. Foundation endowment funds are pooled with
endowment finds owned by the University in the CIF. The CIF 1s a unitized investment porifolio, a
consolidated internal investment pool of the University.

Consolidated Investment Fund — The investment of the CIF endowment funds is in accordance with the laws
of 1991, Chapter 69 of the State of New Mexico. In accordance with UNM and the Foundation’s
Memeorandum, the endowment assets of the Foundation and UNM are commingled for investment purposes
whenever possible in the CIF, The investment of UNM and Foundation endowment funds is in accordance
with Sections 6-8-10 and 46-9-1 through 46-9-12, New Mexico Statutes Annotated (NMSA) 1978.

At June 30, 2015 and 2014, the Foundation held approximately 93% and 90%, respectively, of its
investments in the CIF. Under the terms of an agreement with the UNM Board of Regents, the Foundation
provides management oversight for the entire CIF, The Foundation Investment Committee works with an
institutional investment consultant to structure the portfolio and hire independent investnent managers. The
investment managers are then respoansible for specific asset categories and management styles,

Investments in the CIF are diversified with the intention of minimizing the risk of investment josses.
Consequently, the target portfolic allocations are 20% domestic equity, 20% international equity, 18% fixed
income, 2% cash, 10% real assets, 10% private equity, and 20% marketable alternative investments.
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UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
{A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2015 and 2014

The fair vaiue and ownership units of the CIF as of June 30 are as follows:

Consolidated Investment Fund

2015 Percentage 2014 Percentage
Fair value {(in millions):
Foundation 3 189.0 47% § 189.1 46%
University of New Mexico 216.8 53 226.1 54
Total fair value ) 405.8 b 415.2
Units:
Foundation 570,951 47%, 568,158 46%
University of New Mexico 655,318 53 679,611 54
Total units 1,226,269 1,247,169
The investments held in the CIF, by type, comprise the following at fune 30:
20158 Percentage 2014 Percentage
Money market $ 3.403.867 2% % 808,498 —%
LExchange traded funds 5,832,389 3 7.852,250 4
Mutual funds, equity 8,749,943 43 83,395,932 44
Mutual funds, fixed 32,637,179 17 27,385,010 15
Illiquid real assets 8,900,183 3 11,677,419 6
Private equity 19,655,253 0 22,636,422 12
Marketable altermatives 37,779,859 20 35,316,984 19

Total investments

$ 189,073,515

At June 30, 2015 and 20)4, the Foundatiop had commitments for future contributions to private equity
invesiments totaling $5,268,956 and $7,399,511, respectively.
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UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
(A Component Umit of the University of New Mexico)

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2015 and 2014

Investments Held by the Foundation — A detail of the investment accounts at June 30 is as follows:

Depository/account name Account type 2015 2014
Bank of America:
Scholarship Fund Troust 1 Mutual funds, fixed 163,308 145.672
Scholarship Fund Trust 1 Mutual funds, equity 457,940 464,280
Scholarship Fund Trust 1 Real estate 39,988 =
Scholarship Fund Trust 1 Other 50,649 =
Scholarship Fund Trust 2 Mutual funds, fixed 293,769 244.274
Scholarship Fund Trust 2 Mutual funds, equity 837,999 866,245
Scholarship Fund Trust 2 Real estate 64,043 107.463
Scholarship Fund Trust 2 Other 88,870 148,066
Wells Fargo:
Charitable Trust Fund Mutual funds, fixed 315,068 375,153
Charitable Trust Fund Mutual funds, equity 1,137,078 1,107,373
Charitable Trust Fund Real estate 215,299 226,349
Charitable Trust Fund Other 219,878 254342
Morgan Stanley Smith Barney:
Short term investments Mutual funds, fixed 1,910,616 —
Short term investments Mutual funds, equity 3.643,513 —
Short term investments LS. freasury notes - 410,078
Short term investments 1.S. agency bonds — 232,826
Short term investments Domestic corporate bonds — 10,588,112
Short term investments Other 3,304 1,034,985
UBS Financial services:
Endowed Chair Municipal bonds 2,783,767 2,936,625
Endowed Chair Other 22,667 —
Endowed Professorship Municipal bonds 388,877 368,433
SWS Financial services:
Charitable Trust Fund Mutual funds, fixed 12,800 —
Charitabie Trust Fund Mutual funds, equity 224,073 390,270
Charitable Trust Fund Domestic corporate stock 235,266 172,780
NUSENDA Credit Union:
Operating Fund Certificate of Deposit 1,007,725 —
$ 14,116,497 20,073,326

Custodial Credit Risk — For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of
the counter party, the Foundation will not be able to recover the value of its investment or coliateral securities
that are in the possession of an outside party. Mutual funds and external investment pools are not exposed to
custodial credit risk.
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UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
(A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2015 and 2014

At June 30, 2015, the Foundation did not have a policy to limit its exposure to custodial credit risk; however,
as of June 30, 2015 and 2014, the investments that were subject to custodial credit risk were 2.1% and 7.6%
of total investinents at June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

The investmenis held in the CIF are not subject to custodial credit risk. A summary of the investments held
by the Foundation and the exposure to custodial credit risk at June 30 is as follows:

2015 2014
Custodial credit risk:

U.8. Treasury notes N3 — 410,078
1.8, agency bonds — 232,826
Certificate of deposit 1,007,725 —
Municipal bonds 3.172,644 3,305,057
Domestic corporate bonds —_ 10,588,112
Other bonds — 1,034,985
Domestic corporate siock — 172,780

Total securities held by custodians 4.180.369 15,743,838

Investments not subject to custodial credit risk:

Mutual funds 9,231,430 3,593,269
Real estate 319330 333,811
Other 385,368 402,408
Total investments held by the Foundation 14,116,497 20,073,326
Investments held in CIFF — not subject to custodial credit risk 188,958,673 189,073,515
Total investments 203,075,170 209,146,841

Concentration of Credit Risk —~ Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of
the Foundation’s investment in a single issuer. Investments in any one issuer that represent 5% or more of
total investments are considered to be exposed to concentrated credit risk and are required to be disclosed.
Investments 1ssued and explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government and investments in mutaal funds,
external investment pools, and other pooled investments are excluded from this requirement.

At June 30, 2015, the Foundation did not have a policy to limit its exposure to concentrated credit risk;
however, as of June 30, 2015 and 2014, the Foundation did not have any investments in one issuer fhat
represented more than 5% of total investments.

Interest Rate Risk — Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair
value of an investment. Currently, the Foundation does not have a policy to limit its exposure to interest rate
risk,

The Foundation Investment Committee manages credit risk and interest rate risk with the assistance of
third-party investment advisors.
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UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEX1CO FOUNDATION, INC.
(A Component Unit of the University of Mew Mexioo)

Sotes o Financial Siaiements
Jumie 30, 2015 aad 2014

A summary of the investments ind the respective maturities at June 30, 2015 end 2014 and the exposure fo

mierest rae sk s as follows;

ZTO01E Imves timend maticiiies
Less thun hiore than
Fair valpe Ome VESY 1=% weary G @ yeary 16 vears
Al mderes! raie msk;
humgipal bonids - 3 10T 544 J19.947 F1I0Th L5159, %0 094pd
Certficmes of deposil LD 725 1LAO0T, 725 = —_ —
A4, LB, B 1|1.'."'1 Tix I II31ﬁ‘Hﬁ 590,381
Moi shlect o Imieresd ke sk,
Domesie soopoeaie #osk —
Mimial Runats o e Y I L
Renb estale 319,330
Ughwez 3E5 Ink
Tovesrmments held €I AR TA.G7E
Toanl levetmpsts 3 FE3075.170
2014 Imvesimmend mmiurities
Firna i hnsi Mlars than
Fabr value unE Y anT =5 weors f=l I yeara 18 vemry
Al interest tole fnEc;
LLE. Trezsuary noes i 4 TS — 410,67% — —
L8, ngency hosils 232 HT6 — — — 232816
Blnimfetpal Bomds 33005 0057 128 405 1078 BRT EZTILEH| X7, 740
Laortificates of dopagit - — - -4 L=
Dameszisc coopomeic booids 1SRRI 1 0o, BATI 0 16005 45T _—
Lhbrer bomids L34 083 — -— A3 400 54
IS 57058 § 229 121 Va2 bl T AIENIE 1261, 150
==
Mot subjeed ko inleres mbe risk|
Damusdbe corpome Bock 17780
Ml Pursds 3,594 a0
Real gsanie FILEL
Chbr A0k, 40
Irvesmends hebd i CIF 180075515

Totdl imvesiments: $ 209, 1468410
=== =

Credit Rivk — Credit nisk 18 the nsk that an issuer or other counterparty fo an investment will nof fulfill is
obligations. The Foundntion 15 required to disclose credil rating2 of its investments in onder lo assess credit

risk.
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UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
{A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Notes 1¢ Financial Statements
June 30, 2015 and 2014

A summary of the Foundation’s investments at June 30, 2015 and 2014 that are subject to credit risk is as
follows:

June 30, 2015
Percentage
Credif rating Domestic of bond
(Moody’s) U.S. Treasory ULS.Ageney  Municipal corporate Other Total portfelio
Am b — — 797.087 — — 797,087 25.1%
Aal — — 380250 — — 380.230 12.0
Aa? — — 1,108,922 — — 1,108,922 35.0
Aal — — 436,746 -— — 436,746 138
Al — —_ 106,217 — — 106,217 33
Al — — 57.454 — — 57.434 [
A3 —_ — 64,602 — — 64.662 2.0
Baal — — — — — — —
Baa2 —_ — — — — —_ —
Baa} — — — — — — -
Not ratey) — 221,326 — — — 221,326 7.0
Total S — 221,126 2951318 00— 0 —  317%6M 0 100%
Jupe 30, 2014
Pereentage
Credit rafing Domesiic of bond
(Moody’s} DS, Treasury U.S. Agency  Municipal corporate Other Total porifolio
Aaa 3 410078 — 919,472 — — 1,329,150 §.5%
Aal — —_ 395,452 399.351 _ 794,803 51
Aa2 - — 1116166 363.614 —_ 1.479.780 9.5
As3 — — 443,023 618.985 — 1,062,008 6.8
Al — — 109385 2,141,964 —_ 2,251.349 14.5
A2 — — 59,173 2,159.738 - 2218911 14.3
A3 — — 39,805 2,199,005 —_ 2258810 14.5
Bual — — 5804 1,272,708 — 1,278,602 22
Baa2 — — — 1.223.973 211.493 1,435,466 92
Baa3 — — — 208.774 — 208,774 .3
Not rated — 232,826 197,087 — 823492 1,253,403 8.0
Total § 410,078 232,826 3,305,057 10,588,112 1.034,985 15.571.058 140%

Foreign Currency Risk — None of the investments are subject 1o foreign currency risk.
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UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
(A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Notes to Financial Statemenis
June 30, 2015 and 2014

Artwork

Artwork activity for the years endec June 30, 2015 and 2014 i¢ as follows:

2015 2014
Artwork:
Beginning balance % 7,692,089 12,000
New donations received 144,685 7,680,089
Sales (145,389} —
Balance at June 30 7,691,385 7,692,089
Reserve for selling costs (4,973,483) {4,953,853)
Arlwork, at fair value as of June 30 3 2,717.902 2,738,236

The TFoundation received a major gift of artwork on June 25, 2014, consisting of over 1,000 works of an
created by Beatrice Mandelman and Louis Ribak. The artwork was recorded at an amount approximating
fair value ($7.680,089) along with a reserve for estimated selling costs ($4,949,853). The Foundation intends
1o sell the artwerk with the net proceeds benefiting UNM's art prograws, collections, and museums. The
Foundzation expects the sales to be completed over many years, given the desire to preserve the market value
of the artwork.

Real Estaie

The Foundation also has investments in real estate. The real estate activily for the years ended Tune 30, 2015
and 2014 is as follows;

2015 2014
Real estate, values as of date of original receipt;
Beginning balance $ 2,671,801 2,302,526
New denations received 61,000 371,000
Sales (327,284) (1,725)
Balance at June 30 2,405,517 2,671,801
Fair vzlue adjustment, at June 30 net (720,445} (851,075)
Real estate, at fair value as of June 30 h) 1,685,072 1,820,726
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UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
(A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2015 and 2014

Al Tnvestnients — Investiment Income

During the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, the Foundation recognized realized and unrealized gains
(losses) on investnents held as outlined below:

Short-term

CIF Foundation Real estate investoents Total
2015
Realized gains 5 8,775,893 86,094 141,326 {426,505} 8,580,808
Unrealized (losses) gains (11.099,920) {323.030) 70,337 22.680 {11,328.933)
Other investment income 1,316.476 364,922 — 272,809 1,954,207
Total wvestment
(loss) income F 0 (1,003,551) 127,986 211,663 (131,016} (794,218}
2014
Realized gaing 5 24,580,803 53,884 R275 47470 24,720,432
Unrealized gains (losses) 3.571,558 382261 {153.743) 9,901 3,809,977
Other investiient income 1,935,527 291,726 — 891,493 3,118,746
Tutal inveshnent
income {loss) $ 30,087,588 757 871 {145,468} 048 864 31,649,155

(5) Pledges Receivable

Pledges receivable consisted of the following at June 30, 2015 and 2014

2015 2014
Anwunts receivable in less than one year $ 1,186,756 833,215
Amounts receivable in more than one year 1,643,391 2,052.078
Total pledges receivable 2,830,147 2,885,293
Discounts to net present value (97,967) {261,752)
Allowance for doubtful pledges (193,382) {147,824)
Pledges recetvable, nat i 2,538,798 2,475,717

Noncurrent pledges receivable are discounted at the Internal Revenue Service discount rate 2.0% and 2.2%
for the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. All pledges are for nonendowed gifts.

(6) Endowments

Permanent Endowments. Permaneni endowments are those funds subject to restrictions in gift instruments
permitting only the income be used as specified by the donor and that the principal be held in perpetuity.

Term Endowmenfs. Term endowments are funds similar to true endowment funds except that upon the
passage of a staled period of time or a particular occurrence, all or part of the principal may be expended at
any time.
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UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC,
(A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Notes te Financial Statements
June 30, 2015 and 2014

Quasi-endowments. Quasi-endowment funds are subject to donor restrictions in gift instruments permitting
the donation only be used for a specified purpose, generally for UNM programs. Any portion of the principal
of quasi-endowment funds may be expended for the donor specified purpose at any fime.

At June 30, 2015 and 2014, endowments comprised the following;

2015 2014
Permanent endowment $ 174,126914 174,037,555
Term endowment 441,924 500,320
Quasi-endowment (designated as endowment by the
Board of Trustees) 20,703,768 20,294,192
$ 195,272,606 194,832,067

I a donor has not provided specific instructions, state law permits the Board of Trustees to authorize for
expenditure the interest, dividends. and net appreciation (realized and unrealized) of the investments of
endowment funds. Distributions are made from the CIF to UNM entities that benefit from the endowment
funds.

The endowment spending policy aims to distribute on an annual basis a percentage of the average market
value of the CIF, at the calendar year-end, of the previous 20 quarters. The spending distribution shall not
exceed 6% nor be less than 4% of the average market value. The endowment spending policy alliows for the
spending distribution regardless of whether the fair market value of an individual account exceeds its historic
gift value, unless otherwise preciuded by the donor or by law. This practice is consistent with the Uniform
Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act.
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UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
(A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2015 and 2014

(7) Composition of Net Position

(8)

9

Net position cenststed of the following at June 30

Petmanent endowments, nonexpendable
Annuity gifts, nonexpendable

Tetal nonexpendable

Term endowments, expendable after specified time
Quasi-endowments, expendable for specified purpose

Total restricted

Designated reserve for anmnities payable
Other unrestricted

Total unrestricted
investment in capital assets

Total net position

Anniifies Payable

2015 2014
174,126,914 174,037,555
469,406 1,005,718
174,596,320 175,043,273
441,924 500,320
20,703,768 20,294,192
105,742,012 195,837,783
1,000,000 1,000,606
1,131,929 1,396,794
2,131,929 2,396,794
87,930 112,632
197,961,871 198,347,211

During the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, the Foundation bad the following annuities payable activity:

Balance due at beginning of year
(Reductions) additions to deferred annuities payable
Net change in actuarial liability

Balance due at end of year

Amount due in one year

Wills and Beguests

2015 2014
2,848,175 3,577,035
(58,649) 54,556
(139,905) (783,416)
2,649,621 2,848,175
340,768 345,046

The Foundation has been newly named as a beneficiary in wills and bequests totaling $16,010,674 and
$16,940,397 during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
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UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC
(A Component Unit of the University of New Mexica)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2015 and 2014

(10) Operating Expenses

Operating expenses consisied of the following for the year ended June 30, 2015;

Operating General Eodowment Life income
accounts aceounts accounts ACCOUNts Total

Staff salarics $ 7,190,337 21,004 — — 721,341
Fririge benefits 1,389,326 1,634 — — 1,390,960
Payrol) 1axes 488.964 1,700 — — 490,664
General and acdminisirative 307,501 195,611 57,619 5,295 566,026
Professional services 371,728 51.670 13,955 1,876 439,233
Office lease and building 299,610 9.920 42379 — 351,509
Donor rejations 261,372 314,599 750 — 576,721
Compuler equipment

and sofiware 256,335 — — — 256,335
Travel 218,02] 18,481 607 426 237,535
Insurance 62.762 78,167 (565) — 140,364
Dues and subseriptions 128,257 204 — — 128,461
Printing, fund-raising, and

promotinnal material 90,652 5,761 — — 56,413
Postage and mailing 63,080 11,869 10 — 74,959
Audit fees 65813 4,280 — — 70,093
Furniture, office equipment,

and properly 10,165 1,050 18,599 20450 49,965
Professional development 48,342 — — — 48,242
Meetmg expense 32,721 — — — 32,721
Depreciation 24703 — —_ 3,107 27,810
Propeny taxes — i,173 13,463 3,788 23,424

$ 11,309,689 717123 146,821 39,643 12,213.276
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UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.

(A Component Unit of the University of Mew Mexico)

Motes to Fioancial Statensants

June= 30, 2015 aod 2014

Operating expenses consisted of the following for the year ended June 30, 2014:

Ciperating Crémeral Endovrment Life imcomne

acealints atcoants daceoanis ACEHIIN Tatal
Sl salarics 5 1325 - — —_ T 113,250
Fimgs benefiis [ 2%, 580 — — — 1,20, 380
Professional services GOT.ELS 148,403 6,670 313 Tl 204
Drorwr Telatinmne 290320 18,1410 — — 549,049
Payroll taxes 441,624 - — 445,624
Cienede] snd ndndnizidive 276,634 HE S04 53077 4,459 IR 510
Chifice lease and buliding 20EA L0 — — — Hoeln
Travel 243,388 n.93% 127 - 271,54
Comngiules equipreni

and pfhwan: 155159 - = - Z55 155
Printiog, fumd-raiging. ami

promepdinnal maderial 147,153 11% — — 147 Z5%
Insurimcy 59.3[5 1,840 3312 - 124,477
Totecs sirtel mubueripgions f1e500 = i ix 10519
Trofessicnsd developimun) TE, 103 - — — TE I3
Andit fees 67,247 — — — o147
TFumitere, offics eguipmenl,

s property 5474 9,374 T2 Mk 26,585 S4.577
Masinge and mailing 3060 Mo — — 160
Fraapery tanes = 570 A3 50 £.351 47 418
Becting pxcpink HL T3S — — - 738
Diepreciainn 24,703 — — — 24.703

5 1 IJEI.!B‘I_ il 6,046 3 109 397 41.E12 12,134,671

The Foundation tesses space in an offiee bullding from L'NM, under & three-year lease term expiring in fiscal
vear 2016 and 3 storage space in Taos, NM expiring in fiscal year 2016, Lease expense in fiscal vears 2015
and 2014 was §313,205 and $299,610, respectively. The expected lease payment for fiscal years 2013 and

01618 $313,470 per yeur.
Contingencies

The Foundation is exposed to various risks of loss from tons, theff of, damage lo, and destuetion of assels,
budiness interruplion; and errors and omissions and natural disasters. The Foundation is insured through
private carriers for liability, casualty, and director and officer linbility insurance. There have been oo
significant reductions in coverage from the prior year and settlements hive nol excésded coverage i the

vears ended Jone 30, 2015 and 2014,
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UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICQO FOUNDATION, INC.
(A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2015 and 2014

(12) Pension Plan

Beginnmg 1n fiscal year 2009, the Foundation created a defined-contribution 403(b) retirement plan. The
plan is avaitable to all full-ttme employees, beginning with the first day of service. The Foundation
administers the plan and contributes the sum of {a) 5% of gross salary for employees who do not contribute
to the plan and (b) ap fo an additional 4% match for employees who do contribute to the plan. The
Foundation’s coniributions to the plan for the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 were $520,000 and
$512,773, respectively.
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UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC,
(A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Financial Analysis by Account Group (Unaudited)
June 30, 2015

Operating Account Group
The operating account group is used to account for the operating revenues and expenses of the Foundation.

The net position of the operating account group decreased from $2.5 million at June 30, 2014 to $2.2 million at
Tune 303, 2015, The decrease was primarily the result of lower investiment revenue for the year ended June 30, 2015.
Net investment toss in the operating account group totaled negative $13 1 thousand for the fiscal year ended June 30,
2015 compared to $929 thousand for the year ended June 30, 2014. The net investment loss was due to increasing
bond interest rates during fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, which caused lower market values for bond investments.

General Account Group

The general account group is used to account for current or nenendowed gifis that are expendable by UNM for
purposes designated by the donor, Interest eamed on nonendowed gifts is transferred to the operaling account
group. As new gifts are received and all applicable eligibility requirements are met, the Foundation recognizes an
asset and revenue and also accrues a payable to the University until the gift funds are transferred to UNM.

Distributions from the general account group to the University decreased from $18.6 millien for the year ended
June 30, 2014 to $16.7 miilion for the year ended June 30, 2015, a decrease of $1.9 thousand. The decrease was
primarily due to a decrease in nonendowed gifts in the general account group for the year ended June 30, 2015,

Endowment and Quasi-Endowment Account Group

Permanent endowments are those funds subject to restrictions in gift instruments requiring that only the income be
used as specified by the donror and that the principal be held in perpetuity. Term endowment funds are funds similar
to true endowment funds except that upon the passage of a stated period of time or a particular occurrence, all or
part of the principal may be expended. Quasi-endownient funds are funds designated by the donor. The principal
of quasi-endowment funds may be expended for the donor specified purpose of the endowment at any time.

The spending distribution shall not exceed 6% nor be less than 4% of the average market value. The endowment
spending policy allows for the spending distribution regardless of whether the fair market value of an individual
account exceeds its historic gift value, unless otherwise precladed by the donor or by law. This practice is consistent
with the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act.

The net position of the endowment account group increased from $194.8 million at Jupe 30, 2014 to $195.3 millien
at June 30, 2015, an increase of $0.5 million, or 0.2%. The majority of this increase is due to donations to permanent
endowments.

Life Income Account Group

The life income account group is used to account for charitable gift annuities and charitable remainder trusts.
Charitable gift annuities require that a portion of the income earned on the fund assets be paid to the donor or other
designated beneficiaries during their lifetime. When the gift is received, a liability is recorded that represents an
actuarial calculation of the present value of future amounts due under the gift agreement. This liability is adjusted
annually. The majority of life income account group assets is invested with endowment account group assets in the
CIF and as a result, exhibits similar return characteristics.
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(1)

2)

UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
(A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Notes to Supplemental Information
June 30, 2015

Measurement Foeus and Financial Information

To ensure observance of limitations and restrictions placed on the use of resources available to the
Fonndation, the assets, liabilities, and net position are reported internally in four self-balancing funds as
follows:

Operating Account Group. Funds of the Foundation consisting of unrestricted resources and interest and
dividends transferred from the general account group as further discussed below.

General Account Group. Expendable funds for conveyance to UNM for scholarships, academic and
administrative departments, building projects, and other university-related activities. Currently, the interest
and dividends earned on assets in this fund are transferred to the operating account group and retained by the
Foundation to provide a portion of the operating budget revenue. Cash held in this fund is restricted for the
purpose of distributions to UNM.

Endowment and Quasi-Endowment Aceount Group. Permanenl endowments are those fands subject to
restrictions in gift instruments requiring that only the income be used as specified by the donor and that the
principal be held in perpetuity. Term endowment funds are funds similar to true endowment funds except
that upon the passage of a stated period of time or a particular occurrence, all or part of the principal may be
expended. Quasi-endowment funds are funds designated by the donor. The principal of quasi-endowment
funds may be expended for the donor specified purpose of the endowment at any time.

Life Income Accourt Group. Account groups subject to the requirement that part of the income earned on
the fund assets be paid periodically lo donor-designated beneficiaries. Such income payments terminate at a
time specified in the agreements, at which time the principal reverts to the Foundation and equivalent revenue
is recognized. Annually, any net residual income or loss is credited/charged to the liability account,
“arnuities payable.” This payable is adjusted annually, through the account group balance, to represent the
present value of the aggregate liability for amounts estimated to be paid to beneficiaries based upon the
acluariaily determined expected lives of the designated beneficiaries.

Transfers

Transfers among these account groups are the result of gifts whose restrictions have been satisfied, donors’
requests to amend their initial gift restrictions, actions of the Board of Trustees, or payment of the
development funding allocation.
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KPMG LLP

Two Park Square, Suite 700
6565 Amaricas Parkway, N.E.
Albuguergue, NM B/110-81/9

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance
and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards

The Beard of Trustees

University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc.
and

Mr. Tim Keller

New Mexico State Auditor:

We have audiied, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 1ssued
by the Comptrolier General of the United States, the financial statements of the University of New Mexico
Foundation, Inc. (the Foundation), which comprise the statements of financial position as of June 30, 2015
and 2014, and the related statements of activities and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related
notes ta the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated November 18, 2015,

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Foundation’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Foundation’s internal conlrol. Accordingly, we
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Foundation’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and comrecied, on a timely basis. A significant
deficiency is a4 deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a
material weakness, yet important encough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Qur consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the {irst paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses
or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in
internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that
have not been identified.
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Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Foundation’s financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and malterial effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an upiniog on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our sudit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results
of gur tests disclosed no nstances of noncompiiance or other matters that are required to be reported under
Gavernment Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the resuits of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Foundation’s internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordanve with Governmennt
Auditing Standards in considering the Foundation’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this
communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

KPMcs LIP

Albuguerque, New Mexico
November 18, 2015
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IUNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.
(A Component Unit of the Unmiversity of New Mexico)

Schedule of Findings and Responses
June 30, 2015

Prior Year Findings

None

Current Year Findings

None
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UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC,
(A Component Unit of the University of New Mexico)

Exit Conference
June 30, 2015

An exit conference was conducted on September 14, 2015, in which the contents of this report were discussed with
the following:

For the University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc.
Audit Commilice Members:

Kimberly Pefta, Committee Chair
Michelle Coons, Board Member
Nancy Ridenour, Board Member
Gary Gordon, Board Member

Foundation Management:

Rodney Harder, Chief Financial Officer
Kenny Stansbury, Controller

For KPMG LLF

Suzette Longfellow, Managing Director
Nicholas Williams, Manager
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UNM Foundation, Inc,
UNM Regent’s Advisor Report
December 2014

Clianging Worlds 2020: The Campaign for UNM

—_— — e e e e — — e e ————

The University of New Mexico launched Changing Worlds: The Campaign for UNM in 2006. Since then,
nearly 62,818 generous donors have made this campaign the largest campaign in UNM history, with more
than $688 million in gifts in support of scholarships, patient care, research, and more.

Building on the UNM 2020 goals, but with the same emphasis on student success and opportunity, faculty
support and research, campus programs, and capital projects and facilifies, President Robert G. Frank has
announced that the campaign has been refreshed and extended. Changing Worlds 2020: The Campaign
Jor UNM will continue to energize alumni and friends to make meaningful gifts.

Folding in the current campaign results, the goal has been set to strive for a total of $1 billion in private
support by the end of 2020.

Specific fundraising highlights:
UNM Athletics received a gift of $1.7 million.
The Center on Alcoholism, Substance Abuse & Addictions received a gift of $530,000.
School of Medicine’s Department of Pediatrics received a gift of $500,000.
University Hospital received a gift of $350,000.
Children’s Miracle Network received a gift of $145,000.

HSC Units (Various- Cancer, Pediatrics, Cardio and Lupus Research) received a gift of $96,000.

EXHIBIT



UEEE LINIVERSETY

) NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION

Fundraising Performance Report
FY 14/15, September 30, 2014

CASE Campaign Standards VSE Standards
Changing Worlds 2020 Campaign __Campaign to Date GOAL % OF GOAL To Date

Gift Commitments $ 681,645,807  $1,000,000,000 68.2% $ 503,014,449
- Cash/Cash Equivalents 396,307,068 NI/A N/A 503,014,449
- In-Kind 67,734,852 N/A NIA N/A
- Pledges 90,160,858 N/A N/A N/A
- Testamentary 127,443,028 N/A N/A N/A
Pledges Due 26,681,857 N/A N/A N/A
Testamentary Gifts Due 108,064,105 N/A N/A N/A

Councll for Advancement and Support of Education {CASE) reporting is on an "accrual basis” and Voluntary Support
of Education (VSE) reporting is on a "cash basls".

Gift Commitments (Fiscal Year) This Quarter FYTD 14/15 GOAL FY 13/14
Main Campus
- Cash/Cash Equivalents $ 3,101,272 & 3,101,272 N/A $ 9,333,205
- In-Kind 2,160,415 2,160,415 NIA 6,208,755
- Pledges 1,055,000 1,055,000 N/A 1,766,851
- Testamentary 27,500 27,500 N/A 5,825,867
Sub-Tofal $ 6,344187 § 6,344,187 % 21,600,000 $ 23,132,678
HSC
- CashiCash Equivalents $§ 7,859,087 % 7,859,087 N/A $ 14,191,281
- In-Kind 545,668 §45,668 N/A 2,269,989
- Pledges 45,000 45,000 N/A 2,039,834
- Testamentary 108,000 108,000 N/A 8,689,881
Sub-Total $ 8,557,755 5 8,557,755 % 24,175,000 $ 27,190,985
Athletics
- Cash/Cash Equivalenis $ 729,273 % 729,273 N/A $ 5,409,133
- In-Kind 66 66 N/A 3,423,728
- Pledges - - N/A 915,000
- Testamentary - - N/A 1,806,946
Sub-Total $ 729,339 % 729,339 & 10,750,000 § 11,554,807
Other Campus Units *
- Cash/Cash Equivalents $ 5237401 § 5,237,401 N/A $ 14,276,837
- In-Kind - - NfA 7,854,410
- Pledges 5,000 5,000 N/A 3,028,100
- Testamentary 2,322,500 2,322,500 N/A 592,703
Sub-Total $ 7,564,901 § 7,564,901 $ 23475000 % 25752,050
Total $ 23,196,182 § 23,196,182 §$ 80,000,000 $ 87,630,520

* Qther campus units include KNME, KUNM, UNM Branch Campuses, President's Office, Provest's Office, Enrollment
Services, Student Affairs and numerous other units not classified as main campus, HSC or athletics.

Gift Destlnations This Quarter FYTD 14/15 FY 13/14 FY 12/13
UNM Foundation $ 9,394,772 § 9394772 $ 51,480,258 $ 48,385,834
Reported Gifts * $ 13,801,410 $§ 13,801,410 $ 36,150,262 § 33,212,783

Total $ 23196182 $ 23,196,182 § 87,630,520 $ 81,598,617

* Reported Gifts = gifts made directly to KNME, KUNM, Lobo Club, and OVPR, but reported by UNM Foundation par MOA.
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Fundraising Performance Report

FY 1415, September 30, 2014

IEI-ﬂ Commitments (Fiscal Year) FYTD 14/15 FY 1314 FY 1213
CashiCash Equivalents $§ 16827033 § 43210456 § 45811524
Fledges
- Beginning Balance Pledges Receivabin ¥ Zr 118,237 § 28,290,140 28,115,352
- Add: New Pledges § 1477000 § 7,843202 5,034,501
- Less: Pledge Paymants $  (1,542,380) § (8,920,688) § (4,771,965)
- Less: Pledges ModifiedWritten OFf $ {72.000) $ (83,417} {87,750)
- Ending Balance Pledges Recelvable $ 28,881,857 § 27119237 28,290,140
In Kind $ 2706148 § 19,754,882 9,831,368
Testamentary 3 2,453,000 $ 18,915397 17,008,982
Total § 23195182 § BTHI520 § 81,598617
Performance Measures This Quarter FYTD 1416 FY 13144 FY 1213
Gift Commitment Income $ 23196162 § 23,196,182 § 59,205778 § 61,698,817
# of Gifs 6,120 5,120 34,885 33,902
2 of Donors 3,188 3,109 14,322 14,832
Efficiency Measures EYTD 14115 FY 13714 FY 12/13 Ey 11/12]
Cost per Dollar Raised * $0.11 $0.93 $0.12 50,11
* Compares UKW Foundation oudgel expendiiunes o gift commiiments.
J estmen
FY 14/15, September 30, 2014
“h__lt;ﬂhmnt Performance Resulls Warket value FYI0 1-Year 3-Year B-Year
FY 1415 (September 30, 2014) $ 407,043,158 0.50% 12.00% 1Z.20% 8.70%
Custom Benchmark * A 10% B.T0% 11.10% B.60%,
[ FY 13/14 (June 30, 2014) § 400,136,821 TiA 16.70% 9.50% 11.60% |
Custom Benchmark * MIA 16.30% 8,505 10.50%,
HACUBOICommonfund ** NI 0.00% 0. 0:0% 0.00%

®  Custom Benchrmark |s & blended benchmark consisting of indlees for all aseet olasaes,
** NACUBO/Commanfund Endownent Study ($101 million 1o 3500 million}

Consolid Investment Fund - Al tio

FY 1415, September 30, 2014

| Current Targel Investment Policy

Investment Class Allocation Allocation Ranges
Domestic Equity 20.4% 205 104 - 5D%
International Equity 12.6% 0% 10% = a0%
Fixed Income/Cash 18.1% 20% 10% - 50%
Real Assets - Liguid 3.8% 5% 0% - 5%
Real Assets - lliguid 8.2% 5% 0% - 10%
Hedge Funds 18.3% 20% 0% - 20%
Frivata Equity 11.6% 0% 0% - 18%

Paae 2 of 3
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Consolidated Investment Fund - Spending Distribution
FY 14/15, September 30, 2014

CiF Spending_; Distribution FY 141156 FY 1314 FY 12{13 FY 11112
Spending Distribution % 4.50% 4.50% 4.50% 4.50%
Total $ Distribution {millions) N/A $ 13,843,961 $ 13,489,848 § 13,984,508
Total $ Distribution/Unit NIA $10.92 $10.47 $10.58

Consolidated Investment Fund - Development Funding Allocation

FY 14/15, September 30, 2014

Basis Points Dev Funding Total Budget % Overall

Development Funding Allocation % Allocation Expenditures Budget
FYTD 14/15 1.40% $1,261,618 $2,547 157 650%

FY 1314 1.40% $4,655,028 $11,367,397 1%
FY 12113 1.86% $5,674,795 $9,757,964 57%
FY 11112 1.85% $5,906,418 $9,108,051 65%
FY 10/11 1.85% $5,726,764 $9,469,965 60%

UNM Foundation Budget vs. Actual

FY 14/15, September 30, 2014

Sources of Budget Budget FYTD % Used Projected
UNM Support $ 4,821,000 $ 1,473,992 30.57% $ 4,850,367
Development Funding Allocation 4,783,150 1,264,618 26.38% 5,046,475
Short-Term Investment income 505,600 14,153 1.56% 145,000
Cost Sharing Reimbursement 719,600 186,911 -25.97% 747 844
Unrestricted Gifts & Other Revenue 125,000 127,013 101.81% 156,685

Total 11,353,750 3,083,687 26.98% 10,946,171

Uses of Budget Budget FYTD % Used Projected
Salaries/Fringe Benefits $ 9,073,158 % 2,106,911 23.22% § 9,026,212
Operating Expenditures 2,465,134 440,246 17.86% 2,455,915

Total 11,538,292 2,547,157 22.08% 11,482,127

Reserve Balances Budget FYTD % Used Projected
Surplus/{Deficit) from Operations  § {184,542) § 516,530 N/A $ {535,956}
Beginning Reserve Balances 1,5§1 441 1,561,441 N/A 1,561 ,441_
Ending Reserve Balances 1,376,898 2,077,871 N/A 1,025,485

Revisions to Reports Approved by Board of Regents
March 2012
September 2012
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BEGINNING MARKET VALUE, JULY 1:
ADDITHONS

IMVESTMENT EARNINGS

DEVELOPMENT FUNDING ALLOCATION

BPENDING DISTRIBUTION
ENDING MARKET VALUE, JUNE, 30;

=

(1) FY 2014-15 Net Investment Eamings:

THE UNIWVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO
ME. AND MRS. HUGH B. AND HELEN K. WOODWARD ENDOWMENT
FUMDELD BY THE SANDLA FOUNDATION

2008-10

201011 201112 201243
5 20696788 $ 42422373 § 37282001 § 36545042 3
BT 7. 600 1,125,000 1,760,000 1,227 500
3.236,163 6,040,036 132,283 4,119,725
(623.475) (643,802) {503,067 -
(1,768.603) (1.661,606) {1.525,285) [1.779428)
§ 32422373 § 37282001 3 3ASS042 § 40213741 §

e

e

[ 12) FY 2014-1% Spending Distribulion:

Hepresents the aciual ol invesiment eamings (hroogh Septamber 30, 2014, Kel ve
1, 2014, throogh Seplembear 20, 2004, wase §.0%, net of manager fees.

Fepresents the quarierly spending distributions from July 1, 2094, through E.'eptenﬂr

| {3) FY 2014-15 Development Funding Allocation:

The MWIW@IQME nal assessed on the Woodward endowment
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WINROCH LAND SALE ENDDWMENT

" . 200810

2010-%1 2011142 20213
= = I A = e e L L A= P e B =y s s I = =
PRINCIPALICORPUS
BEGINNING MARKET VALUE, JULY 1: § 24078088 §  24TETESE § 2 ISATE0l § 00 25063482 §
ADQITIONS - - - -
INVESTMENT EARNINGS 4,544,475 4,553.20 87,208 4,800,008
DEVELOPMENT FUNDING ALLOCATION (483 585) (465,153) {486,943} {A98,004)
SPENDING DIETRIBUTION {1,368,080) (1248 103) (1,128,674} (1053461}
ENDING MARKET VALUE, JUNE, 20; $ 24767868 § 2756701 § 2600492 § 2420085 5

{1) F¥ 2014-15 Net Investment Eamings:

Represants the achual ned vestmant eammps through Septembar 30, J014, Nel imeastman
2014, through September 30, 2014, weee 0.0%. nat of manages fess.
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IN 2012, College of DuPage President Robert Breuder paid
(http:/fwww.chicagotribune.coimn /news/watchdog fcod fct-callege-of-
dupage-foundation-expenses-20150701-story. html#page=1) §185
to taxidermize a cock pheasant. He gave the bird, mounted on an oak
stand, Lo an upscale campus restaurant, where it servesasa
decorative piece.

A year later, Breuder bought
(hitp://www.chicagotribune.com/mews/watchdog /cod fot-college-of -dupage-
foundation-sxpenses-20150701-story. html#page=1) a black-powder rifle as

& gift for the outgoing president of the college's foundation board. The rifle
and its case, supplied by a Pennsylvania dealer, cost 8610,

In 2014, Breuder spent

(htrp: /' www.chicagotribune. com/news/watchdog /cod /et-college-of-dupage-
foundation-expenses-20150701-story himifpage=1) §1,292 on 4 hunting
excursion atan exclusive game reserve one hour from the college’s Glen
Ellym, Ill., campus. He hosted three guests, and the tab covered their meals

and wine, gun rental and ammunition, and hunting licenses,

EXHIBIT
E



Breuder expensed (hitp://www.chicagotribune.com/news/watchdog/cod/ct-college-of-dupage-
foundation-expenses-20150701-story.html#page=1) each bill to the College of DuPage Foundation,
whose main mission is to raise funds for student scholarships at the college. The bills came to light
because the Chicage Tribune in April requested, under the state public-records law, foundation and

college documents related to Breuder's spending.

Sign up for weekly emails from the United States
Project

Email address SUBSCRIBE

Initially, the college said it didn’t have responsive records, and the foundation refused to release
anything—so the Tribune filed a lawsuit (http://www.chicagotribune.com/news/chi-chicago-tribunes-
college-of-dupage-lawsuit-201504 29-htmlstory. html) to compel disclosure. Around the same time,
Breuder went on administrative leave pending the outcome of several criminal investigations of his
spending. Then, this month, with new leadership in place, the college released some records from
Breuder’s files, 500 pages in all.

As the Tribune reported (hitp: //www.chicagotribune.com/news/watchdog/cod/ct-college-of-dupage-
foundation-expenses-20150701-story.html#page=1):

The records show how Breuder used donor money to engage his passions for hunting, wine and fine
dining. The documents also reinforce Breuder’s reputation as a chief executive who lived well on the |
school’s tab and often spent in a manwer at odds with a community college’s mission of providing an
affordable education. ... Records show ... that Breuder only occasionally hosted potential donors.

Instead, he spent the money on trustees, senior managers, foundation board members and vendors of ‘

the college.

The paper has been investigating the College of DuPage since Janunary, and its series
(http://www.chicagotribune.com/news/watchdog/cod/), as of this writing, includes roughly 60
stories with contributions from reporters Jodi S. Cohen, Stacy St. Clair, and Christy Gutowski. They
have reported on everything from prosecutors’ interest
(http://www.chicagotribune,com/news/watchdog/cod /ct-college-of-dupage-foundation-subpoena-
201507 14-story.html) in the foundation to non-competitive contracts
{http://www.chicagotribune.com/news/watchdog/cod /ct-college-of-dupage-lawyers-20150501-
story.html) awarded to foundation board members.

“[The college] is supported by taxpayer money, and taxpayers have a right to know how that money is
being spent,” said Mark Jacob, the Tribune's associate managing editor for metro news. “It’s our

obligation as a news organization to try to keep track of how public money is being spent.”



Jacob added that when the college released the records from Breuder’s files, it didn’t concede that it
had done anything wrong, nor dud the college concede that it was releasing the records because of the
lawswit. Indeed, the lawsuit is angoing, with the college and foundation circling their wagons. (They

are separaie parties, represented by different counsel.)

The Tribune isn’t satisfied by the seemingly stopgap disclosures and js insisting that the college and
foundation release all other responsive documents. For its part, the foundation claims thatasa
nongovernmental nonprofit corporation, it’s not subject

{http: //www.chicagotribune.com/news/watchdog /cod /ct-college-of-dupage-lawsuit-201504 29-
story.html) to the state public-records law, and the college agrees.

In its answer (https: //www.dropbox.com/s/dfqgpnacxhi88uf/dupage % 2Qanswer%20t0%
20complaint.pdf?dl=0) to the Tribune’s complaint, the college makes the expected arguments (e.g.,
the lawsuit is moot because the college has produced, or will, the responsive documents). But the
answer goes further. It dentes that the foundation is a public body or a subsidiary of one. It denies that
the foundation is contracted with a public body to perform public functions on the college’s behalf.
And, thus, it denies that the foundation is subject to the public-records law.

Randall Samborn, a spokesman for the college, declined to comment.

The Tribune claims the college is using its foundation, housed on campus and staffed by college
employees, “as an artifice to circumvent” the law: “The foundation is mostly or entirely under the
control of {the college, which] has been using the existence of the foundation as an excuse ora
subterfuge to shield its financial records and expenditures from public view,” according to the
complaint (http:/www.chicagotribune.com/news/chi-chicago-tribunes-college-of-dupage-lawsuit-
20150429-htmlstory.itml).

At least one other Chicago news organization shares those concerns. The Daily Herald, which covers
the suburbs, has (http://www.dailyherald.com/article/ 20150402 /news/150409608/) reported on
{http://www.dailyherald.com/article /20150415 /news/150419111/) the DuPage controversy and to
some extent backstopped the Twibune’s reporting by requesting from the college copies of, and

responses to, every Tribune inquiry.

“The college’s FOIA officer was under siege once the Tribune stories began,” said Jake Griffin, the
Daily Hevald's assistant managing editor for watchdog reporting. “We were almost automatically
receiving extension requests [and thenj ... waiting 10 days for the college to respond to a request that
it} literally had already responded to.”

Griffin added, “What good does it serve to keep the activities of the foundation free of public scrutiny
and oversight, especially considering [that it’s] using the auspices of the college as the means for

generating funding?”
Good question.

‘Public bodies cloaked in a thin private veneer’



The DuPage case isn't unigue—it's characteristic of efforts natlonwide to define, defend, and
challeage the legal status of foundations and other entities affiliated with public colleges and
universities. At the University of Kansas (hitp:{'www 2_liworld.com/news/ 201 5 //jun,/0% /case-
headed-trinl-ku-siudents-seeking records-reln/), for example, the director of the Center for Applied
Economics claimed in june that bo was not a public employee subject to the state public-records law,
because money used to pay him is funneled through the school's private foundation. And in
Connecticut, lawmakers are preparing (http://'www.courent.com/polities/capitol-watch/ he-gop-
lawmakers-press-for-grester-transparency-at-uconn- 201506 2 5-story. html) & bill 1o require the
secretive UConn Foundation to be niore transparent. The foundation drew criticism last year [or
spending more than $250,000 o a Hillary Clinton lecture and for agreeing to pay $300,000 toward
an increase in the university president’s compensation.

Foundations come in all shapes and sizes, but mostly they're privale 502{ch(3) nonprufit corporations
dedicated to serving one school or one publie system. They've become eritical cogs in the academic
wheel as state support for higher education has waned. And they're performing essential tasks once
performed only or chiefly by universities themselves, such as raising funds for scholarships and for
Ccampus construction projects, even managing institutional investment portfolios, Theirs, then, are
public functions: Without the foundation, the univessity would have to use public resources fo
pertorm the functions itself.

Their significant responsibilities (and cccasional bad behavior) have put foundations in the public eye.
They're typleally supported by donations rather than txpayer money, but, as one advecacy group put
it, they "Tive and breathe through the university amblical

cord" (http:) www sple.org farticle/ 2003/ 12 Aoundations-of-secrecy) a5 “public bodies cloaked in a
thin private veneer," fhtrp-.,.{.-"s!-.a mazonaws.com/cdo.getsnworks.com,/spl/pdf/vs_foundations.pdf
With that in mind, should a public untversity's privare foundation be subject to a state pubfic-records
Lawy?

The answer iz yes, il showld be,

"Maost foundations, given what, wie and how much they fund at state universities, already amount to
gunsi-govesnment agencles,” said Clay Calvert, a First Amendment scholar at the Univessity of
Florida. “1t's only & legal flction 1o suggest they are not full povermment agencies.”

But numeroas states heve embraced that fichion, According to a 2015 study
(hittps/www.quinnipiac.edu,/prebuilt/pdf /School Law/ LawReviewLibrary/ Vol 33_Lssus2_2015 capeloto,pdi
by Alexa Capeloro, an assistant professor of journalism at the john Jay College of Criminal Justice,

state skatutes and case law have set oul inconsistent standards to determine what records and types of
arganizations are subject to sunshine laws.

At feast 20 states have tried to classify public-university foundations through legislation or case law,
and in a1 beast 11 of them, the clessification favors the finding that foundations are the alter ego of
their universities and subject to public-records laws, In the other nine stites, foundations are exempt
from such laws or generally protected fron them by courts. Elsewhere, the question remains
unresolved, sccorling tu Capeloto's study.



Consider state statutes. Lawmakers have been most active in states, such as Connecticut, where a
foundation controversy has made (http://www.courant.com/education/hc-uconn-foundation-
transparency-0227-20150226-story.html) headlines (http://www.courant.com/politics/he-uconn-
foundation-transparency-0317-20150316-story.html). California Gov. Jerry Brown, for example,
sipgned a bill (http://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/news/2011 /sep/07 /brown-signs-bill-
requiring-university-disclosure/) in 2011 extending the state public-records law to university-
affiliated foundations in the two state systems—after it came out that the CSU Stanistaus Foundation
had hosted a $500-pexr-plate black-tie gala honoring former Alaska Governor Sarah Palin.

Notably, only seven other states have passed a law providing clear guidance on whether a public
university’s private foundation is subject to its state public-records law, according to Capeloto’s study.

And four of those states classify foundations as nonpublic bodies.

Now, consider case law. Courts have used three main criteria fo guide their decisions; funding,
function, and creation/control. Courts that focus on funding have said a foundation is public if it
accepts university or taxpayer money. Courts that focus on function have said a foundation is public if
it operates as an alter ego of its university. Courts that focus on eveation/control have said a foundation
is public if the university created and contrels it. And, more narrowly, whether a disclosure law applies
to a foundation depends on the law’s precise definition of a covered body.

Clarify and serutinize

To be sute, foundations aren’t without their benefits. They’re usually free from state regulations on
property transactions that can slow down deals, for example, and free to invest in a variety of financial
matrkets and accounts. And, to the extent they're immune to sunshine laws, foundations offer
discretion, sometimes explicitly. The University of New Mexico Foundation states

(https: //www.unmfund.org/faq-category/foundation-and-university-relations/) on its website that it
offers donors “[g)reater assurance of ... confidentiality, since [it] is a separate not-for-profit

corporation and not subject to open records laws.”

But students, taxpayers, and donors have a legitimate interest in monitoring foundation activity, with
the media serving routinely as their eyes and ears. It's probably true that foundations make
universities more nimble and flexible, but it’s true at the expense of transparency and accountability.
Those values are supposed to distinguish an organization that performs public functions. They're
baked mto our system of govermment and more important than nimbleness and flexibility—and, dare

we say, donor privacy.

Universities and foundations have claimed often that revealing any identifying information about
donors would chill fundraising. But, as Capeloto and other scholars (https://litigation-
essentials.lexisnexis.com/webcd/app?
action=DocwnentDisplay&crawlid=18&srctype=smi&srcid=3B15&doctype=cite& docid=34+].L.+%
26+Educ.+389&key=c3bbaf908a99942e4aa2cd92557bd5ac) have noted, that's unproven.
Moreover, there’s an arguable public interest in the openness of donor information.



“Whether donors are buying influence with public agencies is the information that the public neads
the most,” said Frank LoMonte, executive director of the Student Press Law Center. "It's ironic that
the tstitutions thal claim they'll be unable to raise money if they can't protect their donors' privacy
will engrave their donors' names in 10-foot-high letters into the facades of buildings.”

Fundraising is central to a public university 's operations and subsistence, and it makes lirile sense to
allow one to offload its essential Functions onto an artificially sepamate, povate entity with the purpose
or effect of evading accountability. Recent years have yielded too many scandals ar foundations,
brought to light by journalists who scoured their financial records.

In 2005, the Atlanta fowrnal-Constitution successhully sued

{hitp:/fs3.amazonaws.com/cdn. getsnworks.com/spl/pdi/tz_foundations.pdf} the University System
of Georgia Foundation to obtaln its donor lists, which revealed that its affilisted colleges were
awarding contracts to companies after they donated to a fund that supplemented the chancellor's
salary, Two vears earlier, an investigative audit

{htrp: /s 3. amazonaws.com /edn.getsnworks.com /spl/pdf/ts_foundations.pdf) st Florida Atlantic
University revealed that its foundation had allocated $42,000 1o buy a red Corverte for FAL's
autgoing president.

Mot every foundation is a bad actor, but that's not a precondition to public accountability in
civeumstances that call for it—and these do. "As state and taxpayer fumnding contimues to dry up for
public universities,” Calvert said, "the foundations play ramped-up roles in helping Lo sustain the
unfversities with which they are associated. " Those roles deserve public seristiny,

And the public degevves clarity in the law. Legislatures should decree that public-university
foundations are subject to the same records laws s the universities they support. Courts should cut
through any artifice and conclude that & university-affiliated foundation that exists for the purpose of
serving the university and performing public lunctions 15 an arm of the state and accountable to its
cillzeits.

Meanwhile, foundations shoold view those laws as a floor rather than a ceiling, making it a policy to
release more than simply the minimum required by law, And journahsts should push feundations o
be transparent, and use all manner of documents to watchdog them, ncluding annual reports and tax
retums (generally, nonprofits are required Lo make them available, and they can be treasure troves).

Scrutiny and clarity are key. Otherwise, many foundations will continue to hide in plain sight by
clnging toa legal fiction.

If an organization is staffed by public employees, gpends the public's money, or acts on behalf of the
government, then the public has a right to know what is going on,” said Adam Marshall, a legal fellow
at the Reporters Committee for Freedom of the Press. " This is especially true at public universities,
which are specially charged with increasing the knowledge and peneral welfare of our states.

This pose has been updated to include the names of the Chicapo Tribune reparters involved in the DuPage
Feries.



Has America ever needed a media waschdog more than now? Help us by joining CJR
today (hitps://ssl.palmeoastd.com/1 8801 fapps/ MEMBER12ikey=5""M02). |

Jonathan W, Peters and Jackie Spinner co-wrote this piece. Peters is CJR’s press freedom correspondent. An
altormey, he is an assistant professor of journalism at the University of Kansas, where he teaches and researches
media law and policy, with an affiliate research position exploring big data and Internet governance in the KU
Information & Telecommunication Techrology Center. Spinner is C[R's correspondent for [llinols and Indiana,



From: Paul Krebs [pkrebs@unm.edu)

Sent: Tuesday, May 26, 2015 3:08 PM
To: Stuart. Starner@unmfund.org

Cc: Tirn Cass

Subject: FUNDRAISING PRIORITIES.docx
Attachments: FUNDRAISING PRIORITIES. docx
Stu

Tim and | have reviewed and these are the priorities for fund raising opportunities. They are in priority order.
Paul

EXHIBIT |
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FUNDRAISING PRIORITIES

Qlympic Sports Performance Cender
Phase 3 of Baseball Sadium
Footbell Miadium Upgredes

Track Locker Room

Sand Vallevball Courts

Soccer Stadium

Fhaze 2 of Tennis

Endowed Scholarships

Facility Branding Program



From: Paul Krebs [pkrebs@unm.edu]

Sent: Wednesday, Novernher 12, 2014 4:45 PM
To: Henry Nemcik

Cc: Robert Frank; Amy Wohlert, Sandy Liggett
Subject: RE: WisePies Gift Agreement

Henry

Thanks for the email. T will review tonight.

Paul

From: Henry Nemcik [mailto:Henrv Nemcik@@unin ind.ory]
Sent: Wednesday, November 12, 2014 4:42 PM

To: Paul Krebs

Ce: Robert Frank: Amy Wohlert; Sandy Liggett; Henry Nemcik
Subject: WisePies Gift Agreement

Paul,

We have done our best (o try to rewrite the changing parameters of this gift. As we discussed, one of the more difficult challenges is w0
make the payment schedule line up with the term of the gift and we have given you owo payment schedules {0 address this issve. After
vour discussion with Steve feel free to make any chianges you want and Sandy and [ will reflect those changes in a revised document
in time for the Regents' meeting on Friday. If vou transmit the changes electronically, please send the information to Suzanne Awen at

RS SRR LL N A bt A PR E L LLE ALY

Thanks for your hard work on this initiative,

Regards,
Henry

Henry Nemcik
President and CEO

UNM Foundation

700 Lomas Blvd NE
Two Woodward Center
Albuquerque, NM 87102

Henry.Nemcik@@unmfund.org

505.277.1586 fax: 505.277.8305
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GIET AGREEMENT
Between
UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOQUNDATION, INC.
And
WISEPIES FRANCHISE SERVICES LLC

This Gift Agreement (“Agreement™) sets forth the understanding between Wiselies Franchise
Services LLC, a New Mexico domestic limited liability company (the “Donor™) and The University of
New Mexico Foundation, a New Mexico sonprofit corporation organized and operated exclusively for
educational, scientific, literary, and charitable purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c) (3} of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Foundation™), with respect 1o the Donor’s creation
and the Foundation’s administration of the WisePies Fund (the “Fund™).

1. Purpose of the Gift: Afier the initial establishment of the Fund, Donor hereby pledges to
make and transfer a gift of $5,000,000 over a period of ten years o create the WisePies Fund to
support the UNM Athletics Department and to name the University Arena as the “WisePies
Arena” for a period of up to ten years,

The Fund shall be administered by the UNM Foundation in accordance with its Articles of
Incorporation and Bylaws and the laws of the State of New Mexico. The Fund shall be
identified as the WisePies Fund and all expenditures from the Fund shall carry the name of the

Fund.

The University of New Mexico has appointed the following named University official and his
or her successors {o be responsible for admiunistering this discretionary Fund and ensuring that
all expenditures made from the Fund are consistent with the Donor’s intention as expressed in

TR '
; 1 i
FART o A AL, Date: /!!/"?/”’f

"""-..._,_....-r‘
University Official
Paul Krebs, Vice President and Athiletcs Direclor

The establishment of this Fund and the naming of the University Arena in honor of this
countribution is also subject to the approval of the Board of Regents under Regents’ Policy 2.11,
*Naming University Facilities, Spaces. Endowments and Programs” and University Business
Policy 1020. “Naming Facilities, Spaces, Endownents and Programs” and will be administered
in accordance with these and any subsequently adopted naming rights policies.

Payment Schedule: If approved, the naming rights shall be effective following receipt of the
first payment {see Attachment A Schedule of Payments). I{ Donor fails 10 malee any payment
required i Attachment A by the date specified, all naming rights granted herein shall be
canceled and Donor will be required to reimburse the Athletics Department for all costs
incuryed for the removal of the WisePies name.

EXHIBIT
WisePies Fund H

Page 1 of 4

3]




e e P e e i e e T

o e T e T e e I e e T e o e o i =

THE UNIVERSITY of o=
NEW MEXICO Founpation

In the event that Donor sells all or part of its business, Donor will either pay in full the
remaiming amoum of this irrevocable commitment or assign this irrevocable Agreement to the
new owner of the business. However, Donor may only assign this Agreement with the written
approval of the Foundation and the assurance that the Foundation will retain all rights to
enforce the remms of this Agreement. Any transfer of this Agreement that would require the
University o change the name of the WiscPies Arena will be subject to the approval of the
Board of Regents under Regents’ Policy 2.11, “Naming University Facilities, Spaces,
Endowments and Programs™ and University Business Policy 1020, “Naming Facilities, Spaces.
Endowments and Programs™ and will be administered in accordance with these and any
subsequently adopted naming rights policies.

Intent: Notwithstanding that Donor intends for the annual contribution 1o be generated by the
proceeds of the WisePies franchises, it is the intent of the parties that this Agreemem shali be
enforceable at law and equity, including without limitation. against the Donor and iis
successors and assigns. The Donor acknowledges that the University is relying, and shall
continue to rely, on the Fund being fully paid and satisfied as sef forth heren.

Announcement of the Fund: The jnitia) announcement of this gifi will be made only afier the
execution of this gifi agreement and the Universily's approval of (he naming righis sovght in
this Agreement. Afier the announcement of the gifi, all payments are immevocable.
Subsequently, the Foundation or the University of New Mexico may announce the Fund,
including amount, descriptions of contributions, and pertinent details in any of their
publications.

Information on Use of Funds: University Athletics will respond 1o requests for information
made by the Donor, the Donor’s immediate family or other individuals identified by the Donor
about the activities and programs funded by the WisePies Fund.

Duration of the Fund: 1f the purpose for which the Fund has been instiuted becomes
itnpossible 10 perform or impractical 10 the extent that the University is unable to use the
support generated by the Fund under the existing terms of the Agreement or if the University
President concludes that carrying out the purpose exposes the University to an unacceptable
risk of legal exposure, the University shall consuli with the Donor to modify the Fund, If the
Donor is not available, the University’s President may reconunend to the Foundation's Board
of Trustees for approval an aliernative purpose for the Fund as close to and consistant with the
Donor’s original intent.

Representatives and Successors Bound: This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to
the benefit of the panies hereto, the University of New Mexico, the Donor and their
representatives and their lawful successors.

Governing Law: This Agreement shall be poverned by and interpreted in accordance with the
laws of the Stale of New Mexico, excluding that body of law concerning choice of law,

WisePies Fund
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9. Modification of Agreement: The terms and conditions of this Agreement may #ot be orally
amended. modified, or altered but may be amended, modificd, o5 altered only 11 writing stgned
by (he Donor(s) and the Foundation and approved by the University.

10, Extension of Naming Rights, After the completion of the ferms of the naning rights granted
and the Donor’s savisfaction of all payment obligations identified in (his Agreement, the
University will give Donor the right of first refusal on the next subscquent naming rights at the

Usiversity Arena.

N//Z{//ﬂzf

UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO FOUNDATION, INC.

Q’LZ—’/‘L’:D Date: LL {4} T

X R
Fenry Nemeik, President & CEQ

WisePies Fund
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ATTACHMENT A
SCHEDULL OF PAYMENTS

Due Date
December 1.2014
December 31, 2015
December 31, 2016
December 31, 2017
December 31, 2018
December 31, 2019
December 31, 2020
December 31, 2021
December 3], 2022
December 31, 2023

Total Gifi
WiseFies Fund
Page 4 nl4
= mm;:mmmmm_ ——

Amount of Pavment by Donor

$100,000
S$100.000
$600,000
$600,000
$600,000
$600,000
$600,0G0
$600,000
$600,000
£640.000

$5.000.000
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From: Paul Krebs pkrebs@unm.edu
Subject: Re: Chavez Gill Agreement (ATHL-0141)
Date: November 10, 2014 at 7:23 AM
To: Lamy Ryan Lary.Byan@unmiund.org

Larry
Could you ask Sandy Liggen to add a part in the document that essentially says the following:

During the course of this deal should UNM receive another naming rights offer for the Pilt that exceeds the value of the current
WisePies deal, we can accept the new deal and Steve Chavez/WisePies are released from their financial obligation.

FYl...Steve is comloriable with this language and would like somsthing atong these lines included in the deal.
I need lhis done loday and Steve's signature prier 1o the FAF meeting tomorrow morning.

Lel me know if this is a problem.
Paui

/Sent from my tPad

On Nov 7, 2014, at 4:21 PM, Larry Ryan <Larty.Byan@unmiund.org> wrote:

Looks good. Puls him on the hook for 500% no maler what happens and if things go well you gel (he whole Sm. You probably didn
pul any of the initial signage change cosis in there by design but hopefully he helps with thal.

Sent from my iPhone

Gn Mov 7, 2014, at 4:13 PM, Paul Krebs <pkrebs@unm.edus> wrote;

| Let know f voul secany issies. G ning cluse

‘ Paul

l

| Frome havizen Wotone | malto:MaMeGuire(@salud.unm.edu |
Sent: Irotlay, Nowvemiber 07 0013 2 180PR

[ Loz Faul kreb

[ ©es Appes T ‘sandradiggett@@unmfund.org 1) i

| 3"[!|i]"t'('l.' JCHL Eahvarsetea LY eIl (ATHL=002000

! ]'(1"'

i I"mvi ool ssure 13 YL e (gl | ng lor Aeine e TS s TV |.i-5|". wilh generaling i elenil v erson
af 1he larest draf ol the agreenrem Tor review by EVE s and Regent Koeh hefore

| finulizing i1 - it'so, sew altached. T simply accepted ail changes and deleted the commenis.

'J Otherwise. just W elantv, [ didn't generaie the g agreement. [1wag generated by the
| ontdation. Al e |k'\|‘|l"."-| il Plavad Harms ses aral ]':'.;:H]I!:'- g | ;'ri||‘, 1 Gt Kt Ul @ I O B A ]""lH\'H'Jl'_
somesuggested revisions, 1 alse posed a couple questions thal dan't look Hlke they've heen
answered or clanfied, The entity entering witothe agreemeny s the Foundanon and, as such

|i'JL__'._\.v" will have to review and finalize A ('.]J:JT'JL{I_.'.'\ before excoulion of 1he ftgl_:rl_'."._’lut‘ili
Flaye s good weekend.

1\-4&'.11I_"._‘:'|

Mutireen M. MeGiire

.I'\-'\'“ |">'-r'r 1 F "a'."l'{‘ ".‘.'ff_'. |._ r‘!;"’.-.-..-_]"

Linpversiy il New Mexreo

{0 of Taoversity ( &l
I Wlapversity of New Mexico

NMSCUD )

Albiguergue, NM 873141001
( I3
I (05 2T7-4 154 (fax)

cimii - MaMceGuire@salud.unm.edu
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RENTEW INFORMATION AND/OR PROTECTED, INIIVIDUALLY IMIENTIFIAELE HEALTHUAR]
IMPOBNATION THAT IS CONFIRENTIAL AND EXEMPT FROM DISCT OSURE VINTER STATT
ADIVOR FEDRRAL LAWS, RULES AN REGUEATIONS ITNCTUENNG WFTHOUT LIMITATHIMN:
TUHE THPAA PRIVACTY ANDVOR SUCURITY STANDARDS: THE ATTORMEYLLIENT OR ATTORNEY
WORK PRODUCT PRIVILEGE ANDAOTS T NEW MENTOD REVIFPW ORGANIZATHINS
IVIMILTNTTY ACT, 1T 15 THLE POILCYOF T URIVERSITY OF WEW MEXICOT AT Tk sENDER
I NOT INTEND THES TRANSMIESION T Bl SENT 70O OR RECEIVED BY ANY
UINALITRHORIZED PERSOING AND IS NOT WAINVING THE CONFIDENTEALITY GR PRIVIEEGED
NATURE OF SUCH INFORMATTON 1Y OU ARE NOTTUHE INTEMDED RECIPIENT O THIS
FLETTRONILC MATL TRANSMISSION AN THERERSY RECTIVED THIS ELECTRUMNK MATL
TRANSMISSTON N ERROR, PDLEASE IMMERIATEL RELETEIT FROM Y OUR CORMPITTER
SYSTEM WIFHOUT £0PYIRG VE INARRITHIN, PLEASE NOTIFY THESINDRERBY REPLY -
MATL OR BY CALLING THE SENDER AT (303) 27750535 THIS WAY, WE CAN CORRECT OLR
ADDRESS FOR THE INTENIY D RECIPIENT

Frome: FPaul krebs [matlto:pkrebs(@unm.edu |

Sent: Faday, November 07, 2014 1:39 PM

Ta: Maureen MeGuire

Subjeet: FW: Chavez Gift Agregmen ioammiredhued DT T4 dou

Maureen

Atlached is a copy ol g gillmgming nehts sgrecment thal you gencrated (or aibene several
months ago @ong with sonie proposed changes. Wenld you make the changes 1oy 1o¢ 1o share
willy TV P Darrs and Regent Koeh?! | need by Monday morming il o all possible.

Patl

Prone =TV CHAVT S | mailte: SCHAVEZ@EICSICONTROLS.COM |

Senl: T ['ml,--:'l.:}_\ Nowernber O, 2lg 1203 P

Foe Puil] Kaypts

Co: Stovie Chuvez

Suhjeets vl Chavez Ol Agreement_mimmmieedinet 07 il
Paill.
Here VOl _L_ill'“' et e know whai svou ook

Steve

Sent from my 1Phone

Begin fonvarded message:
From: Season Elllon «geason(@se3intl.com-
Date: November 6, 2014 at 11:46:30 AM MST

To: STEVEN CHAVEZ ~schavez(@icsicontrols.com®
Subiject: Re: FW: Chaver Gift Agreemeni mmmvedlinel10714.doc¢

Revised file anached.

Season Ellioti
VP Commmieations & Developiin

N 3
)
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INTERNATION AL
(503) A 14-20949

1020 Vassar Diove NE. Soie H
Albuquergue. NM 8T 107
On Thu, Nov &, 20014 4 10006 AN, STEVEN CHAVEZ

—schavez(@icsicontrols.com waie

= Torwarded Messpee

From: Tanl Krehs pkrebs@unm.edu

Dates Tl 30 Ocy, 2004 2001415 (D0

To: STEVEN CHIANT/ - schavez(@icsicontrols.com

Subject: Chavez Gitt Agreemen! mmmmredline® 107 | 4.do

Steve

[havk yow Lor luneh and Tor vour vision: This i ditference maker for Loba
Athlerics. Every weara and stadent athidte will henefit [rom your generosily
Attuched 1= the elecironie version, Make L_||:.'f||;‘_1c.:~ and melude the imeline fim
payments meluding the S1TU0L000 up front monzy, Thank you
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Pit cashes in on pizza deal

By Geoff Grammer / Journal Staff Writer

Published: Monday, December 1st, 2014 at 1:02pm
Updated: Monday, December 1st, 2014 af 9:14pm

WisePies Pizza & Salad and UNM announced a $5 million cash gift deal that gives the local chain naming
rights to the basketball arena known as the Pit. It is the largest cash gift UNM athletics has ever received.
(Greg Sorber/Journal)

There is no question the Pit is an iconic slice of history for thousands of sports fans in and around
Albuquerque.

And now, a local startup pizza chain is hopeful that forking over the largest cash donation in University of
New Mexico athletics department history will help give it a piece of the pie as well.

Schedule of payments
Dec. 1,2014 — $100,000
Dec. 31, 2015 — $100,000
Dec. 31, 2016 — $600,000
Dec. 31, 2017 — $600,000
Dec. 31, 2018 — $600,000
Dec. 31, 2019 — $600,000
Dec. 31, 2020 — $600,000
Dec. 31, 2021 — $600,000
Dec. 31, 2022 — $600,000
Dec. 31, 2023 — $600,000
Total gift — $5,000,000

EXHIBIT
J



UNM and WisePies Pizza & Salad announced Monday that the company would give JNM a 35 million
cash gift paid out over the next 10 years in exchange for naming rights for University Arena, known by
almast everyone as the Pil.

1 think it was about us wanting to make sure people could recognize the commitment we're making not
ouly to our local community, but also to future franchises that are coming aboard,” Seasonr Ellioft, &
WisePies spokeswoman, told the Jouwrnal. “*We have such a rapid growth plan over the next few years, we
had to make a bold move."”

The Albuguerque-based company is owned by New Mexico residents Steve Chavez and Michael Baird.

I is the largest cash gift UNM atblefics has ever received and sixth-largest cash gifi ever received by the
umiversity.

According to the “Gift Agreement™ between WisePies and UNM Foundation, the company paid UNM
$100,600 on Monday. will pay another $100,000 on Dec. 31, 2015, and then make annual payments of
$600,000 on Dec. 31 cach year from 2016 through 2023,

If the company fails 10 make a payment, the naming rights will be removed and WisePies must reimburse
the university for cost of the removal,

WisePies Pizza, which dubs itself “A family pizza joint,” wil] have its company logo — its name with a
fedora-wearing mafioso-type peeking firom behind - attached to internal and external signage at the Pit. In
addition, two large logos have been added 1o Bob King Court and UNM will include the name and logos
on ali media packets and other publications referring to the arena.

Still the Pit

What Monday's announcement won't do 1o the eyes of many fans is change what people actuatly call the
arena.

“We know our fans are going 10 eall it the Pit,” UNM athletic director Paul Krebs said. “So many grew up
with that, But for the things we can contro! and all of our recognition, all of our exposure, it is and will be
WisePies Arena.”



University Arenads now WisePies Arena afler the 1ocal pizza chain
worked out 2 deal with LINM. Athletic director Paul Krebs says, “We
know our fans are going to call it the Pit™

I facs, on most signage, 1he phrase, "AKA The PIC" follows the words "WisePies Arena”™ - 8 lip of the
fedorn (o the realization that most people will still catl it the Pit as well as a play on the company's
branding of & mafia type feel using aliases along with acual names,

“1 dom*y think it's & major concem of oors,” Ellion said. “As vou can see on the foor, we still have *THE
PIT' on both ends. And in the logo, ‘WisePies Arena AKA The Pit,” was a way that we could bring in the
new name with a long-stunding radition.

“We sant 1o honor the fans. They are cerdinly gomg to be some maditioraliss oul there who won't b2
hapmy with naming WisePies Arena, but 1 think we're going to bs welcomed. | think this 5 going 10 be
embraced.”

The money will be eanmnarked toward paying down the S50 million debt service on the Pii"é 2009
rencvation, which will greatly help the finances foran athietic depariment thet has a poor recent history of
balancing 18 budget.

Data submitted to the Depariment of Education’s Eguity in Athletica Disclosure Act shows LINM athletics
has aperated under a budgel deficit in each of the past shx fscal vears, with sharfalls ranging berween
538 m 200910 10 $) 037,206 in 200 |-12.

UMM miskndising its “aclual eperating budget™ reflects a budget deficit in five of those six vears.
Balancing the budget
Mevertheless, securing & naming rights deal has beena priocity Mo, | for some time.

"If's been 2 huge priority for us,” Krebs sald, “It's something that's consumed & Io1 of my time. Crur budgel
hias been challenged in large part because we have nol besn able to land the naming gift we thought we
wire poing (o bo abie to get. .., This gift, the timing of it was huge. It allows us to meet our debt service
obligations and will hopefully free up some resources that we can reinvest back into our programs,”

LINM President Robert Frank told the Journal in June he expects the athletics department |0 balance il
budget, but added athletics faces various issoes in balancing its budeet some other departments do nof, One
mafar one, e acknowledged on Monday, wis whether the entire delbt service for the Pit should be only the
responsibility of the athletics department.



He also said he understands how difficult it has been in recent years to secwre such a deal due to the
economy.

*The naming environment has just turned soft on us,” Frank said. “Particularly Albuquerque, as Paul
(Krebs) mentioned, just doesn’t have that many home businesses.”

On Monday, Krebs said it conldin™t have worked out better to tand such a large deal from a locally owned
company.

“It’s very fortuitous that it worked out this way,” Krebs said. “We got somebody local who wants to
support the university who believes in Albuquerque, who believes in New Mexico.”

Among the agreements details, WisePies will give away more than $200,000 in free pizza certificates over
the next two home games — Wednesday's men’s pame against New Mexico State and the Dec. 14 women's
game against UTEP — in addition 1o other giveaways.

But don’t expect the actual WisePies pizzas to be served anywhere in the Pit anytime soon.

“We would like to look at opportunities in the future and | think that’s an opportunity that will be discussed
in the future,” Elliott said.

The WisePies deal dees not affect any existing deals UNM has with other food vendors, including Fack in
the Box or Papa Johns, which offers discounts after certain Lobo achievements,

After 10 years, WisePies will have the right of first refusal for future naming rights of the arena.
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Out-of-state sale in works for WisePies

By Jessica Dyer / Journal Staff Writer

Poblished: Wednesday, May 18th, 2016 at 12:02em
Updaled: Wednesday, May 18th, 2016 at 11:56pnt

The owners of WisePies are in final negotiations to sell a majority interest in the company. ( Roberto E.

Rosales/Journal)
Copyright © 2016 Albuguerque Journal

WisePies could have a new, out-of-state owmer soon — but the pizza chain’s name is likely to remain on New
Mexico’s most famous sports arena,

The owners of the Albuguerque-based franchise operation are in final negotiations to sell a majority interest in the
company fo an ouf-of-state restaurant group, co-owner Mike Baird said this week in a Journal interview. The
prospective buyer, which Baird declined to identify, will take over day-to-day operations and commit to fulfilling
WisePies™ agreement with University of New Mexico for naming rights at its basketball arena, commonly called
“the Pit.”

WisePies has not met iis expansion targets and has faced a handful of tax liens, issues Baird blamed in part on
underestimating how much it would cost to launch a franchising operation.

Three WisePies franchise stores owned separately by Baird, which are not part of the sale, also have had a history
of tax trouble, racking up more than $150,000 in liens.

None of the other individual stores is facing tax liens, according to a WisePies spokeswoman.

hitps/Asww,abgjournal .com/77593%outofs tate- sale-in-works-for-wisepies htmi
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BATRD: Deal will help him clear tax llens

Baird could nol say if the buyer would keep WisePies bazed in Albuguerque bul sad the company’s comimitment
to LINM remains intect After two payments of $100,000 each, the deal calls for @ major payment escalation this
wear, Under the terms of the §5 miltion gift agreement, WisePies owes eight annual payments of 3600, 006 starling
this December.

“That was one of the main reasons why we went with this group was they are dedicated 1o continuing that
agreement,” Baird zad in an mterview,

Baird said the company buymg the WisePiez Franchise Services has the respurces, financial and otherwise, peeded
to shepherd WisePics Pizea & Salad in an increasingly compétitive fast-cosunl marketplace.

There currently ure nine WisePies slores in operation. When signing the UNM agreement in late 2014, the
company had three stores and said it planoed to add 20 in 2015.

“You need millions and millions of dollars 1o stan a franchise system properly, and thai’s whar we didn’i do - we
tried to bootstrap 14" Baird said. "You have lofty goals when you ged started with Il and have all the best mtentlons
of having everything grow the way you want it 1o, but it doesn't alweys happen that way.™

Baird declined to disclose the sales price but said he and partoer Steven B Chaves will mamism sone siske 1n fhe
company.

Several liens

Baird sid he and Chaves set oul to create a company, formally called WiseP'ies Franchise Services, they could
either zell or take public after five yearz. I the sale closes, it will come 21 vears after the first WisePies restanrant
opened, something the owners consider a testament (o the brand (bey bamilt

"Based on our business model, our five-year plan was achieved within two yesrs This made us 8 highly desirable
candidate for acquisition by a larger restaurant fnvestment group that sees the potential for natdonel growth and
development of & New Mexco-based campany,” Chavez said in a statement. “Through drategic moves like the
naming of WistPies Arena aka the Pit, we were sble fo garner national attention and reinforee our commitment to
the fature of the sompany,™

Ftpevewear diboj ool com TTEE S defs sl i Gatihie | e eer s Ee-sivinmpies Fam | M0
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Baird said the deal would also help him clear a number of tax liens he’s faced both through WisePies and his other
companies.

CHAVEZ: Will maintain some stake
in company

Since December 2014, a total of 20 liens have been recorded against WisePies Franchise Services, WisePies USA
and individual franchise WisePies restaurants owned by Baird, according to a Journal search of Bernalillo County
records. They reflect money owed to the New Mexico Taxation & Revenue Department, Internal Revenue Service
and New Mexico Department of Workforce Solutions.

Only six have been released, according to the documents.

WisePies Franchise Services, which has the deal with UNM, is the chain’s corporate entity. Baird and Chavez own
it together. County records currently show three liens against the company — one from the IRS and two from
Workforce Solutions for missed unemployment insurance contributions — totalling $13,843,

Baird said the company has paid the outstanding tax bill, but the release does not appear in online records yet. He
said the company is looking into the Workforce Solutions liens.

Two previous liens filed in 2015 have been released, according to county records.

In addition to the corporate office, three individual franchised WisePies restaurants owned separately by Baird are
facing a combined 11 more liens totalling $168,291.

Records also reflect at least $603,000 in liens against other restaurant-related companies owned by Baird. That
includes VSH, LLC, which does business as Vernon’s Speakeasy steakhouse and has 15 outstanding liens totaling
$479,753.

That does not include an additional $243,083 in liens filed against “VSH LLC, Calico Cantina & Cafe,” which
Baird said is not an actual entity and might represent some sort of duplication in the systemn.

Baird said some unexpected delays in completing the WisePies sale contributed to the growing tax debt and thinks
the online records might not reflect all payments he has made. But he acknowledged that he owes a “significant™

hitps www. alxgournal .com/77593% outofstate-sale-in-works-for-wisepies.html
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amount and said he has met with IRS and state tax representatives to discuss how the WisePies sale will allow him
to cover all outstanding tax obligations.

“The purchase is plenty enough to take care of any debts that 1 have and cicar everything up and allow me to
move forward with everything else,” he said.

Comments

19 Comments Sort by Newest
Add a comment...

Alan Schwariz - University of West Los Angeles School of Law

@‘r I'm thinking the buyer could be Denver based Chipolte. They both use the
same Subway style buiid it yourself model. And today's ABF has a piece
about Chipolte's "tired" menu.

Like - Reply - May 23. 2016 12:27pm

Susy Golden - Albuquergue. New Mexico

Wrong.
Like - Reply « Jun 1. 2016 6:55am

4 Terry Martin - Rio Rancho. New Mexico
! [ worked in the accounting dept. at wisepies and quit. All the people running

wisepies have big heads. Think they know it all. Great idea and great pizza
though. | knew the big-heads were in way over their big-heads. They make
the worst decisions. | have alot of insight and will keep guiet now. | expect
haird to wani to fist fight me now that | have said all this.

Like - Reply - May 19. 2016 3:21pm

g Michael Chesley - Agent at Farm Bureau Financial Services

[ j The comments here are a joke. Who cares about the pizza. This is a

- business that has over 60 leins against it. They have stole from their
employees. Those deductions from their checks for federal and other taxes
were not paid to the governments. Does anyone care about that? No
unemployement taxes paid? A lot of them are going to be unemployed.
This is a scam!
As far as the Pit goes. they got te pay two $100.000 checks for two
seasons of national advertising. That was very savy on their part and very
naive on UNM's part. Krebs had no say in this. blame President Frank.

Like - Reply- 4 -May 18. 2016 8:32pm

¥4 Barbara Turner

Should have NEVER agreed to deal with UNM and THE PIT name change.
People from here don't like it.

Like - Reply - 1-May 18. 2016 7:03pm

Gonzo Olivas

hitps hwwaw.abgournal .com/77593% outofstate-sale-tn-works-for-wisepies htmi 4110
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WisePies pizza chain runs into tax trouble

@ By Chris McKee (http://krge.com/author/chris-mckee/
ok’ .m Published: July 27, 2015, 7:03 pm | Updated: September 9, 2015, 9:56 am

ALBUQUERQUE (KRQE) - Will UNM ever really see that $5 million that WisePies has promised for
putting its name on the Pit?

Records show WisePies is having some money troubles and the young company even admits it is
way behind schedule opening stores.

However, UNM says WisePies hasn't given it any indication that they're in trouble of not paying the
arena naming bill, and meanwhile the restaurant chain says it's still expanding.

Just last month, WisePies hung its permanent signs on large entryways to the Pit, giving a big
indication that their 10 year, $5 million naming rights deal is for the long haul.

EXHIBIT
L

hitp:/fkrqe.com/2015/07/27 fwisepies-pizza-chain-runs-into-tax-troubley’ 16
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While they're still planning on growing with an announcement of six new stores opening across

New Mexico and Arizona in 2015, WisePies has hit a cash problem related to state taxes.,

New Bernalillo County tax records show WisePies owes more than $29,000 in taxes to the New
Mexico Department of Tax and Revenue, According to the Bernalillo County Clerk’s Office’s online
records, the WisePies Franchise Services LLC owes $10,132. Records shows the corporation’s own
restaurants on Alameda and Unser in northwest Albuquerque respectively owe $7,262 and $11,786

in taxes to the state.

It's another hiccup for the franchise business that said it would finance the Pit deal by opening
more than 20 stores in 2015 alone. However, they have just four locations in Albuquerque and Rio

Rancho today.

WisePies has only paid $100,000 of the $5 million it owes UNM through 2023. That payment was
made on time. Despite the financial discovery, UNM says so far, it has no woiries that WisePies
won't hold up its end of the bargain when the next payment comes on December 31, 2015. That's

an upcoming $100,000 payment.
“We have no concerns,” said Bob Frank, President of the University of New Mexico.

Frank told News 13 in an interview Monday that he still sees a promising future with WisePies. He

says the business has also said its on track to make the second naming rights payment on time.

“I've talked to their leadership and I'm absolutely confident that they're going to correct this

immediately,” said Frank about the tax liens.

Frank says he believes the tax issue is a temporary growing pain of the business and how it's

s{ructured.

“This is technical issue about how they are billed and how they're taxed,” said Frank, commenting
on the business structure of WisePies. While the restaurant owns a few of its own restaurant, it

intends to franchise future restauranis with different owners.

In a statement, WisePies said Monday that they're planning to pay the more than $29,000 in debt
by the end of the day. The company says it's also revamped its accounting team, developed new

accounting procedures and revenue forecasts.

hitp:/ikrge.com/2015/07/27 iwisepies- plzza-chain-runs-info-tax-trouble/f 25
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>>READ: WisePjes responds to publication of tax liens.

(https://lintvkrge.files.wordpress.com/2015/07 /wise-pies-tax-statement. pdf)

In return, the company says it will also open fewer restaurants through the end of 2015. Originally,
WisePies forecasted building 20 more stores in the Albuquerque metro and southwest U.S. region
by the end of the year. WisePies now says it has plans to open six new restaurants across New
Mexico and Arizona by the year's end. That cluster includes the first two stores out of the

Albugquergue-metro area, including one in Gallup and another at Arizona State University.

>>READ: WisePjes new 2015 locations announcement.

(https://lintvkrge.files. wordpress.com/2015/07/wise-pies-new-locations. pdf)

President Frank says he still thinks WisePies is the “right fit" for UNM's marquee sponsorship.

“We're concerned that they're hitting speed bumps in their business model, like you would be for

any partner, but we're obviously confident they're going to correct those,” said Frank.

If WisePies backs out of the Pit sponsorship deal, the only penalty for canceling is the cost of
removing the signage from the Pit. UNM estimates that would cost about $50,000. However, the
company would still be getting ton of advertising for a fraction of the cost, especially in the first two

years of the deal.

WisePies only has to pay $100,000 each of the first two years of the naming deal before their
payment jumps to $600,000 a year. The first $600,000 payment is due on December 31, 2016.

UPDATE (07/28/2015): A spokeswoman for WisePies returned KRQE News 13’s request for comment
on Tuesday. The restaurant says it resolved the tax liens in full at 5:00 p.m. on Monday. The company
sqys it’s stilf on track to make the December 2015 naming rights payment of $100,000. The company
says it’s also on track to make the December 2016 payment of $600,000 on time. The company says
it’s also working on increasing the number of projected store openings by the end of 2015, and a Las

Vegas development deal.

Top News

. 1st round games in Boys State Basketball Tournament
i Saturday played host to first round games in the 2017 New Mexico high...

nttp:fkeqe.com/2015/07/27wiseples-pizza-chain-runs-into-iax-frouble/ 35
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State wants WisePies corporate to hait operations

By Jessica Dyer / Journa) Staff Writer

Published: Thursday, Scpiember 15th, 2016 at 12:02am
Updated: Thiarsday, Scpteraber 13th, 2016 at £1:02pm

Copyright © 2016 Albuguergue Jounal

The New Mexicoe Secretary of Taxation and Revenue is seeking a court order to halt WisePies Franchise Services
from doing business until the company gets up to date on its {axes — something a company spokeswormnan said it
intends to do immediately.

The state applied for the injunction in state District Court in Santa Fe on Tuesday, noting in its filing that
WisePies has a current outstanding gross receipts tax liability of $11,936 and that interest continues to accrue. The
contpany “has continually been non-compliant™ in paying gross receipts taxes and also failed to pay workers'
compensation fees on multiple occasions, according to an accompanying affidavit from a state revenue agent.

BATIRD: No longer
involved in operations

WisePies — which has the naming rights to University of New Mexico’s basketball arena, aka the Pit — has not
complied with a state request to enter into an installment agreement, and co-owner Mike Baird has not
comnunicated with the department since July 1, the affidavir says.

Baird is no longer involved in WisePies operations, according to the company, though he remains an owner. He
did not immediately respond to a Journal message laie Wednesday.

In an Aug. 16 letter addressed fo Baird and included in Tuesday’s filing, the state demanded WisePies “furnish
acceptable security in the amount of $17,607.12 ... in order to ensure payment of tax due or reasonably expected
to become due from you.” It gave Baird 10 days to respond.

WisePies Franchise Services is the corporate entity for the WisePies Pizza & Salad chain. However, the company
itself does not own any of the nine WisePies-branded restaurants.

WisePies spokeswoman Season Elliott said Wednesday that WisePies co-owner Steve Chavez was not aware the
company still owed the state back taxes but had already made out a check and intended to make the payment
“immediately” and thus thwart any potential shutdown.

She said the company recently underwent a leadership transition, with Chavez taking over managing partner duties
froni Baird on Sept. 1. Baird remains an owner but is no longer involved in operations, Elliott said,

“(Chavez) is committed to making all accounts current and healing relationships that may have been damaged
under previous management. He feels the previous handling of taxes is absolutely unacceptable which is why he’s
taken it completely over to ensure this NEVER happens again,” Elliott said in an emailed statement. “Since
September s, Mr. Chavez has paid ALL Federal taxes owed as well ag a number of other vendor invoices that
needed payment. He has also filed and paid current taxes.” '

hilps:#fwww.abgjournal.comi845254/new-mexico-wants-wisepies-corporate-to-halt-operations .html M 2
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WisePies Franchise Services has had ongoing tax troublcs. The Internal Revenue Service, New Mexico Taxation
and Revenue Department and New Mexico Department of Woerkforee Solutions have filed multiple liens against
the company, according to Bernalilio County records.

The county records show three of the seven liens recorded against WisePles have been released, including the two
filed by the 1RS.

WisePies’ issues have commanded a great deal of comumunity attention due to the company’s naming rights
arrangement with UNM.

In 2014, less than a year after opening its {irst restaurant, the company agreed to give UNM 35 muliion over 10
years in a deal that repamed the basketball venue WisePies Arena (aka the Pit). WisePies has made the first two
payments of $100,000 eacli, but its contribution is scheduled to escalate to $600,000 annually starting in
December.

The company has nol grawn as quickly as it projected when it signed the UNM deal. Baird toid the Journal in
May that an unnamed, out-of-state company was preparing to buy a majority interest in the company and would
make good on all comraitments to UNM.

WisePies has never disclosed the buyer’s identity and the deal has ot closed. However, Elliott said it is still in the
works,

hitps :#fwww, abgjournal.com/B49254/new-mexico-wants-wiseptes-cor porate-to-halt-operations.html
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The Universiiy of New Mexica

Office of The Custodian of Public Records

MECO3 3446

Schojes Hall Reom 203

| Universily of New Mexico
Albuquerque, NM 871310001
Telephone {305) 277-5033
httpofpablicrecords unrm edi!

WL pTE . edy

November 11, 2016

Via Email Trmisms'ssion._

Daniel Libit

Re:

IPRA Request No. 16-130

Dear Mr. Libit:

Pursuant to your [PRA request dated November 7, 2016. you requested the following:

All w ritten ¢ ommunications, e ither s ent or r eceived by UNM Foundation’s Larry R yan.
transmitted between May 1. 2016 and ihe present date of this request, in which the following
phrases. terms or words appear: “WisePies”, "Wise”, “Pies”, “Steve Chavez”, “gift”, “naming”.
This includes emails in which Mr. Krebs is a third-party on an exchange. This request includes
messages transmitted on UNM property, and/or through private e lectronic devices where the

subject is discussing matters related to official UNM business.

The U niversity do ¢s no t ha ve t he records you seck. [ suggest you contact the UNM Foundation
directly, whichi sas eparate] egalen tity, fort heirc onsiderationof  yourr equest at
marcomf@unmiund.ors.

This request is considered fulfilled, should you require further information please submiit a new [PRA
request to this office at hitps/unmipra.nextrequest.com/,

Sincerely,

Dolin Rechriguey

John Rodriguez. MLA.
Custodian of Public Records




Daniel Lkt

Jennifer Kemmp,

Director of Commpmicanoos
LINM Fouriciction

Two Wointhward Ceaner

700 Lovman WE, Saiee 108
Albugueregue, Nl BT102

November 14, 2016
SENT VIA EMAIL 'TO: jenniferkempl@uombund o

Dear [ennifer:

Under the New Mexico Public Recorda Act, 1 requesr e following matenals from the
LN Foundation:

- A final copy of the noming-rights agrecmant between the Limversity of New Mexico
Foundation and WiseTies Pizza.

-Any/all alectranic corvespondence, dated hetween Jan |, 2016 and the present moment
of this request, tw/ from UNM Foundation's Larry Ryan, in which the following words or
terma appear: Y Wiseties™, "Wise®™, "Pros,” "Sreve Chaves,™ “arena”, and/or gl
Agreement”

I the event thas request i domed in full oc pan, [ would appreéciate an explapaton for the
tlenial.

Thank vou for your assstance,

Sincerely yours,

-

Ddamjel Lihit

EXHIBIT



From: Jennifer Kemp <jennifer.kemp@unmfund.org>
Subject: RE: IPRA Request

Date: November 21, 2016 at 10:18:41 AM CST
To: Daniel Libit
Cc: Giulia Urquhart <

[im >

Hi Daniel -
Thank you so much for your interest in The University of New Mexico and the UNM Foundation, Below is the
answer to your question. If you have any questions, piease don't hesitate to contact myself or Giulia.

Q: Would the foundation share the list of donors to the Dugout Club?

A Qut of respect for donor privacy, the UNM Foundation does not share donor or gift information unless the donor
has authorized us io do so.

Have a nice Thanksgiving, Daniel!

Jennifer
P.S. Please note | have a new phone number: 505-313-7676. Please be sure to update your records accordingly.

Jennifer Kemp, APR

Director, Marketing & Communication
UNM Foundation

700 [.omas Blvd. NE

Two Woodward Center

Albuquerque, NM 87102

fennifer. Kempiaunmiund.ore

Phone: (505) 313-7676
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P




Changing Worlds 2020: The Campaign for UNM
Whose world will you change?

This electronic message is intended only for the use of the individual or entity to which it is addressed and may
contain information that is privileged, confidential, or exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If you have
received this email in error, please notify us at the phone number or email address listed above.

From: Daniel Libitm
Sent: Saturday, November 19, 17225 PM

To: Jennifer Kemp
Cc: Giulia Urquhart
Subject: Re: IPRA Request

Dear Jennifer,

Would the foundation share the list of donors to the Dugout Club?
Thank you,

Daniel

On Nov 16. 2016, at 4:42 PM, Jennifer Kemp <jennifer kempl@unmfund.crg> wrote:

Good afiernoon, Danie] -
Thank you so much for reaching out to us regarding the WisePies gift to UNM. Below are the answers to your
inquires. Please contact me or Giulia Urquhart if you have any additional questions.

Q: I request. .. A final copy of the naming-rights agreement between the University of New Mexico Foundation and
WisePies Pizza.

A: Attached to this email is a copy of the final gifl agreement and news release which were included in the materials
provided during a December 2014 news conference.

Q: 1 request....Any/all electronic correspondence, dated between Jan 1, 2016 and the present moment of this request,
to/from UNM Foundation’s Larry Ryan, in which the following words or terms appear: “WisePies”. “Wise”, ‘“Ples,”
“Steve Chavez,” “arena”, and/or “gift agreement”.

A: The UNM Foundation is a 501(¢c)(3) non-profit, non-public entity and is therefore not subject to Inspection of
Public Records Act (IPRA). Out of respect for donor privacy, the UNM Foundation does not share donor or gift
information unless the donor has authorized us to do so.

Q: In the event this request is denied in full or part, I would appreciate an explanation for the denial.

A: Qur relationship with The University of New Mexico is contractual. The UNM Foundation is not a public body, and
is therefore not subject to IPRA. although we strive to be as transparent as possible without compromising the privacy
of our donors or employees. For example, we have our 990s, investments, annual reports of giving and other key
information listed on our website. In some circumstances, the Foundation - with advance donor agreement - has
decided to share the gift agreement of certain gifts (such as WisePies) that we expect to be of significant public
tnterest.

Thank you again. Daniel. Have a good week!
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Jennifer

P.S. Picase note | have a new phone number: 505-313-7676. Please be sure to updaie your records accordingly.

Tennifer Kemp, APR
Director, Marketing & Communication
UNM Foundation
700 Lomas Blvd. NE
Two Woodward Center
Albuquerque, NM 87102
ifer I (@ 2

Phone: (505) 313-7676

Changing Worlds 2020: The Campaign for UNM
Whose world will you change?

This electronic message is infended only for the use of the individual or entity to which il is addressed and may
contain information that 18 privileged, confidential, or exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If you have
received this email in ervor. please notify us at the phone number or email address listed above.

From: Daniel Libitm—
Sent: Monday, November 14, 02 PM

To: Jennifer Kemp
Cc: Giulia Urgubart
Subject: IPRA Request

Dear Jennifer,

Please find attached my public recerds request.
Sincerely,

Daniel Libit<Final Press Kit.pdf>
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The University of New Mexico

Office of The Custodiao of Public Records
MECS 3440

Scholes Hall Room 208

1 Untversigy of New Mexica

Albuquergue, NM E7135-008)

Telephone {3053 277-3035

DU Apubhicrecnads un il

MMTLPEREEImN gy,

January 27, 2017

Via Email Transmission _

Daniel Libit

Re: IPRA Request No, 17-25

Dear Mr. Libit:
Per your IPRA request dated January 12, 2017, you requested the following:

Under the Inspection of Public Records Act, 1 request a copy ofthe check(s), as well as any
banking documentation ~- that relate to WisePies' Pizza and Salad's final naming rights payment
of 2016. Pursuant 1o this request, I should note that Paul Krebs, UNM's A thletics Director, told
the A tbuquerque Journal on D gc. 29, 2016, 1 hat he was planning to pick up L he check from
WiscPies thal day. This acknowledgement only scrved to further ratity the fact that the check
payment was received in the course of public business being conducted by a public official at
UNM. T herefore, a 11 d ocumentation of 1 he pa yment s hould be s ubject toa publ ic r ecords
request,

The U niversity doe s not have the records youseek. Please contact the UNM FFoundation directly,
which is a separate legal entity, for their consideration of your request at imarcomgaunmiund.ory.

This request is considered fulfilled, should you require further information please submit a new IPRA
reguest to this office at hitps://unmipranextrequest.com/.

Sincerely,

Yot Redrniquey

John Rodriguez, M.A.
Custodian of Public Records

EXHIBIT

Q



Frem: Jennifer Kemp <]

ifer kemp@unm
Date: January 30, 2017 at 7:05 ]8 PM CST
o F>
Subject: RE: request
Good evening, Daniel -
Thank you for contacting us regarding your request. Below is the answer to your inguiry,

Q: Under the New Mexico [nspection of Public Records Act, [ am requesting any/all bank
documentation related to the the monies that WisePics gave to the UNM Foundation as part of its
naming-rights agreement for The Pit. This includes a copy of the checks themselves, and any
deposit slips or bank decumentation that indicates when such monies were deposited.

A: The UNM Foundation is a non-profit, non-public entity and is therefore not subject to Inspection
of Public Records Act (IPRA). Although we iry to be as transparent as possible, out of respect for
donor privacy, the L/NM Foundation cannot share donor or gift information unless the donor has
authorized us to do so.

Please let me know if you have any additional questions,
Thank you again for contacting us. Have a good week!

Jenrifer Kemp
Director, CommJnication & Marketing
UNM Foundation

From: Daniel Libit _]
Sent: Friday, January 27, 2017 3:34 PM

To: marcom@uinmfund.ora

Subject: IPRA request

Ta Whona it May Concern:
Under the New Mexico Inspection of Public Records Act, | am requesting any/all bank documentation related to the the monies that
WisePies gave 1o the UNM Foundation as part of its naming-rights agreement for The Pit, This includes a copy of the checks

themselves, and any deposit slips or bunk decumentation that indicates when such monies were deposited.

I am attaching a capy of the letler UNM's publie records custodian sent to me. claiming that such materials would only be i the
Foundation’s possession.

Sincerely.

Daniel Libit
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